i

REYEEHERQ AT
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(REEFEZTMATHERRA)
Stock Code R3S : 1569

Annual Report

&
)



CONTENTS Bk

Company Profile

NSISF

Corporate Information

NREH

Financial Highlights

MEHE

Chairman’s Statement

FE®RE

Management Discussion and Analysis

EBIREREON

Directors and Senior Management

EELARERE

Report of the Directors

EEEgWmE

Corporate Governance Report

PERERME

Independent Auditor’s Report

B AZ BRI

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

freBm M EM R E WS R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR R

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BAREEHE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BARSRER

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

o LN

38

45
126
145
157

159
161
163
167



COMPANY PROFILE
/NS bl

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (collectively refer to as the “Group”
or “We”"), is the leading private higher education and vocational
education operator in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”
or “China”). The Group mainly focuses on providing high-
quality (i) higher education and vocational education in the
PRC; and (ii) online formal education service and vocational
training, and is committed to nurturing high-end application-
oriented and innovative talents in order to cope with the market
as well as industry demand. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group’s (i) total number of on-campus students amounted
to 85,765, of which 52,580 were undergraduate student; (ii)
the number of online education students managed under an
entrusted management arrangement amounted to 112,847, of
which 98,033 were at or above junior college level; and (iii)
total number of employee amounted to 6,202 in aggregate.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group operated and/or managed
11 schools in Chongging, Yunnan Province, Shandong Province
and Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region in the PRC, seven
of them were higher education schools, namely Chongging
College of Humanities, Science and Technology, Dianchi
College of Yunnan University, Pass College of Chongging
Technology and Business University, Chongqging Vocational
College of Applied Technology, Inner Mongolia Fengzhou
Vocational College (Qingcheng Branch) and Chongging
Electronic Information College and Qufu Fareast Vocational
and Technical College under an entrusted management; two
of them were secondary vocational schools, namely Laoling
Minsheng Secondary Vocational School and Laoling Secondary
Vocational and Technical School under an entrustment
management arrangement; and two of them were high schools,
namely Shouguang Bohai Experimental School and Laoling
Minsheng Education High School* (% R4 # A & @ £),
Through these schools, the Group primarily offer formal higher
education, including undergraduate education and junior
college education.

The Group is the first to develop online education on top of the
fundamentals of the on-campus education, so as to achieve a
coordinated development of on-campus education and online
education. Starting from October 2019, the Group commenced
the entrusted management of Guangdong Mingshi Online
Education Technology Co., Ltd* (ERBHELEHK B EHEBRAF)
(“Mingshi Online”) and Guangdong Minsheng Online
Education Technology Co., Ltd* (ERRAEFEH B EHEBR AT
(“Minsheng Online”).
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NYEN
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
NITER(E)

LEGAL ADVISOR

As to Hong Kong law:

Luk & Partners

In Association with Morgan, Lewis & Bockius
AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

PRC

Room 301, Full Tower

No. 9 Dongsanhuan Zhonglu
Chaoyang District

Beijing, PRC
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 3202A, 32/F., Tower 1, Lippo Centre
89 Queensway Road

Admiralty

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

Chongging Heyang Branch

STOCK CODE

1569

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.minshengedu.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
VHBE

A summary of the audited results and of the assets and ZAEFERBEREMBFENRSEREER
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out ZBENBEHOHEEHF|WOT
below:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 | [z =50]0)
ARBFTT ARETT ARBTT AR®ETT PNE Si0

Revenue Wz 426,317 444 997 477,780 623,143 1,005,436
Cost of revenue W B AR (164,653)  (186,391) (199,092) (289,775) (488,946)
Gross profit EAH 261,664 258,606 278,688 333,368 516,490
Profit before tax BR 15 A A 246,679 251,358 262,962 348,276 346,254
Profit for the year F[E % A 213,457 249,749 260,847 332,828 333,981

As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 | (s =500)
ARBFTT ARETT ARBTT AR®ETT PNE Si0

Non-current assets FEREEE 970,711 1,067,152 1,761,935 5,046,451 5,582,812
Current assets MENEE 1,038,757 1,156,718 2,459,910 1,578,021 1,494,790
Current liabilities mENAaE 354,157 520,943 773,755 1,507,081 1,482,443
Net current assets mENEEFE 684,600 635,775 1,686,155 70,940 12,347
Total assets less BEERRBEE

current liabilities 1,655,311 1,702,927 3,448,090 5,117,391 5,595,159
Non-current liabilities  FEREN A& 236,370 132,015 301,407 1,587,996 1,724,366
Net assets BEFE 1,418,941 1,570,912 3,146,683 3,529,395 3,870,793
Total equity BiER 1,418,941 1,570,912 3,146,683 3,529,395 3,870,793

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company, | am pleased to present the
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 (the “Reporting Period”).

BUSIENSS REVIEW

The year of 2019 has been a fruitful and transformational
year of the Group. In response with the government policy of
vigorously promoting new type of vocational education and the
development trend of “Internet + education” and empowerment
of education with intelligent technology, and in order to
implement the strategy of "parallel development of formal
education and vocational education, coordinated development
of on-campus education and online education”, the Company is
the first to develop online education on top of the fundamentals
of the Group’s on-campus education.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
ITRES (&)

During the Reporting Period, the Group has continued its
external mergers and acquisitions strategy, which has laid
down a solid foundation for the future development of the
Group. In March 2019, the Group entered into a contract to
acquire 51% of the school sponsor’s interest in Nanchang
Vocational University (previously known as Nanchang
Vocational College (Undergraduate)). Furthermore, in February
2019, the Group has commenced its entrusted management of
Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College.

In October 2019, the Group has commenced the entrusted
management of Mingshi Online and Minsheng Online,
represents an expansion of the Group’s business into online
education.

The number of students on-campus students of the Group as
of 31 December 2019 amounted to 85,765 students, increased
by approximately 30.9% as compared to the corresponding
period 2018, which is mainly due to the number of newly
enrolled students has increased for 2019-2020 school year
as compared to 2018-2019 school year. The total revenue
of the Group has increased from approximately RMB623.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
RMB1,005.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the profit of the year increased from approximately RMB332.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
RMB334.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)
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PROSPECTS

Going forward, the Group will focus on the strategy of “parallel
development of formal education and vocational education,
coordinated development of on-campus education and online
education”, and strive to achieve a long-term and stable
development, with an aim to strengthen market position. To
achieve the above objectives, the Group will (i) fully grasp
the development opportunities brought by relevant online
education policies, actively seek potential acquisition targets
for high-quality online education; (ii) focus on actively seeking
high-quality education institutions mainly at university-level and
expansion opportunities in areas with market potential in the
PRC and areas where higher education resources are relatively
scarce; (iii) further increase the capacity of existing schools
and optimize their facilities, thereby enhancing the Group’s
revenue base and strengthening students’ sense of belonging
to the school; and (iv) continuously improve the quality of
existing campus education and online education to achieve a
coordinated development.

The Group plans to use proceeds from the Listing,
supplemented by the Group’s working capital, to fund such
expansion and upgrade.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank our management and all the staff of the
Group for their loyalty and dedication. | would also like to thank
our shareholders and business partners for their trust and
confidence in the Board and management of the Group. With
the concerted efforts of all staffs, | believe the business of the
Group will continue to thrive and generate greater return for our
shareholders.

Li Xuechun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2020

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE®ADI

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is the leading private higher education and
vocational education operator in the PRC. Based on the tota
number of students, the Company is one of the largest private
higher education and vocational education groups in the PRC.

10 Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

The Group mainly focuses on providing high-quality (i) higher
education and vocational education in the PRC; and (ii) online
formal education service and vocational training, implement
the strategy of “parallel development of formal education and
vocational education, coordinated development of on-campus
education and online education”, and is committed to nuturing
high-end application-oriented and innovative talents in order to
cope with the market as well as industry demand.

As of 31 December 2019, (i) the total number of on-
campus students amounted to 85,765, of which 52,580 were
undergraduate student; and the number of online education
students of the Group under an entrusted management
arrangement amounted to 112,847, of which 98,033 were at or
above junior college level.

On-campus education

The Group currently operates and/or manages 11 schools in
Chongging, Yunnan Province, Shandong Province and Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region, which include:

(i) Seven higher education schools — Chongqging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology, Dianchi College of
Yunnan University, Pass College of Chongging Technology
and Business University, Chongqging Vocational College
of Applied Technology, Chongging Electronic Information
College, Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College
(Qingcheng Branch), and Qufu Fareast Vocational and
Technical College under an entrusted management;

(i) Two secondary vocational schools — Laoling Minsheng
Secondary Vocational School and Laoling Secondary
Vocational and Technical School which has been under an
entrustment management arrangement; and

(iii) Two high schools - Shouguang Bohai Experimental
School and Laoling Minsheng Education High School* (%4
BEREHESBRTE) .

For details, please refer to the sub-section of “On-campus
education of the Group” below.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

Online education

In October 2019, the Group commenced the entrusted
management of Mingshi Online and Minsheng Online (together
referred to as the “Online Education Entities”) which were
not consolidated subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December
2019.

For details, please refer to the sub-section of “Online education
of the Group” below.

DEVELOPMENT OF MAJOR BUSINESS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

1. The Group has continued its external mergers and
acquisition strategy. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has continued its external mergers and acquisitions
strategy, which has laid down a solid foundation for the
future development of the Group. During the Reporting
Period:

(i) Chongging Yuecheng Zhiyuan Education Technology
Co., Ltd.* (EEM BT EABERHELER A F]) (“Chongqing
Yuecheng”), a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company, has commenced its entrusted management
of Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College;

(i) The Group entered into a contract to aquire 51% of
the school sponsor interest in Nanchang Vocational
University (previously known as Nanchang Vocational
College (Undergraduate));

(iii) Chongqging Mengzhuo Education Technology Co.,
ltd* (EE 2 2% 5 & & 8 R 2 7)) (“Chongqing
Mengzhuo’), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, has commenced the entrusted
management of the Online Education Entities.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

The Group has expanded into online education
business. Chongging Mengzhuo has commenced the
entrusted management of the Online Education Entities,
represents an expansion of the Group’s business into
online education on top of the fundamentals of the Group’s
on-campus education, so as to achieve a coordinated
development of on-campus education and online
education.

The Group’s number of students has been growing
substantially. The number of students on-campus students
of the Group as of 31 December 2019 amounted to 85,765
students, increased by approximately 30.9% as compared
to the corresponding period 2018, which is mainly due to
the number of newly enrolled students has increased for
2019-2020 school year as compared to 2018-2019 school
year.

The number of online education students of the Group
under an entrusted management arrangement as of 31
December 2019 amounted to 112,847, which is mainly due
to the Group has commenced the entrusted management
of the Online Education Entities since October 2019.

The Group’s schools have added new enrollment
majors that meet the needs of industrial development.
During the 2019-2020 school year, the Group’s schools
have added 14 new majors include big data technology
and application, drug operation and management,
early childhood development and health management,
internet of things application technology, drone
application technology, railway signaling and automatic
control, community rehabilitation, leisure services and
management, communication engineering, digital media
arts, traditional Chinese medicine rehabilitation technology,
health management, railway transport operation, dancing
as enroliment subjects. These new majors were added
in order to adopt the development of the industry, meet
the market needs in the cultivation direction of high-
end application-oriented and innovative talents, which is
conducive to increasing enroliment and employment, and
enhancing the core competitiveness of our schools.

BEREmR DT (#)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

5. The Yangzonghai new campus project of Dianchi
College of Yunnan University was officially launched.
In October 2019, the construction of Yangzonghai new
campus of Dianchi College of Yunnan University was
officially started. The project was listed as a “Four-One
hundred” key construction project in Yunnan province,
and was listed as a “Major indicator, Major project, Major
work” project by the Kunming Municipal Government. The
construction project covers an area of 1,753 acres. The
new campus is planned to be completed and put into use
in 2023. Upon completion, the new campus are expected
to accommodate approximately 43,000 students.

ON-CAMPUS EDUCATION OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2019, the Group operated and/or managed
eleven schools in the PRC which primarily offer higher
education and vocational education. Set forth below are certain
particulars of the eleven schools of the Group:

Undergraduate Schools
Chongging College of Humanities, Science and Technology

Chongging College of Humanities, Science and Technology is a
private university-level education school located in Chongging,
the PRC. Its predecessor, Southwest University Yucai College,
was recognized by the Ministry of Education of the PRC (the
“MOE”) as an independent college in March 2003. In April
2013, the college was approved by the MOE to convert into
a private independently organised university-level education
school and was the first and only one private university-level
education school in Chongging obtaining such approval for
conversion. Chongging College of Humanities, Science and
Technology mainly provides undergraduate education. The
college has 18 second-level colleges and currently offers 43
undergraduate majors and 1 junior college major, covering 9
subject categories.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)

5, EMABENERNEREFHREERR
ERBE - R2019F107 » E@AE
EMBRS REFREEXFABET -
ZBERIVNEEEINE—8IEHE
RIEE - WHWEBAMBNY AIEXE
= -EAEE  EAIEIEE - &R
A B G EFE1,753m - FIREFTEIR
2023F T LW AA - FELIE -
R RTEEIR 443,000 2 4 -

FEEHREHE

B E2019F12A31H « ANEEEH B &
k/SEBT—ER  FERHEESHE
KEBEZEHE - T FHEAEEET+—M2
REETHMAER

FRER

EEAXRRER
BEEANBRERA—MUNTEEENR
WARISR  HABAREAE2E5 4 ERR
2003F3AEFEHUEL(HESR )R A
B ERE o R2013F4 7 - LB EHE LD

HAEERSERENRBARER
B % — P2 B AT — —PTES HEE R
RRARISR o %Ffﬁ/\xﬂﬁﬂﬁmith
AMHE - BEERBISE_RZER - RA
ABBAMBEXPIEENER - WENLAR
RIF9%R -

RE



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

The tuition fee for Chongging College of Humanities, Science
and Technology for the 2019-2020 school year is approximately
RMB12,000 to RMB18,000, depends on the major.

During the Reporting Period, Chongging College of Humanities,
Science and Technology has commenced the teachers’
certification training. An accumulative of 4,691 teachers have
received the training as of 31 December 2019.

In 2019, Chongging University of Humanities Science and
Technology was granted the title of “Demonstration Unit for
Ethnic Unity and Progress”. The students participated in the
5th National Comprehensive Talent Skills Competition for
Applied Talents and won one gold and 12 silver medals. They
participated in the 6th National College Student Economic
News Competition for the first time and won the championship
and first runner-up awards. They won 1 gold and 9 bronze
prizes in the 11th National Ethnic Traditional Sports Meeting.
They also won the 2019 Red Dot Design Award in German
and the design award in the 13th China Star in the packaging
design category. The teachers won the 1st prize in the
comprehensive skill category in the 2019 National Basic
Skill Demonstration Competition of Music Teachers of Higher
Education Institutes, and won all the individual awards in
various competition categories.

Dianchi College of Yunnan University

Dianchi College of Yunnan University is an independent college
located in Kunming city, Yunnan Province, the PRC, which
was established in 2001. Dianchi College of Yunnan University
offers formal undergraduate education. The college currently
offers 47 undergraduate majors, covering 8 subject categories.

The tuition fee for Dianchi College of Yunnan University for
the 2019-2020 school year is approximately RMB16,000 to
RMB24,500, depends on the major.

In 2019, students from Dianchi College of Yunnan University
won two 1st awards in the national competition in the finals
of the 10th National University Student BIM Application Skills
Contest, and won 11 gold medals in the fifth “Internet +”
Yunnan University Student Innovation and Entrepreneurship
Competition ranking the first in terms of the number of gold
medals in Yunnan Province.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

Pass College of Chongqging Technology and Business
University

Pass College of Chongqging Technology and Business
University is an independent college located in Chongging, the
PRC, which was certified by the MOE in December 2003. The
college mainly provides undergraduate education and certain
junior college education and currently offers 24 undergraduate
majors and 3 junior college majors.

The tuition fee for Pass College of Chongging Technology
and Business University for the 2019-2020 school year is
approximately RMB12,000 to RMB16,000, depends on the
major.

During the Reporting Period, Pass College of Chongging
Technology and Business University has commenced the adult
continuing education and currently offers three undergraduate
majors, namely business administration, marketing and
accounting and three junior college majors, namely securities
and future, marketing and accounting. During the Reporting
Period, there were a total of 3,689 adult students for degree
and junior college programs. The tuition fee for adult continuing
education for the school year 2019-2020 is approximately
RMB2,600 to RMB2,800, depends on the major.

In 2019, students from Pass College of Chongging Technology
and Business University participated in the “China University
Student Investment and Trading Strategy Competition” and
won the individual competition championship, one first runner-
up award and four second runner-up awards in the individual
competition category. The Foreign Language Institute won
the championship in the integration ability competition as a
participating unit, while the students from the Business English
major won sixteen first prize awards, eight first runner-up
awards and six second runner-up awards in the individual
competition category.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

Higher Vocational Schools
Chonggqging Vocational College of Applied Technology

Chongging Vocational College of Applied Technology is
a full-time ordinary higher education institution located in
Chongging, the PRC, providing junior college education. The
college obtained approval as a higher vocational school by
the People’s Government of Chongaging in April 2005 and was
registered with the Civil Affairs Department of Chongging in
December 2006. The college currently offers 27 majors.

The tuition fee for Chongging Vocational College of Applied
Technology for the 2019-2020 school year is approximately
RMB4,800 to RMB9,800, depends on the major.

Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College (Qingcheng
Branch)

Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College (Qingcheng
Branch) is a full-time ordinary higher education institution
located in Hohhot city, Inner Mongolia, the PRC, providing
junior college education. We became one of its school
sponsors and have been entitled to the entire interest in Inner
Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College (Qingcheng Branch) in
2008. The college currently offers 21 majors.

The tuition fee for Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational
College (Qingcheng Branch) for the 2019-2020 school year is
approximately RMB3,000 to RMB7,000, depends on major.

Chonggqing Electronic Information College

Chongging Electronic Information College is a full-time ordinary
higher education institution located in Chongqging, the PRC,
providing junior college education. The college currently offers
28 majors.

The tuition fee for Chongaging Electronic Information College
for the 2019-2020 school year is approximately RMB5,000 to
RMB12,000, depends on the major.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College

Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College is a full-
time ordinary higher education institution located in Qufu
city, Shandong province, the PRC, providing junior college
education. The college currently offers 27 majors.

Since February 2019, Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical
College has been entrusted to Chongqging Yuecheng for
management and 51% of the net profit of Qufu Fareast
Vocational and Technical College was paid to Chongqging
Yuecheng as management fee.

The tuition fee for Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical
College for the 2019-2020 school year is approximately
RMB4,600 to RMB9,980, depends on the major.

Secondary vocational schools
Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School

Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School is a full-time
regular specialized secondary school located in Laoling city,
Shandong province, the PRC, providing secondary vocational
education, and the first batch of students has commenced the
school year in September 2018. The school currently offers 10
majors.

Laoling Secondary Vocational and Technical School

Laoling Secondary Vocational and Technical School is a full-
time regular specialized secondary school located in Laoling
city, Shandong Province, the PRC, providing secondary
vocational education.

Pursuant to certain cooperation agreements entered into
among the Group, the People’s Government of Laoling and the
Bureau of Education of Laoling, Laoling Secondary Vocational
and Technical School is managed and operated by Laoling
Minsheng Secondary Vocational School under an entrusted
management arrangement. The school currently offers 4
majors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

High schools
Shouguang Bohai Experimental School

Shouguang Bohai Experimental School is a high school located
in Shouguang city, Shandong province, the PRC, offering grade
10 to grade 12 secondary education programs.

Laoling Minsheng Education High School

Laoling Minsheng Education High School is a high school
located in Laoling city, Shandong province, the PRC, offering
grade 10 to grade 12 secondary education programs.

ONLINE EDUCATION OF THE GROUP

Since October 2019, the Online Education Entities have been
entrusted to the Group but were not consolidated subsidiaries
of the Group. The Online Education Entities is located in
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, the PRC, its principal
business is to provide academic training and vocational and
certification training business through online platform.

As of 31 December 2019, the Online Education Entities
provided (i) more than 200 undergraduate and junior college
majors; and (ii) 15 vocational training programmes.

OUR INVESTMENTS IN OVERSEAS SCHOOLS

In addition to our schools in the PRC, we have invested in
Top Education Group Ltd. (“Top Education”), a private higher
education provider in Australia whose shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1752), the Group has also
invested in Beacon International College PTE. LTD. (“Beacon
International College”) in Singapore and Hong Kong Nang
Yan College of Higher Education Limited (“Hong Kong Nang
Yan College”), a company limited by guarantee established
under the laws of Hong Kong, in Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2019, we directly owned approximately
8.31% of equity interest in Top Education and approximately
22.9% of equity interest in Beacon International College, and
we were one of the two members of Hong Kong Nang Yan
College.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

TOTAL NUMBER OF STUDENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s (i) total number of on-
campus education students amounted to 85,765, representing
an increase of approximately 30.9% as compared to that of
31 December 2018; and (ii) total number of online education
students managed by the Group under an entrusted
management arrangement amounted to 112,847.

BLEBAY

HZE2019F12A31H » AEBEH)KREH
EHEREB LB ABAES5,765% + 82018%F
12310 # K 4930.9% : K(i)A £ E IR E
ZAEERHEENTEEREREBARAR
112,847% °

Number of Student
as at 31 December

B4 A
M12A31H
| 2018
On-campus education REHE
Chongging College of Humanities, BEEAXEEZR

Science and Technology 22,349 20,696
Dianchi College of Yunnan University ERmASEMNER 21,208 18,948
Pass College of Chongqing Technology &E L A2k T2k

and Business University 14,987 10,923
Chongging Electronic Information EEEERESR

College 5,283 6,080
Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical i & iR 5B 3 Fly &3z (42

College (o2 10,659 _ (Note 1) (HfzE1)
Chongging Vocational College of EEERRME S0

Applied Technology 3,956 3,157
Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational NEREEMBESR(FRIR)

College (Qingcheng Branch) 1,800 2,048
Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational 4R ABEREHEER

School 573 261
Laoling Secondary Vocational and LEEMRFEPEHEBRAD)

Technical School Mete3) 581 357
Shouguang Bohai Experimental School St #i8 BB 2R 2,979 2,544
Laoling Minsheng Education High School #fERA#ESHHE 1,390 482
Total a5t 85,765 65,496
Online Education EHHE
Online Education Entities managed AEEREBEEAEETHERENT

by the Group under an entrusted BE A F gy

management arrangement o 4

comprised: BIE

Junior college or above ERISA B 98,033 — (Note 1) (HfiED)

Vocational and certification training BEEREE 14,814 — (Note 1) (HEED)
Total 4Bt 112,847 _ (Note 1) (FifsED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

Notes:

(1) Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College and the Online
Education Entities were not operated/managed by the Group as at 31
December 2018.

(2) Since February 2019, Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College
has been entrusted to Chongging Yuecheng for management.

(8) Since July 2018, Laoling Secondary Vocational and Technical School
has been entrusted to Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School
for management.

(4) Since October 2019, the Online Education Entities have been
entrusted to Chongging Mengzhuo for management. As at 31
December 2019, the Online Education Entities were not consolidated
subsidiaries of the Group.

ACQUISITIONS IN PROGRESS DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College

Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College is a full-time
ordinary higher education institution located in Qufu city,
Shandong province, the PRC.

On 23 November 2018, Chongging Yuecheng, as purchaser,
and a third party (“Ms. Pan”), as vendor, entered into a share
transfer agreement (the “Share Transfer Agreement”), pursuant
to which Ms. Pan agreed to sell to Chongqging Yuecheng, and
Chongging Yuecheng agreed to acquire, 51% of the equity
interest of Qufu Changyong Corporate Management Consulting
Company Limited (“Qufu Changyong”), at a total consideration
of RMB91.8 million. Upon completion, Chongging Yuecheng will
hold 51% of equity interest in Qufu Changyong and indirectly
hold 51% of school sponsor interest in Qufu Fareast Vocational
and Technical College through Qufu Changyong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

Subsequent to the execution of the Share Transfer Agreement,
on 23 November 2018, Chongging Yuecheng, Ms. Pan, Qufu
Changyong and Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical
College signed an entrustment agreement (the “Qufu Fareast
Vocational and Technical College Entrustment Agreement”),
pursuant to which, with effect from the date of completion of
the payment of the first instalment until the date of completion,
Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College would be
entrusted to Chongging Yuecheng for management. During
the entrustment period, 51% of the net profit of Qufu Fareast
Vocational and Technical College will be paid to Chongging
Yuecheng as management fee.

Since February 2019, Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical
College has been entrusted to Chongging Yuecheng for
management.

For details, please refer to announcements of the Company
dated 25 November 2018 and 15 January 2019.

Nanchang Vocational University

Nanchang Vocational University (previously known as
Nanchang Vocational College (Undergraduate)) is a full-time
ordinary private higher vocational undergraduate college
located in Nanchang city, Jiangxi province, PRC, and is one
of the first 15 pilot vocational undergraduate institutions in the
PRC.

On 15 March 2019, Chongging Yiersheng Education
Technology Company Limited (“Chongqing Yiersheng”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Chongging Yuecheng, a third party
(“Mr. Zhang”), as vendor, Nanchang Hezhitong Education
Consulting Company Limited* (&4 ZRHBEAHER A7)
(“Nanchang Hezhitong”) and Nanchang Vocational University
entered into an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which
Chongging Yiersheng conditionally agreed to acquire, and Mr.
Zhang conditionally agreed to sell, 51% of the equity interest
of Nanchang Hezhitong, at a total consideration of RMB510
million, which was to be satisfied in cash by instalments. Upon
completion, Chongging Yiersheng would hold 51% of equity
interest in Nanchang Hezhitong and indirectly hold 51% of
school sponsor’s interest in Nanchang Vocational University
through Nanchang Hezhitong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 15 March 2019.

Online Education Entities

Mingshi Online is located in Guangzhou, Guangdong province,
the PRC, which the principal business is to provide online adult
education, mainly including academic training and vocational
and certification training business.

Minsheng Online is located in Guangzhou, Guangdong
province, the PRC. Its principal business is education
consulting and research and development of education
equipment.

In October 2019, Chongqging Mengzhuo, Mr. Pan Guogiang,
Mingshi Online, Minsheng Online, Guangdong Mingshi Group
Company Limited* (& % 83 t &£ B B [R 2 7)) and Ms. Liu
Ruigiong entered into an entrusted management agreement,
pursuant to which the rights of entrusted management of the
Online Education Entities would be granted to Chongging
Mengzhuo.

According to the entrusted management agreement, if (i)
Minsheng Online’s audited total net profit increases year-on-
year from 2020 to 2022; (ii) the aggregate audited net profit
of Minsheng Online for the financial years from 2020 to 2022
will not be less than RMB60 million; (iii) the audited net profit
of Minsheng Online for the financial year 2022 will not be less
than RMB30 million (i.e. the net profit requirement under the
entrusted management agreement); and (iv) the reorganization
arrangement under the entrusted management agreement has
been completed, Chongging Mengzhuo or its related entities
shall have the pre-emptive right to acquire up to 100% equity
interest in Minsheng Online through equity transfer and capital
increase.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 October 2019 and 25 February 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

Anhui Wonder University, Anhui Hefei Information
Technology School and Anhui Sky-Aviation International
Academy

(i) Anhui Wonder University is a private independently
organized university-level education school established in
2001 in Hefei Anhui Province, the PRC, which mainly provides
undergraduate education, as well as some junior college
education and adult continuing education; (ii) Anhui Hefei
Information Technology School is a secondary vocational
school established in 2006 in Hefei, Anhui Province, the PRC;
and (iii) Anhui Sky-Aviation International Academy is a training
institution established in 2011 in Hefei, Anhui Province, the
PRC, which mainly provides private and commercial pilot
license training and aviation professional training.

On 22 November 2019, Chongging Yuecheng and Chongging
Yujingao Education Technology Co. Ltd.* (& B 7B A £
¥ A R A 7)) (“Chongging Yujingao”), each a consolidated
affiliated entity of the Company, entered into a restructuring
investment agreement with Anhui Wonder University, Anhui
Hefei Information Technology School and Anhui Sky-Aviation
International Academy, Mr. Xie Chungui, Ms. Zhang Xuming
and Anhui Tianhe Law Firm (the “Administrator”), pursuant
to which, (i) Chongqging Yuecheng has conditionally agreed
to acquire 51% equity interest of Wenda Electronics through
a capital investment of RMB500 million in Wenda Electronics,
thereby indirectly holding 51% of school sponsor’s interest
of Anhui Wonder University and Anhui Hefei Information
Technology School; and (ii) Chongging Yujingao has
conditionally agreed to acquire 51% equity interest of Anhui
Sky-Aviation International Academy through a capital investment
of RMB100 million in Anhui Sky-Aviation International Academy,
for the future development of Anhui Sky-Aviation International
Academy.

As at the date of this annual report, the draft restructuring
plan will become to effect once it is formally approved in the
creditors’ meeting and approved by the Hefei Intermediate
Court, the Company will issue further announcement(s) in
accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) as and when appropriate to provide updated
information to shareholders of the Company and investors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 25 November 2019 and 20 February 2020.

DISCONTINUED ACQUISITION
Hebei University of Technology City College

On 9 July 2018, Zhangjiakou Government, Hebei University
of Technology and the Company have signed a framework
agreement in relation to the cooperation of sponsoring
the Hebei University of Technology City College. On 22
August 2018, Chongging Yuecheng and Hebei University of
Technology have formally entered into (i) Hebei University of
Technology City College Sponsorship Cooperation Agreement
and (ii) Hebei University of Technology City College Conversion
Framework Agreement. On 23 August 2018, Chongging
Yuecheng entered into an agreement with the Zhangjiakou
Government and Zhangjiakou Economic Development Zone
Management Committee* (RKX A& BHZEEEZEE) in
relation the cooperation of construction and development
of Hebei University of Technology City College and certain
subsequent agreements in relation to the details of the
cooperation.

In view of the delayed in the progress of the transactions
contemplated under the abovementioned signed agreements,
and in view of the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole, after friendly and arms-length
negotiations between all parties, on 22 January 2020, the
Company, Chongging Yuecheng, the Zhangjiakou Government,
the Zhangjiakou Economic Development Zone Management
Committee and Hebei University of Technology reached
agreements on the termination of such signed agreements, and
entered into termination/release agreements.

For further details, please refer to the announcements dated 9
July 2018, 24 August 2018 and 22 January 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

EXPANSION OF FINANCING CHANNELS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

During the Reporting Period, the Group proactively expanded
financing channels through bank loans, with a view to provide
regular and long-term financial support for the business
development of the Company. In February and July 2019,
according to a USD50 million banking facilities agreement (the
“Facilities Agreement”) signed between the Company and
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Company Limited, the Company
withdrew an aggregate of HKD390 million for 5 years, which
was mainly used for the Company’s mergers and acquisitions
activities.

PROVISION OF LOAN DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 24 December 2018 and 27 June 2019, Chongging
Yuecheng, as the lender, Leed National Education Technology
(Beijing) Limited* (BVEB % A B (L R)EBRAF]) (‘Leed
National”), as the borrower designated by the vendors of Leed
International Education Group Inc. (“Leed International”),
Minsheng Vocational Education Company Limited and the
vendors of Leed International entered into loan agreements,
pursuant to which, Chongging Yuecheng agreed to lend
to Leed National, and Leed National agreed to borrow
from Chongqging Yuecheng, loans in the principal amounts
of RMB200 million and RMB200 million, respectively. The
abovementioned loans have been released in accordance to
the terms of the loan agreement during the Reporting Period.

For further details of the loan, please refer to the
announcements dated 26 December 2018, 4 January 2019 and
27 June 2019.

OUTLOOK

The Group will focus on higher education and vocational
education and strive to achieve a long-term and stable
development through online and offline integrated development,
with an aim to strengthen its market position. To achieve the
above objectives, the Group plans to implement the following
business strategies:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

(i) Online and offline coordinated development

The national policies encourage the development of
online-education, encourage the establishment of an
education system serving lifelong learning for all, improve
the coordinated and coordinated development mechanism
of vocational and technical education, higher education,
and continuing education, make use of the advantages of
online education and artificial intelligence, and innovate
education and learning methods. Individual, suitable for
everyone, more open and flexible education system, and
building a learning society. According to the Guiding
Opinions on Promoting the Healthy Development of
Online Education* (AR R EERHBEREERENIELE
&) jointly issued by eleven departments including the
MOE, it is mentioned that online education is an integral
part of education services, which can innovate the form
of organization of education and enrich modern learning
methods. The Group believes that the online education
market has huge potential, and its online education
business can produce a high degree of synergy with the
Group’s campus education business. The Group will fully
grasp the development opportunities brought by relevant
online education policies, actively seek acquisition targets
for high-quality online education, continuously improve the
quality of existing online education, and will put higher
education and vocational education as the core element to
promote campus education and online education in order
to achieve a coordinated and synergise development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

(ii) Develop new vocational education through industry-

education integration

In accordance with the policy requirements of the National
Vocational Education Reform Implementation Plan and
National Pilot Implementation Plan for Industry-Education
Integration Construction, the Group will actively develop
new type of vocational education, by integrating and
optimizing resources of the Group’s existing tertiary
vocational colleges, secondary vocational schools and
online vocational education and training, as well as
deepening the substantial cooperation between the
schools and the leading enterprises in industry. Thus,
we will be able to seize the development opportunities
of the new generation of information and communication
technology (ICT), artificial intelligence (Al) and advanced
manufacturing, in order to cultivate high-quality, practical-
oriented professionals and “Great Country Craftsman”
meeting the demands of local economic and social
development and industrial transformation and upgrading.

(iii) Continue its external mergers and acquisition strategy

The Group will continue the external merger and
acquisitions strategy and the potential merger and
acquisitions targets mainly include: (1) private university-
level education schools; and (2) online education
institutions. The Group will focus on actively seeking
suitable target and expansion opportunities in areas
with market potential in the PRC and areas where higher
education resources are relatively scarce.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

(iv) Increase the Group’s revenue base through the organic
growth

The Group will further increase the capacity of existing
schools and optimize their facilities, thereby enhancing
the Group’s revenue base and strengthening students’
sense of belonging to the school. For example, the new
academic building of Dianchi College of Yunnan University
has been put in use in the 2019-2020 school year. The new
dormitory building of Chongging University of Humanities
and Science and Technology and Passion College of
Chongging Technology and Business University have been
put in use in the 2019-2020 school year, adding 2,150 and
1,200 beds respectively. In addition, the construction of
the Dianchi College of Yunnan University’s Yangzonghai
new campus officially commenced in October 2019 and is
expected to be completed in 2023.

The Group plans to use proceeds from the Listing,
supplemented by the Group’s working capital, to fund
such expansion and upgrade.

RISK ASSESSMENT IN RELATION TO THE POLICY IMPACT
ON THE GROUP’S OPERATIONS

On 10 August 2018, the Ministry of Justice of the PRC has
published the review draft of the draft Amendments to the
Regulations on the Implementation of the Non-state Education
Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China{/F#ZE AR
MERPRBEREEZEBIROIEFTESR) GXER)) (the “Draft
Amendments”) for consultation.

As advised by its legal advisers as to the laws of the PRC,
Draft Amendments are still under consultation and are not yet
promulgated or implemented in the PRC.

Accordingly, as at the date of this annual report, the business
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries have not been
affected by the Draft Amendments. The Company will continue
to follow the development of the Draft Amendments and the
relevant laws and regulations.

Where appropriate, the Company will make further announcement(s)
in this regard in compliance with the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue represents the value of services rendered during
the Reporting Period. The Group derives revenue primarily
from tuition fees and boarding fees our schools collected from
students.

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately 61.4%
from approximately RMB623.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB1,005.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019. This increase was primarily
due to (i) the fully consolidation of Dianchi College of Yunnan
University in the Reporting Period; and (ii) the increase of the
Group’s on-campus student enrollment of approximately 30.9%
as compared to the corresponding period in 2018.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales consists primarily of teaching staff costs,
depreciation and amortization, cost of cooperative education,
utilities and other costs.

The cost of sales increased by approximately 68.7% from
approximately RMB289.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB488.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019. This increase was primarily due to (i)
the increase in the number of teaching staff and their salaries
and allowances; and (ii) the increase in the depreciation of new
schools newly consolidated to the Group since the end of the
corresponding period in 2018.

Gross profit

The gross profit increased by approximately 54.9% from
approximately RMB333.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB516.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019, and gross profit margin
decreased from approximately 53.5% to approximately 51.4%,
which was mainly due to (i) the increase in average salaries
and allowances for teaching staff; and (ii) the increase in
depreciation of new schools newly consolidated to the Group
since the end of the corresponding period in 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

Other income and gains

Other income and gains consist primarily of government grants,
interest income and rental income and etc.

Other income and gains decreased by approximately 26.8%
from approximately RMB189.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB139.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019. This decrease was primarily due
to (i) the management income of Dianchi College of Yunnan
University has not been recorded during the Reporting Period
as it has been fully consolidated to the Group since the end of
the corresponding period in 2018; and (ii) the decrease of the
investment income from the bank interest income.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses consist primarily of salaries
and other benefits for our staff who are in charge of student
recruitment and advertising, advertising expenses and student
recruitment expenses.

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
4.5% from approximately RMB16.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 to approximately RMB16.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019, which was primarily due
to the Group has implemented a stringent cost control on
the advertising and marketing cost in relation to the student
recruitment during the Reporting Period.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of the salaries and
other benefits for general and administrative staff, office-related
expenses, depreciation of office buildings and equipment,
environment and health expenses and travel and transportation
expenses.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 29.0%
from approximately RMB143.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB185.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 due to the administrative expenses
of Dianchi College of Yunnan University have fully consolidated
into the Group during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

Other expenses

Other expenses consist primarily of fair value loss on an equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss and expenses
relating to donations made to third-party educational and other
institutions, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and the provision of bad debts. The following table shows other
expenses of the Group for the periods presented below:

At %

HipF X T2 BFR A FE AR BE
BRENQXFEEEMBRAE=7HE RHE
BB RNFEX - HEWE - BFE LRE

B8 AMIERREME - TRIVRAKERT
X2 HREMEMFEX

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREEFTT
Provision of bad debts SRS \ 13,459 127
Fair value loss on an equity BAFET ABRARERERN
investment at fair value through NEERE
profit or loss 6,470 -
Exchange loss bE H Eri8 1,776 -
Charitable donations BERK 886 834
Disposal of fixed assets B & & E & E 388 140
Reversal of loss arises from bad e IR S RS E R D
debts receivables - (500)
Others Hith 5,348 234
Total st 28,327 835

Other expenses increased substantially from approximately
RMBO0.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2018
to approximately RMB28.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2019. This increase was primarily attributable to the
provision of bad debts of approximately RMB13.5 million during
the Reporting Period.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly include (i) interests on bank loans and
other borrowings; (ii) the interest on the put option liability in
connection with the put option (the “Put Option”) granted by
the vendors of Leed International; and (iii) interest on sale and
leaseback liabilities.

Finance costs has increased significantly from approximately
RMB13.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018
to approximately RMB79.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2019, which was mainly due to (i) interests on bank
loans and other borrowings which were borne by the schools
we newly acquired through merger and acquisitions and the
Group; (ii) interest on the Put Option liability arose from the
acquisition of Leed International in November 2018; and (iii)
increase in interest from sale and lease back liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

Fair value loss from an equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Fair value loss from an equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss has been recorded of approximately RMB6.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2019, as compared
to fair value gain of RMBO0.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2018, which was mainly due to substantial decrease
in the fair value of the equity investment in Top Education.

Profit for the year

As a result of the above factors, profit for the year of the
Group increased by approximately 0.3% from approximately
RMB332.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2018
to approximately RMB334.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Adjusted net profit

The Group defines its adjusted net profit as its profit for the
period after adjusting for those items which are not indicative of
the Group’s operating performances (as presented in the table
below). This is not a IFRSs measure. The Group has presented
this item because the Group considers it an important
supplemental measure of the Group’s operational performance
used by the Group’s management as well as analysts or
investors. The following table shows profit and adjusted net
profit of the Group for the periods presented below:
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Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®¥T ARBTT
Profit for the year j;igiﬁfiﬂ 333,981 332,828
Add: n:
Unrealised exchange loss/(gain) REBE B, (W) 1,776 (7,738)
Share option expenses RERR AR S 12,447 13,108
Interest of the Put Option liability W S 1 & [ A AR D AR B
arose from the acquisition of BENFE
Leed International 37,932 -
Adjusted net profit KRR S 386,136 338,198

Adjusted net profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
increased by approximately RMB47.9 million or approximately
14.2% as compared with the corresponding period in 2018.
Adjusted net profit margin decreased from approximately
54.3% for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
38.4% for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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FER2018F R B IO AREE47 OB E T
S HI14.2% o £ REFF HEHBEE2018
F12A31H L FE R 454.3% NEE2EZE
2019F 12 H31 B I FEA%)38.4% °

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3}

33



34

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

FINANCIAL AND LIQUIDITY POSITION
Net current assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had net current assets
of approximately RMB12.3 million, which primarily consisted
of cash and bank balances. The current assets as at 31
December 2019 decreased to approximately RMB1,494.8
million from approximately RMB1,578.0 million as at 31
December 2018. The decrease in current assets primarily
attributable to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents,
which decreased from approximately RMB1,505.8 million as
at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB1,405.4 million
as at 31 December 2019, mainly due to (a) net cash flows
from operating activities of RMB389.6 million; (b) the advance
of two loans to Leed National of RMB400.0 million in total;
(c) purchase of items of property, plant and equipment of
RMB227.6 million; and (d) net cash flows in total from financing
activities of RMB138.9 million.

The current liabilities decreased from approximately
RMB1,507.1 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately
RMB1,482.4 million as at 31 December 2019, mainly reflecting
a decrease of approximately RMB161.3 million in other
payables and accruals and partially offset by increase in
contract liabilities of RMB52.8 million and increase in current-
portion of bank loan and other borrowings of RMB76.4 million.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange since 22 March 2017. There is no
material change in the capital structure of the Company since
the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report. The
capital of the Company comprises only ordinary shares.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s issued share capital
was USD40,177.20 and the number of its issued ordinary
shares was 4,017,720,000 of USD0.00001 each.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

Capital commitments

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the Reporting Period:

BB R R DT ()

BXRE
REBRREHRROERALELT

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®EFTT

Contracted, but not provided for: B AEREE :
Equipment B 40,207 10,887
Buildings EF 208,085 110,595
Loan commitment BHURGE 50,000 400,000
Acquisition of a private school U g R 2% 172,440 591,800
Total 4Bzt 470,732 1,113,282

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
significant capital commitments that are authorised but not
contracted for (2018: Nil).

Indebtedness

The Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
primarily consisted of short-term working capital loans to
supplement our working capital and finance our expenditure
and long-term project loans for the continuous development of
our school buildings and facilities.

The bank loans and other borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB651.2 million as at 31 December 2019,
dominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"). As at
31 December 2019, our bank loans and other borrowings bore
effective interest rates ranging from 2.5% to 24% per annum.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of internally
generated cash flows from operations and other borrowings.
The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to
ensure that it has adequate financial resources in meeting its
financial obligations.

RBEHRER - AEEWEDFEERTLH
B REARASE (20185 : &) -

=%

AEENGERITAEMERETEBEAR
AL EES MARMNTHIEHRESWE
HEEEERLARNBEEEZERETR
R RHIER B

R2019F 12 A31AMIRITE R R HE M &R
EWARBES12B8BT YUARB RS
([T ) sHE - R2019612A318  #
PRI ER1T B B R B A {5 R IK2.5% £ 24%H)
ERFMEE -

AEENERSBRBAEREENRNELEZR
ERELEMBEREFESFERERE
2 EEFE - AEBESRNIZESMN
UARERE R B ERBITIM R

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3}

35



36

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEEYm RO (&)

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have material
contingent liabilities, guarantees or litigations or claims of
material importance, pending or threatened against any
member of the Group (2018: nil).

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s buildings
and certain leasehold lands with a net carrying amount of
approximately RMB96.8 million (31 December 2018: RMB342.0
million) were pledged to secure bank loans and other
borrowings.

Foreign exchange exposure

The majority of the Group’s revenue and expenditures are
denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2019, certain bank
balances were denominated in United States dollar and HKS$.
The Group currently does not have any foreign currency
hedging policies. The management will continue to monitor the
Group’s foreign exchange risk exposure and consider adopting
prudent measures as appropriate.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total
borrowings by total equity, increased to approximately 16.8%
as at 31 December 2019 from approximately 13.0% as at 31
December 2018, which was due to the increase in newly-
borrowed bank loans during Reporting Period.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited B4 HBEEHGR LT

HAEE

R2019%F12A31H » "REERBFEKRKA
BE - BEERIAEBEMKE QA RWELRR
S EFREARFRFASKER R (20184 « #&) o

BEHH

2019 12A31H » AKEEEFEAL
ARMI6.8HETL(2018F12A31H : AR
¥342.088T)ME TEFRETHE LI
B FEBARSIRITER R EMER

S BB 5 Jm g

REBEHRI O RFATAARKEHE -
R2019F 123310 » B TIRITHEBIAETT
NABTUEHE © ANEE B A0 8 ] HNE $F
BR - BREESFEERASENINEER
B & E B iER RS A o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

Salary increment for employees, training and development

In 2019, in order to motivate our faculty staff for better work
performance, the Group has reviewed and increased the
salaries of employees. The increment in salaries is based
on their performance, experience and prevailing industry
practices, with all compensation policies and packages
reviewed on a regular basis. As required by the PRC laws
and regulations, we participate in various employee social
security plans for our employees that are administered by local
governments, including pension, medical, maternity, work-
related injury, unemployment insurance and housing provident
fund.

In addition, the Group provides comprehensive training
programs to its existing and newly recruited employees and/
or sponsors its employees to attend various job-related
training courses and also support some excellent teachers to
study, receive training and academic exchange with famous
universities abroad.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group held a short-term investment measured at
amortised cost, equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income included in non-current asset
reclassified as held for sale and equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2019. Details are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
OR ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had no
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associated
companies. Save as disclosed in the section headed “Significant
Investments Held” above, the Group had no significant
investments held during the year ended 31 December 2019.

EERESmROI(8)

BEFHH - ZIRRRE

2019 - AR B RAMBEHBETIENLE
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RHE AR B EIRE - SABH M
AREHENIERBEERATE ALY
2 FM A RIEIRE R R A T A B2EM
RAEIRE - B RIS RN A BT RENE
18 »

FENBARSEELAANEANRBEERR
HESE

B ZE2019F12A31H I FE - AEEL &
BHANBARNEEARNERKEEE
HEEE - R EXHFENERRE |—&F
WEEI - HE2019F12A318 ILEE
REETEZBEEARE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3}

37



38

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSNEEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xuechun, aged 66, is the founder of our Group. Since
October 1998, Mr. Li has served as chairman of the board of
directors of Li'ang Industry. He was appointed as a Director
of the Company on 13 December 2005 and has been the
Chairman of the Board since 17 January 2006. Mr. Li has
more than 10 years of experience in the education industry,
having served as the Chairman of the Board since 2006. In
addition, Mr. Li served as the vice-chairman of the Chinese
Association for Non-Government Education* (FERERH#HE
#&) from May 2008 to November 2016 and has served as
the executive-chairman of Chongging Association for Non-
Government Education* (EERMHEWHE) since 2014. Mr.
Li is responsible for the strategic development of our Group.
Mr. Li graduated from the CPC Central Party School* (/s
RER) with a degree in Economic Management in June 1988
through long distance learning courses. Mr. Li was a member
of the 11th and 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference* (FEIA RBUAH B HEBZE
8) and a representative of Science Education Culture Health
and Sport Commission* (FEIARBUGHE @ #HEIXEEEZE
@) of the 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Li was awarded as a National
Education Industry Model Worker* (2BI{EFHHE T1EH) by the
Ministry of Education of the PRC in September 2014. Mr. Li did
not hold any directorship in other listed companies during the
last three years.

Mr. Li is the father-in-law of Mr. Zuo Yichen, the executive
Director and the President of the Company.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. Zhang Weiping, aged 55, joined the Group in April 2007.
Ms. Zhang was appointed as a Director of our Company on
27 July 2008, and served as the Chief Operational Officer of
our Group from April 2007 to August 2016. Ms. Zhang was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
1 August 2016. Since September 2000, Ms. Zhang has held
various positions with Chongqging College of Humanities,
Science and Technology, including being appointed as
professor by Southwestern Normal University Yucai College*
(A& K25 4 2Ft) (a predecessor of Chongging
College of Humanities, Science and Technology) in 2004.
She currently serves as the executive principal and party
secretary of the school. Ms. Zhang has more than 15 years of
experience in the education industry and is responsible for the
overall management and operation of our Group. Ms. Zhang
graduated from Southwestern University* (FAEAE2) (formerly
known as Southwestern Normal College* (FaFa AT #3£F%)) with a
bachelor's degree in law in 1988 and a master’s degree in law
in 1998. Ms. Zhang held various positions with Southwestern
University during the period from 1988 to 2007, where she was
appointed an associate professor in 2001 before receiving
a further promotion to the position of researcher in 2007.
Between December 2007 to December 2012, Ms. Zhang was
a representative member of Chongging Municipal People’s
Congress* (EEMARMREZAE). She has served as a vice
president of the Higher Education Commission of the China
Non-Governmental Education Association* (FERFIHAEHE)
since 2011. Ms. Zhang was awarded the “Advance Education
Workers in Chongqing* (Jt##(8 L{E#&)" award by Chongging
Municipal Education Commission in September 2007. She was
also named as an “Outstanding Party Affairs Worker* ({855
B T{EE)” by Southwestern University* (FmAZ) in June
2006. Ms. Zhang did not hold any directorship in other listed
companies during the last three years.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
ESREHREERE (&)

Mr. Zuo Yichen, aged 39, joined the Group in August 2016
as Vice President. Mr. Zuo was appointed as a Director of our
Company on 23 August 2016 and currently act as the President
of our Company. Mr. Zuo has more than 14 years of experience
in banking practice. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zuo was
employed by the Bank of China from July 2002 to March 2016,
and last occupied the position of head office senior manager.
Mr. Zuo graduated from Beijing Foreign Studies University* (1t
FAHMNBEIREAER) in 2002 with a bachelor of arts degree, majoring
in French. Mr. Zuo did not hold any directorship in other listed
companies during the last three years.

Mr. Zuo is the son-in-law of Mr. Li Xuechun, the executive
Director and chairman of the Board of the Company.

Mr. Lam Ngai Lung, aged 43, joined the Group in May 2012
as the general manager of our investment department and was
subsequently appointed as a Director of our Company on 23
August 2016. Mr. Lam has served as the Chief Financial Officer
of our Group since 22 May 2016. Mr. Lam has more than 15
years of experience in the field of accounting, and finance.
Prior to joining our Group, He served as an audit assistant
with Nexia Charles Mar Fan & Co., a firm of Certified Public
Accounts, between September 2000 and November 2003.
From November 2003 to October 2006, Mr. Lam was employed
by PricewaterhouseCoopers and last occupied the position of
senior associate. Between November 2006 and March 2007,
Mr. Lam was employed as an assistant manager at TOM Group
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2383) since August 2004 and was primarily responsible for
internal operational reviews. From March 2007 to May 2012,
Mr. Lam served as an advisory manager at KPMG. Mr. Lam
graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in November 1999 with a bachelor of science
in mathematics degree. In October 2000, He obtained the
Postgraduate Certificate in Professional Accounting from the
City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lam has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
2004 and a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder
since 2005. Mr. Lam did not hold any directorship in other
listed companies during the last three years.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Kaihua, aged 53, was appointed by the Board as a
non-executive Director on 28 June 2017. Mr. Lin has extensive
experience in business operation and financial management.
He is an executive director and vice president of Overseas
Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Ltd.* (ZE@EH (apM) #ERARA
A]) (“OCT (Asia)”) (stock code: 3366), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and which holds approximately 8.26% of the issued
share capital of the Company. He also holds director positions
in certain subsidiaries of OCT (Asia) and Beijing Guangying
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (It REREHERZEARE D
A]) (an associate of OCT (Asia)), and is also the deputy general
manager of Overseas Chinese Town (HK) Company Limited (the
controlling shareholder of OCT (Asia)). Since joining Overseas
Chinese Town Enterprise Company in 1992, Mr. Lin has held
a number of positions including but not limited to the deputy
general manager and the chief financial officer of Overseas
Chinese Town (Shanghai) Land Company* (ZEEH (L&) Eit
ABRAF]) (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the OCT
(Asia)), the deputy general manager of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese Town Entertainment Investment Company Limited* (0%
YIZE B EB T IREEIL E A 7)) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of OCT
Ltd.), chief financial officer of Shenzhen Overseas Chinese
Town Holding Company Limited* (RIIZEGB IR D B R A )
(currently known as OCT Ltd.), and the chief financial officer
of Shenzhen Bay Hotel* (ZFIIEKEE) (currently known as
“InterContinental Shenzhen* (Z{§#H XJEJE)"). Mr. Lin holds
a bachelor’'s degree and a master’s degree in accounting
and has obtained Certified Public Accountant and Senior
Accountant title.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
ESREHREERE (&)

Ms. Li Yanping, aged 60, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 28 June 2017. Ms. Li has been the Vice Principal
of Pass College of Chongqging Technology and Business
University, a school in which the Group owns 100% school
sponsor interest, since March 2016. Ms. Li has over 30 years
of experience in the financial service industry and possesses
extensive experience in management and internal audit. Prior
to joining the Group, Ms. Li was the Deputy Division Chief
at the Xi'an Branch of Internal Audit Bureau of Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China (“ICBC”) (ff B L iR 17N &5t
BFaE S E) from 2006 to 2016 and has worked as an auditor
at ICBC from 1999 to 2004. She has also worked at various
positions in ICBC from 1980 to 2004. Ms. Li has obtained a
bachelor’s degree in economics and management from the
Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of China (FREMR) and is a senior economist. Ms. Li is the
daughter of Mr. Li Xuerang who is a cousin of Mr. Li Xuechun,
a controlling shareholder of the Company, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, aged 55, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2
March 2017. Mr. Chan is a partner and founder of Kenny Chan
& Co., a firm of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan has
over 30 years’ experience in accounting, taxation, auditing and
corporate finance and has been involved in several mergers,
acquisitions and initial public offering projects. Mr. Chan
holds a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
New South Wales and is a member of Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand, the Association of International
Accountants, CPA Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Mr. Chan is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. Mr. Chan served as president of the Hong
Kong Branch of the Association of International Accountants
in the years 2012-2015. Mr. Chan is an independent non-
executive director of Zhongyuan Bank Co., Ltd., CMIC
Ocean En-Tech Holding Co., Ltd., Hebei Construction Group
Corporation Limited and Kingland Group Holdings Limited, all
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Yu Huangcheng, aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2
March 2017. From March 2009 to March 2010, Mr. Yu was
employed by the Investment Promotion Bureau of Haidian
District* (8REER#ER) and last occupied the position
of section chief (£}&). Since March 2010, Mr. Yu has served
as an investment director at Kunwu Jiuding Capital Holdings
Co., Ltd. (BEENRIKEZERAZHBBR AR, which is a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600053).
Mr. Yu graduated from Macquarie University in Australia with a
Master’'s degree in applied finance in November 2008. Mr. Yu
did not hold any directorship in other listed companies during
the last three years.

Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew, aged 64, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2
March 2017. He was admitted as Solicitor of the High Court
in Hong Kong in January 1982 and has over 30 years of
experience in the legal practice. Mr. Wang was the Head of
Legal and Compliance Department of China Development Bank
Corporation Hong Kong Branch between from August 2010
to September 2011. Before joining China Development Bank
Corporation Hong Kong, he was a Partner of the Finance &
Projects Group of DLA Piper Hong Kong from October 2006
to November 2009. Mr. Wang has also been a Notary Public
since 1992. Actively involved in public sector advisory and
statutory bodies, amongst the appointments he is the Chairman
of Appeal Tribunal Panel (Building Ordinance), and former
member of Notaries Public Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. In 2005,
he was invited by former President of the United States Bill
Clinton to participate in the Clinton Global Initiative Fund held
in New York 2005. Mr. Wang has served as an independent
non-executive director of Infinity Financial Group (Holdings)
Limited (T E®E(ER)EMR A A]), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1152) from October 2011 to June
2017. Mr. Wang graduated from Concordia University, Canada
with a bachelor of arts degree in Communications Arts.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
ESREHREERE (&)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Wei, aged 53, joined the Group in October 2005
and is currently the financial director and head of finance
department of Chongqging College of Humanities, Science
and Technology. Mr. Wang has over 15 years of experience
in finance and accounting and is primarily responsible for the
finance and accounting of our Group’s schools in Chongging.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang worked as accountant
with Beijing Zhongruicheng Lianhe Accounting Firm Chongging
Branch* (t R in#it& 5t EHMEE S FT) and Chongging
Tongguan Accounting Firm Co., Ltd.* (EEBTEE:HAE%ME
fR & T /A 7). Mr. Wang graduated from Jiangxi Caijing College*
(LFa BT 482 PT) with a bachelor degree in economics in July
1989.

Mr. Li Jiandong, aged 47, joined our Group in January 2016
and is currently the deputy officer of logistics of Chongaging
College of Humanities, Science and Technology and has been
primarily responsible for the logistical support of our schools
in Chongging. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li served as the
general manager of Shandong Dongying Jinheng Furniture
Co., Ltd.* (LER&E&EHXAKBRAF]), a company primarily
engaged in export and trading of furniture, between June 2010
to December 2015. From March 1999 to March 2010, Mr. Li
was employed by Shandong Shenghui Timber Co, Ltd.* (IUZR
BEEEAR¥EABRAR]) and last occupied the position of deputy
general manager.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Wing Shan is the company secretary of our Company
and was appointed on 21 September 2016. Ms. Ng is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as
the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in
the United Kingdom. Ms. Ng is an assistant vice president of
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly
known as SW Corporate Services Group Limited) and her major
responsibility is assisting listed companies in professional
company secretarial work.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTRE

The Board is pleased to present the reports and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated on 13 December 2005 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands. The Company’s shares were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 22 March 2017 (the
“Listing Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in providing educational
services in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of the
Group’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2019 as required by Schedule 5 to
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s financial
performance, an indication of likely future developments in
the Group’s business and the Group’s key relationships with
its stakeholders who have a significant impact on the Group
and on which the Group’s success depends, is set out in
the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 7 to 8
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to
37. These discussions form part of this annual report. Events
affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of
the financial year is set out in the section headed “Events after
the Reporting Period” on page 123 below in this report of the
Directors.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float of not less than
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital as required
under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EESHE(8)

RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 157 to 160.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group believes that risk management is important to the
Group’s success. Key operational risks faced by the Group
include, among others, changes in general market conditions
and perceptions of formal higher education, changes in the
regulatory environment in the PRC education industry, the
ability of the Group to offer quality education to students, the
ability of the Group to increase student enrollment and/or raise
tuition rates, the potential expansion of the Group into other
regions in China, availability of financing to fund the Group’s
expansion and business operations and competition from other
school operators that offer similar quality of education and
have similar scale.

In addition, the Group also faces numerous market risks, such
as foreign currency risk and liquidity risks that arise in the
normal course of the Group’s business.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans with
floating interest rates. It is the Group’s policy to keep certain
borrowings at floating rates of interest so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk. The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
However, the Directors will consider hedging significant interest
rate risk should the need arises.

Foreign Currency Risk

All of the Group’s turnover and substantially all of the Group’s
operating expenses are denominated in RMB, which is not
a freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and,
in certain cases, the remittance of currency out of Mainland
China. Shortages in the availability of foreign currencies may
restrict the ability of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to remit
sufficient foreign currencies to pay dividends or other amounts
to the Group.
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Liquidity Risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of internally
generated cash flows from operations and other borrowings.
The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to
ensure that it has adequate financial resources in meeting its
financial obligations.

To properly manage these risks, the Group has established risk
management structures and measures. The details are set out
on pages 139 to 140 “Risk Management and Internal Control”
of corporate governance report.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for
the last five financial years are set out on page 6 “Financial
Highlights” of this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group held a short-term investment measured at
amortised cost, equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income included in non-current asset
reclassified as held for sale and equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2019. Details are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EESHE(8)

BANK LOANS AND OTHER LOANS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings as at 31 December
2019 are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTION RESERVE

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 161 to 162, respectively. As at 31
December 2019, the aggregate amount of reserve available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the company was
approximately RMB1,076,559,000 (2018: RMB1,123,693,000).

DIVIDEND POLICY

1. Subject to the Cayman lIslands Company Law and
the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors has
absolute discretion on whether to distribute dividends.
In addition, the Shareholders may by ordinary resolution
declare dividends, but no dividend may be declared in
excess of the amount recommended by the Board. In
either case, a dividend may only be declared and paid
out of the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully
available for distribution (including share premium), and
in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would
result in the Company being unable to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. Even if the
Board decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency and
amount of dividends will depend on the Company’s future
operations, cash flows, general financial condition, capital
adequacy ratio, cash dividends received from the invested
portfolio ecosystem partners, future business prospectus,
statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of
dividends and other factors that the Board considers
relevant.
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2. Any future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also
depend upon the availability of dividends received from
our subsidiaries. PRC regulations may restrict the ability of
our PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company.

3. The Company does not have a fixed dividend payout ratio.
The Company currently intends to retain most, if not all, of
the available funds and any future earnings to operate and
expand the business.

4. The dividend policy reflects the Board’s current views
on the Company’s financial and cash flow position. It will
continue to be reviewed by the Board from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount, if at all, for any given period.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
HK$2.84 cents per ordinary share (equivalent to RMB2.59
cents, according to the central parity rate of Renminbi to Hong
Kong dollars as announced by the People’'s Bank of China
on 25 March 2020, i.e. RMB0.9124 equivalent to HKD1.00)
(2018: Nil) by cash to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Thursday, 2 July 2020. Subject
to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the expected date of payment of final
dividend will be on or no later than 31 August 2020.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws
of the Cayman lIslands or under the Company’s Articles of
Association that require the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EESHE(8)

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had
purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

No service provided to a single customer contributes 10% or
more of the total revenue of the Group during the Reporting
Period.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for 33.6% of the total purchases for in 2019 and purchases
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to 5.9% of
the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or any of the
substantial Shareholders (which are disclosed to the Directors)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers
and suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term goals. The Group maintains
a good relationship with employees, customers and suppliers.
During the Reporting Period, there were no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its employees,
customers and/or suppliers.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

Net proceeds from the Listing (including the over-allotment
option and after deducting underwriting fee and relevant
expenses) amounted to approximately HK$1,374.7 million. As
at 31 December 2019, a total amount of HK$909.2 million out
of the net proceeds had been used by the Group according to
the allocation set out in the prospectus of the Company dated
10 March 2017 (the “Prospectus”).
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The following sets forth a summary of the utilisation of the net
proceeds:

Percentage to
total amount

Purpose

Jith= HREEADL

Acquiring additional existing schools in
the PRC and overseas

Wi B RN B IR B 2R

Establishing new schools or expanding
the existing schools we own or
operate

B HTBREFER K ME G S E P
WEER

Repaying a term loan from a third-party
financial institution

BEBFE =77 RIEBIGHTEHER

Financing working capital and general
corporate use

REBEe M —RATIAERTEES

55.0%

21.2%

14.8%

9.0%

Net proceeds

e IR R
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TREJIASHRIBFRERRE

Utilised
amount at

31 December
2019
20195
12A31H
EBRSE
HKD

BT

(million)

(B8r)

Unutilised
amount at

31 December
2019
20195
12A31H
HARBHEE
HKD

BT

(million)

(B8r)

HKD
BT
(million)

(F&8r)

756.1 694.8 61.3

291.4 - 291.4

203.5 162.0 41.5

123.7 52.4 71.3

Total #zt 100.0%

1,374.7 909.2 465.5

The Company expects to utilise the unutilised net proceeds in
the next 18 months.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Acquisition in
progress during the Reporting Period” and “Discontinued
acquisition during the Reporting Period” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis in this annual report, the Group
did not have any other material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2019 amounted to approximately RMB886,000
(2018: approximately RMB834,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
E=2RS(8)

RECTIFICATION MEASURES g

As disclosed in the “Business” section of the Prospectus, the RINFBIRER[ZEK |—ETIKE  EEAX
Group has certain buildings occupied by Chongqging College of H®IEE:  EFIAS2RITEBRRANST G
Humanities, Science and Technology, Pass College of Chongging Z/MNEEZ2R (SMAR)ERNE TETF
Technology and Business University and Inner Mongolia Fengzhou — 2R - KREBDIELERZEET -
Vocational College (Qingcheng Branch) that had defective titles. 2N B 1F 5% /7 [A) 48 B8 BT 44 B8 K2 B E 3
The Group has ceased using such buildings and the Group is EH - LIS RE A E &8 -
using the best efforts to promptly make appropriate applications & ZEAFHRHEH - BFRMROT ¢

with the relevant government authorities to obtain the required

permits and/or acceptance checks. As at the date of this annual

report, the status of the buildings are as follows:

The number of
buildings covered by

Total number of applications with the
buildings which we relevant government
Total number have obtained the  authorities to obtain the
of buildings building ownership ~ required permits and/or
with defective certificates acceptance checks
titles as disclosed as at the date of as at the date of
in the Prospectus this annual report this annual report
REREREKEZ RAEFHBE - RAFR A @ HEBBUTHE
Buildings occupied by FHEERRIR RMERSER EHiBE  UREREN
BFHUTHBER HEFEH FIERZNETAY FURR /ARUNEFHE
Chongging College of Humanities, 15 12 3
Science and Technology
EEAXHRER
Pass College of Chongging 3 3 -
Technology and Business
University
EFTEHAZRNER
Inner Mongolia Fengzhou 5 - 5

Vocational College
(Qingcheng Branch)
NELEMNBESR(FRAR)
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year of 2019 and up to the date of this
annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Zhang Weiping (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zuo Yichen (President)

Mr. Lam Ngai Lung (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Kaihua
Ms. Li Yanping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny
Mr. Yu Huangcheng
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Board considers
such Directors to be independent in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 38 to
44 of this annual report.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued
EEEHS(E)

2=
R2019FAREEAFREBEMNESNT

BITEE
FERRE(EFETRE)
SREF L (TTEAREL)
LRRKE ()
MERBESE (M HAEE)
FHTESE

MEHEE £

Pt
BIHBITEE

REAEFRLE
THBELE

BYFHTESHBEIMER
ARRIERE EHRAFEI AR SIEILIF
MITEFMESBINER MEFTSRA

RIBEEWARBE3A3MG  ZFEFR/BILA
+ .

EEERE

EENEAABREEHINNAFREIBEZRE
F44H o

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3}

53



54

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
E=2RS(8)

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director had a material beneficial interest in,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year 2019 and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year of 2019, none of the Directors or substantial
Shareholders or their respective associates had engaged in
any business which competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group or has any
conflict of interests with the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling Shareholders has made an annual
declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of
non-competition undertaking during the Reporting Period.
Details of the non-competition undertaking are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of
the Prospectus. The non-competition undertakings in respect
of the controlling Shareholders have become effective from the
Listing Date.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO
ANHUI WONDER UNIVERSITY, CHONGQING ELECTRONIC
INFORMATION COLLEGE AND QUFU FAREAST
VOCATIONAL AND TECHNICAL COLLEGE

A.

Background and overview

We currently hold our interest in our consolidated affiliated
entity, namely, Chongqging Electronic Information College
(referred as “Yuecheng Operating Entities”) and will
hold our interest in our consolidated affiliated entities,
namely, Anhui Wonder University, Qufu Fareast Vocational
and Technical College and Chongging Yiersheng (as the
controlling shareholder of Nanchang Hezhitong, which is in
turn the school sponsor of Nanchang Vocational University)
upon the completion of the relevant agreements in the PRC
through a series of contracts (the “Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements”) as PRC laws and regulations generally
restrict foreign ownership in the private education industry
in the PRC. PRC laws and regulations currently restrict
the operation of higher education institutions to Sino-
foreign cooperation ownership, in addition to imposing
qualification requirements on the foreign owners. We do
not hold any equity interest in our PRC Operating Schools.
The Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, through which
we obtain control over and derive the economic benefits
from the Yuecheng Operating Entities, have been narrowly
tailored to achieve our business purpose and minimize the
potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEBRE(E)

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations
as set out above while availing ourselves of international
capital markets and maintaining effective control over
all of our operations, on 27 September 2017, our wholly-
owned subsidiary, Chongging Ruibo Mincheng Education
Technology Co. Ltd. (“Chongqing Ruibo”) entered
into various agreements that constitute the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements with, among others, our PRC
Operating Schools and Chongging Yuecheng, under which
all economic benefits arising from the business of the
Yuecheng Operating Entities and Chongging Yuecheng
are transferred to Chongging Ruibo to the extent permitted
under the PRC laws and regulations by means of service
fees payable by the Yuecheng Operating Entities and
Chongqging Yuecheng to Chongging Ruibo. Although
the registered shareholders are not consolidated as part
of our Group, they are parties to certain agreements
which constitute the Yuecheng Contratual Arrangements
to ensure that the shareholders’ rights of Chongqging
Yuecheng are actually controlled by Chongaging Ruibo.
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The followmg simplified diagram illustrates the flow of

Chongging Yuecheng holds 100% school sponsor’s interest
in Chongging Electronic Information College. Since February
2019, Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College has been
entrusted to Chongqging Yuecheng for management. Pending
completion of the relevant agreements, Chongging Yuecheng will
hold 51% and 51% school sponsor’s interests in Anhui Wonder

University and Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College,
respectively. Upon completion, Chongging Yiersheng, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Chongging Yuecheng, will hold 51% of the
equity interest of Nanchang Hezhitong and indirectly hold 51%
of school sponsor’s interest in Nanchang Vocational University
through Nanchang Hezhitong.
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As of the date of this annual report, we have not
encountered any interference or encumbrance from any
governing bodies in our plan to adopt the Yuecheng
Contratual Arrangements and the consolidated financial
results of the Yuecheng Operating Entities, which engage
in higher education service, are consolidated to those of
our Group.

Summary of the Material Terms of the Yuecheng
Contratual Arrangements

The major provisions of the Yuecheng Contratual Arrangements
are summarized as follows:

(1) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement A

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation
agreement entered into between Chongging Ruibo
and Chongging Yuecheng (the “Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement A”), Chongqging Ruibo
agreed to provide exclusive technical services to
Chongqging Yuecheng, including but not limited
to, technical services, network support, business
consulting, market consulting, system maintenance
and other services necessary for the business of or
as required by Chongqging Yuecheng and allowed
under the PRC law. Under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement A, Chongging Ruibo is entitled
to charge Chongging Yuecheng each financial year for
a service fee equals to all the amount of its net profit
(after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes, losses
from the previous year (if required by the law) and the
statutory provident fund as required by law) for the
corresponding period. Chongging Ruibo has the right
(but not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such
service fee by reference to, among others, the actual
services provided and the actual business operations
and needs of Chongaqing Yuecheng, provided that any
adjusted amount shall not cause any difficulties for the
operation of both of Chongging Ruibo and Chongging
Yuecheng.
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(2) Equity Pledge Agreements A

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered
into by and among Chongging Ruibo, Chongging
Yugangao Enterprise Management Consultant
Company Limited (“Chongqing Yugangao”) and
Chongaing Yuecheng (the “Equity Pledge Agreement
IA”), Chongging Yugangao agreed to pledge and
grant the first priority security interests over the
entire equity interest of Chongging Yuecheng owned
by Chongging Yugangao together with all related
rights thereto to Chongqging Ruibo as security
for performance of the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements and all direct, indirect, consequential
damages and foreseeable loss of interest incurred
by Chongging Ruibo as a result of enforcement
of the obligations of Chongging Yugangao and
Chongging Yuecheng under the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements until all such obligations are discharged
to the satisfaction of Chongging Ruibo.

In addition, pursuant to the equity pledge agreement
entered into by and among Chongqging Ruibo,
Chongqging Yugangao, Mr. Li Xuechun (“Mr. Li")
and Mr. Cao Yong (“Mr. Cao”) (the “Equity Pledge
Agreement IIA”, together with the Equity Pledge
Agreement IA, the “Equity Pledge Agreements A’),
Mr. Li and Mr. Cao agreed to pledge and grant the first
priority security interests over the 100% equity interest
of Chongaing Yugangao owned by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao
in aggregate together with all related rights thereto to
Chongging Ruibo as security for performance of the
Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements and all direct,
indirect, consequential damages and foreseeable loss
of interest incurred by Chongging Ruibo as a result of
enforcement of the obligations of Mr. Li, Mr. Cao and
Chongging Yugangao under the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements until all such obligations are discharged
to the satisfaction of Chongging Ruibo.
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(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreements A

Pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement
entered into by and among Chongqging Ruibo,
Chongging Yugangao and Chongging Yuecheng (the
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA”), Chongging
Yugangao has irrevocably and unconditionally granted
Chongging Ruibo the right to, as and when permitted
by the applicable PRC laws and regulations during
the term of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
acquire all or part of the 100% equity interest of
Chongging Yuecheng held by Chongging Yugangao
at a consideration which is the lower of the registered
capital contribution by Chongging Yugangao to
Chongging Yuecheng and nominal consideration, or
otherwise at the lowest price permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws and regulations.

In addition, pursuant to the exclusive call option
agreement entered into by and among Chongging
Ruibo, Chongging Yugangao, Mr. Li and Mr. Cao (the
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement lIA”, together with
Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA, the “Exclusive
Call Option Agreements A”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao have
irrevocably and unconditionally granted Chongging
Ruibo the right to, as and when permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and regulations during the term
of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, acquire
all or part of the 100% equity interest of Chongging
Yugangao together held by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao for
the lower of the registered capital contribution by
Mr. Li and Mr. Cao to Chongging Yugangao and
nominal consideration, or otherwise at the lowest
price permitted by the then applicable PRC laws and
regulations. In addition, pursuant to the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement IIA, Mr. Li and Mr. Cao have
irrevocably undertaken that, subject to the PRC laws
and regulations, they will return to the Company
any consideration they receive in the event that the
Company acquires the equity interest in Chongqging
Yuecheng when terminating the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements.
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(4) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements A

and Power of Attorneys A

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA and
Power of Attorney IA

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement executed by and among Chongging Ruibo,
Chongaing Yugangao and Chongging Yuecheng (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA”),
Chongging Yugangao executed a power of attorney in
favour of Chongaging Ruibo (the “Power of Attorney
A”) pursuant to which Chongging Yugangao has
irrevocably and unconditionally authorized Chongging
Ruibo to, among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Chongging Yugangao and to
make decisions which Chongging Yugangao is
entitled to make as the shareholder of Chongaging
Yuecheng on behalf of Chongging Yugangao;

(i) exercise all its rights of shareholder and voting
rights in Chongqging Yuecheng as granted by
the PRC law and the articles and associations of
Chongging Yuecheng, including but not limited to
selling, transferring, pledging or otherwise dealing
in all or any of the equity interests in Chongqging
Yuecheng; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman,
executive director or manager of Chongqging
Yuecheng in accordance with its articles and
associations, or nominate, appoint or change
the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or
other management level personnel of Chongging
Yuecheng.

Chongging Ruibo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such directors to exercise the rights which Chongaging
Ruibo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney IA.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IA, Chongging Yugangao
guarantees and undertakes that:

(i)

(i)

in the event it receives any asset (including
the equity interest of Chongging Yuecheng) in
relation to the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal or
termination of Chongqging Yuecheng, Chongging
Yugangao agrees to transfer at nil consideration
or at the lowest consideration as permitted by
the then applicable laws and regulations to
Chongging Ruibo such asset; and

without prior approval of Chongqging Ruibo, it
will neither, directly or indirectly, participate or
engage in any business which is or may be in
competition with the business of Chongqging
Yuecheng or its associated companies, or be
engaged by any entity which is or may be in
competition with the business of Chongqging
Yuecheng or its associated companies, or hold
any assets of such entity or hold more than 5%
interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IA, any successor to Chongging
Yugangao shall hold the respective equity interest
in Chongqging Yuecheng subject to conditions,
requirements and obligations under the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA.
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Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IIA and
Power of Attorney IIA

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement executed by and among Chongging
Ruibo, Mr. Li, Mr. Cao and Chongqging Yugangao
(the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
IIA”, together with the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IA, the “Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreements A”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao
executed a power of attorney in favour of Chongging
Ruibo (the “Power of Attorney IIA”, together with the
Power of Attorney IA, the “Power of Attorneys A”)
pursuant to which Mr. Li and Mr. Cao have irrevocably
and unconditionally authorized Chongging Ruibo to,
among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Mr. Li and Mr. Cao to convene
and attend shareholder meetings of Chongqging
Yugangao in accordance with its articles and
associations;

(i) exercise all their rights of shareholders and voting
rights in Chongqging Yugangao as granted by
the PRC law and its articles and associations,
including but not limited to selling, transferring,
pledging or otherwise dealing in all or any of the
equity interests in Chongging Yugangao; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman,
executive director or manager of Chongqging
Yugangao in accordance with its articles and
associations, or nominate, appoint or change
the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or
other management level personnel of Chongqging
Yugangao.

Chongging Ruibo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such Directors to exercise the rights which Chongging
Ruibo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney IlA.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IIA, each of Mr. Li and Mr.
Cao guarantees and undertakes that:

(i) in the event he receives any asset (including
the equity interest of Chongging Yugangao) in
relation to the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal
or termination of Chongqging Yugangao, he agrees
to transfer at nil consideration or at the lowest
consideration as permitted by the then applicable
laws and regulations to Chongging Ruibo such
asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Ruibo, he
will neither, directly or indirectly, participate or
engage in any business which is or may be in
competition with the business of Chongging
Yugangao or its associated companies, or be
engaged by any entity which is or may be in
competition with the business of Chongging
Yugangao or its associated companies, or hold
any assets of such entity or hold more than 5%
interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement [IA, in the event of Mr. Li’s or Mr.
Cao’s death, loss of capacity, marriage, divorce or
bankruptcy or other similar events affecting Mr. Li or
Mr. Cao in exercising their respective shareholders’
rights of Chongging Yugangao, any successor to
Mr. Li or Mr. Cao shall hold the respective equity
interest in Chongging Yugangao subject to conditions,
requirements and obligations under the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement IIA.
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(5) Spouse Undertakings A

Pursuant to the spouse undertakings (“Spouse
Undertakings A”) executed by Ms. Shi, the spouse of
Mr. Cao, Ms. Shi has irrevocably undertaken that:

(a) she has full knowledge of and has consented to
the entering into of the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements to which Mr. Cao is a party, and
in particular, the equity interest in Chongqging
Yugangao owned by Mr. Cao is not part of the
common assets of Mr. Cao and herself, she is
not entitled to any rights attached to such equity
interests of Mr. Cao in Chongging Yugangao
(including the rights arising from the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements), she shall not engage
in any activities interfering the performance of the
Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements (including
but not limited to claiming her entitlement to the
equity interest of Chongging Yugangao owned by
Mr. Cao and any rights arising from the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements).

(b) she has not, is not and shall not in the future
participate in the operation and management
in relation to Chongging Yugangao and claim
any interest in relation to the equity interest and
assets of Chongging Yugangao.

(c) in the event she receives all or part of the equity
interest of Chongqging Yugangao for any reason,
she agrees to be a party to the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements and be bound by the
relevant restrictions as set out in the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements and perform any act
and execute all necessary documents in order to
give effect to such restrictions.
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Authorization to obtain assets of Chongqing Yuecheng

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IA and the Power of Attorney IA,
Chongging Ruibo has been authorized to exercise all
rights of Chongging Yugangao as the sole shareholder
of Chongging Yuecheng under applicable laws and
the articles of association of Chongqging Yuecheng,
including but not limited to the right to dividends and
right to deal with the assets of Chongging Yuecheng.
It is also the guarantee and undertaking that, in the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA, in
the event it receives any asset (including the equity
interest of Chongqging Yuecheng) in relation to the
liguidation, winding-up, dismissal or termination of
Chongaing Yuecheng, Chongging Yugangao agrees
to transfer at nil consideration or at the lowest
consideration as permitted by the then applicable
laws and regulations to Chongqging Ruibo such asset.

Dispute resolution

Pursuant to the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
any dispute arising from the validity, interpretation
and performance of the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements between the parties thereto should
first be resolved through negotiation. If the parties
are unable to settle the dispute within 30 days, any
party may submit the said dispute to the Chongging
Arbitration Commission with a view to resolving the
dispute through arbitration in accordance with the
arbitration rules thereof. The results of the arbitration
shall be final and binding on all relevant parties. The
arbitral commission shall have the right to award
remedies over the equity interest and property
interest and other assets of Chongging Yuecheng,
injunctive relief (for the conduct of business or to
compel the transfer of assets) or order the winding
up of Chongging Yuecheng (the “Arbitral Award
Provisions”).
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The Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements also provide
that pending formation of the arbitral tribunal or in
appropriate cases, the courts of Hong Kong, the
Company’s place of incorporation (the Cayman Islands),
Chongging Yuecheng’s place of establishment (the
PRC), the jurisdiction where the principal assets of
Chongging Ruibo and Chongging Yuecheng are
located (the PRC) have the power to grant interim
remedies in support of the arbitration (the “Interim
Remedies Provisions”).

However, as advised by the Legal advisor to the
Company as to the laws of the PRC, Global Law Office
(the “PRC Legal Advisor”) according to the PRC laws
and regulations, the arbitral tribunal normally would
not grant such kind of remedies or injunctive relief
or winding up order of such PRC operational entities
as Chongging Yuecheng under the PRC laws and
regulations. For instance, the arbitral commission has
no authority to grant such injunctive relief, nor will it be
able to order the winding up of the PRC operational
entities pursuant to existing PRC laws and regulations.
In addition, interim remedies or enforcement order
granted by overseas courts such as Hong Kong
and Cayman Islands may not be recognizable or
enforceable in China.

Business Activities of the Yuecheng Operating Entities

Chongqging Yuecheng is a company established under
the laws of the PRC with limited liability and is principally
engaged in higher education management consulting
service. Chongqging Electronic Information College is
a full-time ordinary higher education institution located
in Chongging city, the PRC, providing junior college
education. Anhui Wonder University is a private higher
education institution located in Anhui, the PRC, offering
courses and programs leading to higher education
degrees. Nanchang Vocational University is a full-time
ordinary private higher vocational undergraduate college.
Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College is a full-
time ordinary higher education institution located in Qufu
city, Shandong Province, the PRC.
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D. Significance and financial contributions of the
Yuecheng Operating Entities to the Group

Pursuant to the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, the
Group obtains control over and derives the economic
benefits from the Yuecheng Operating Entities. The table
below sets out the financial contribution of the Yuecheng
Operating Entities to the Group:

WL EERY L EBEEI R
=71

REBRHENLH - NEBERSHHE
EERMEGE TRPESEEN
@ o TREJINBEEEBHAEEN
MBER

Significances and financial contribution to the Group

HESBEWEEM NI E R

Revenue

Wy 28

Net Profit Total Assets
i F WEE

For the year ended
31 December 2019

#HZ2019F12A31H

For the year ended As of
31 December 2019 31 December 2019

#HZE2019F12A31H

IEEFE

Significances and

financial contribution

to the Group 5.3%
HAREENEE N R

5B

E. Revenue and assets involved in Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements

IEFEE HZ=2019F12H831H

(4.0)% 17.6%

E. BHHSHLHIY K REE

Revenue Assets
Wz BE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT

For the year ended As at

31 December 2019

31 December 2019

HE2019F12A31H

Yuecheng Operating Entities
e EE e

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited BR4AHEEAER A
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53,163
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Regulatory Framework
Higher Education

According to the PRC laws and regulations, the business
of the Yuecheng Operating Entities is a restricted business
to foreign investors at present.

The Yuecheng Operating Entities engages in higher
education in the PRC. From April 2015, in accordance with
the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment
(2015 Revision)*, higher education has been revised from
encouraged business to restricted business for foreign
investors. At present, pursuant to Catalogue of Industries
for Guiding Foreign Investment (2017 Revision)*, higher
education is a restricted business for foreign investors
and limited to Sino-foreign cooperative operations led by
Chinese nationals. The Company is an overseas company
registered outside the PRC, which is a foreign investor;
and accordingly, if the equity interest in Chongqging
Yuecheng were owned by the Company, it would be
regarded as a foreign investor as well.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Implementation Opinions on
Encouraging and Guiding Private Fund’s Entry into the
Education Sector and Promoting Healthy Development
of Private Education* ((EREEIMSIERME ©#EAHE
EHRERBUEREEZEMNEEER)) promulgated by
the Ministry of Education of the PRC on 18 June 2012 the
foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school should be below 50% (the “Foreign
Ownership Restriction”).

As advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, pursuant to
Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperation of Educational
Institutions* ({FRINEEHEZEEHI)) and its implementing
measures (the “Implementing Measures”), the foreign
investor of a Sino-foreign cooperative educational
institution shall be a foreign educational institution with
relevant qualification and the quality of education services
provided by it is relatively high (the “Qualification
Requirement”). There are no specific criteria or guidance
on the Qualification Requirement under the current PRC
laws and regulations.
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As further advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, the
principal business of the Yuecheng Operating Entities
falls within the aforesaid industry, and the Company,
as a foreign investor investing in the business of
operating higher education in the PRC, is subject to the
Qualification Requirement. Based on its interview with the
Education Department of Anhui Province (the “Education
Department”) in September 2017, PRC Legal Advisor
was informed that: (i) the restrictions to foreign investors
as stipulated in relevant PRC laws and regulations
apply to Sino-foreign cooperative education in Anhui
Province; and (ii) no further implementation measures
or specific guidance have been promulgated under the
Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperation of Educational
Institutions and the Implementing Measures in Anhui
which sets out the procedures and specific criteria for
the satisfaction of the Qualification Requirement. The PRC
Legal Advisor is therefore of the view that (i) there are
no specific requirements in the Implementing Measures
or specific criteria or guidance under the current PRC
laws and regulations as to how Chongging Yuecheng
can be regarded as an educational institution; and (ii) if
Chongqging Yuecheng were a subsidiary of the Group,
it would not be qualified to act as a foreign investor in
a Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution, until
the relevant specific implementation measures and/or
guidance have been promulgated to enable the Group to
attain such qualification.

Based on the above and as confirmed by the PRC Legal
Advisor, in order to achieve the business purpose of
the Company, the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
through which the Group will be able to exercise full
control over Chongging Yuecheng and consolidate the
financial results of Chongging Yuecheng into the accounts
of the Group, have been utilized to minimize the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

*

For identification purpose only
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Risks associated with the arrangements and the actions
taken to mitigate the risks

Risks

As the primary beneficiary of Chongging Yuecheng, the
Group is exposed to the business risks and financial risks
faced by Chongaging Yuecheng.

There is no assurance that Chongqging Yuecheng will
generate any profit which can be paid to the Group
through the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements

There is no assurance that Chongqging Yuecheng will
generate any profit which can be paid to the Group
through the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement A
and the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA.
Any profit or loss of Chongging Yuecheng (net of intra-
group transactions) will be reflected in the consolidated
financial statement of the Group.

A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Chongqging Yuecheng to the
Group under the Exclusive Call Option Agreements A

The exercise of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA
is subject to applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.
There is no assurance that the acquisition of the equity
interest in Chongqging Yuecheng held by Chongging
Yugangao under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA
will be permitted in the future, or whether such acquisition
will incur any costs and expenses to the Group in addition
to the consideration stipulated under the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement IA. Due to these limitations, the transfer
of equity interest in Chongging Yuecheng pursuant to the
exercise of the call option under the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement |IA may still be subject to substantial costs.

There is no assurance that the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements could comply with future changes in
the regulatory requirements in the PRC and the PRC
government may determine that the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements do not comply with applicable regulations

G.
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At the time when the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements
were entered into, the PRC Legal Advisor advised that
the execution, delivery and performance of the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements by each of the parties thereto,
were in compliance with (i) the provisions under the
articles of association of such party and (ii) any applicable
PRC laws and regulations. However, the interpretation and
implementation of the laws and regulations concerning
the foreign investment in the PRC, and their application to
and effect on the legality, binding effect and enforceability
of contracts, are subject to the discretion of competent
PRC legislative, administrative and judicial authorities.
In particular, there is no assurance that PRC legislative,
administrative or judicial authorities will not adopt a
different or contrary interpretation or view against view
of the Company and its legal advisor in respect of the
legality, binding effect and enforceability of the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements, and may determine that the
contracts do not comply with applicable regulations.

The Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct ownership in providing control over
Chongqing Yuecheng

Further, the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements may not
provide control over Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng as effective as direct ownership; Mr. Li, Mr. Cao
and Chongging Yugangao may have potential conflicts of
interest with the Company; and the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the tax
authorities and additional tax may be imposed on the
Group.

Insurance

We believe that there are limited business insurance
products available in the market, and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, no insurance products
specifically designed for protecting the risks relating to the
Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements are available in the
PRC market. Further, it is not compulsory for Chongging
Yugangao and Chongging Yuecheng to maintain an
insurance policy to cover risks relating to the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements under the applicable PRC
laws and regulations. Accordingly, the Group has not
purchased any insurance to cover the above risks.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)

IR A WL BERFT - AR
EH - BHANTENHES TRE
RNMBITHHANLHRTA1)EE
ERMORTE - R(i)ERER B S B
BRER - AT - BAREPBEINERE
HUERERONMENER - REESE
1~ HRAMENNATAITIE LR
MRANZ RN BEFBLEL  /THAMA]
EHBENERE - LERTREREPEL
A TR BDER RS TR A — (AR
RRF R EERBER AR A QB
VEVEN - KR DFIRIITIERER BT
Rl EERMFERER - WHARER
EARBTIEEREER

Vi T A S =N ok
HAIBET BB K IFIR— B

BEON - BB A KRB R BE TN R IR E
B aE mAN B B B N B A A — A

ME RS - FEAE  BAENBENE
B FEEARNBEBIENNEER
HHENLZHBFFZRR BB AN
EEYW ARG A KBRS TR

=+
R e

R

BIRET 5 L AT R R EH R E m
AR WEBESFNREER -
BTG LR A MRS S RRERE R
A AL R R RBE®R ° it
Sh - HERBRBERERT  EE®
BRMBE AL EAFIZIEBERR
PARIE B4 S A ) 2 BE B BV AR - 48
e - AERER AR B T ARRIARE
iR o



Internal control

In order to mitigate the risks associated with the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements, the Company has put in
place effective internal controls over Chongqging Ruibo,
Chongging Yugangao, Chongging Yuecheng and the
Yuecheng Operating Entities to safeguard its assets held
through the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements. As a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Chongqging
Ruibo is subject to all the internal control process and
procedures applicable to the Group.

The operations of Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng are exclusively controlled by Chongging Ruibo
through the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements and
the Group has applied its internal control processes and
procedures to Chongqging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng. In particular, pursuant to the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements, (i) Chongging Ruibo has
the right to nominate, appoint or terminate, the legal
representatives, chairman, directors, supervisors, chief
executive officer, manager and other senior management
members of Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng; (ii) without the prior consent of Chongqging
Ruibo, Chongqging Yugangao and Chongging Yuecheng
is not allowed to dispose of any of their respective assets
with a value of RMB1,000,000 or more.

Material changes

As of the date of this annual report, there were no material
changes in the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements and/or
the circumstances under which the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements were adopted.
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Unwinding of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any
unwinding of any Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
nor has there been any failure to unwind any Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that
led to the adoption of the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements are removed. In the event that the PRC
regulatory environment changes and all of the Qualification
Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the
Foreign Control Restriction are removed (and assuming
there are no other changes in the relevant PRC laws and
regulations), Chongqging Ruibo will exercise the relevant
call option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements
so that the Company will be able to directly operate
the schools without using the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements.

For details of the above Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 27 September 2017.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO
SHOUGUANG BOHAI EXPERIMENTAL SCHOOL AND
LAOLING MINSHENG EDUCATION HIGH SCHOOL

The Jierui Contractual Arrangements

On 2 May 2018, Chongging Mengzhuo, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a set of
agreements in relation to Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment
Management Co., Ltd* (tta2E& (JER)IREEEFR A A]) (“Shiji
Kuangao”), Chongqging Jierui Education Technology Co., Ltd*
(BEEGEHERTAERAR) (“Jierui”) and its shareholders, Mr.
Li and Mr. Li Jiandong (“Mr. Li JD”), namely, the (a) Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement B, (b) Equity Pledge
Agreements B, (c) Exclusive Call Option Agreements B, (d)
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements B; and (e) Power
of Attorneys B, and (f) Spouse Undertakings B, (as defined
below) (collectively, the “Jierui Contractual Arrangements”).

Shiji Kuangao, Shouguang Bohai Experimental School and
Laoling Minsheng Education High School Company Limited*
BEERAEHERRTEERBRAF]), also known as Laoling
Minsheng Education High School* (4% RAH A S&TE) are
referred to as “Jierui Operating Entities” in this section.
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Pursuant to the Jierui Contractual Arrangements:

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

the Group is able to exercise control over (i) Shiji Kuangao
as the school sponsor of Shouguang Bohai Experimental
School; and (ii) Laoling Minsheng Education High School;

the Group has the right to govern the management of
Jierui and Shiji Kuangao;

the Group has the right to deal with the assets of Jierui
and Shiji Kuangao;

the Group has the right to acquire the entire equity interest
of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao (as and when the PRC relevant
rules and regulations allow it to do so);

the Company is able to consolidate the financial results of
Jierui, Shiji Kuangao and Bohai Experimental School into
the Group’s results from the commencement date of the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements; and

none of Jierui (as the sole shareholder of Shiji Kuangao)
and Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (as the shareholders of Jierui) will
obtain or receive any financial or commercial benefits from
the equity interest in Jierui or Shiji Kuangao (as the case
may be) under the Jierui Contractual Arrangements despite
holding direct or indirect equity interest in Shiji Kuangao.

The following diagram illustrates the relationship among the

Company, Chongging Mengzhuo, the Jierui Operating Entities,

Jierui and its shareholders:
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© Power of Attorney IIB
REZTEIB

Mr. Li Xuechun Mr. Li Jiandong

FEERE FERTE

The Company 5% 95%

RATF

Provision of
100% services under
the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement B
RIBEREBEE

WhEBIE AR

Chongaing ! ) Jierui
Mengzhuo 2=\ = ™
= ,gﬁ &0 HEQH Power of Attorney IB
— i EREETEB
Service fee ALES
AR & 100%
Jierui
Operating Entities
HELEER
Note: BiHeE
(1) Chongging Mengzhuo is indirectly wholly-owned by the Company. (1) EEZamAAnfEzEES -
Reasons for use of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements RARESHZHHIERA
According to the PRC laws and regulations, the business of RIEBEFENEEER - BAISHHEERER

Shouguang Bohai Experimental School and Laoling Minsheng — RZER4EHE =R H 28X =2 NI
Education High School is a restricted business to foreign EEREIZET
investors at present.
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Shouguang Bohai Experimental School is an ordinary senior
high school and is located in Shouguang, Shandong Province,
the PRC and Laoling Minsheng Education High School is a full-
time high school located in Laoling, Shandong Province, the
PRC.

From March 2002, in accordance with the Catalogue of
Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment (2002 Revision),
high school education has been revised as restricted business
for foreign investors. At present, pursuant to the Foreign
Investment Catalogue (2017), high school education is a
restricted business for foreign investors and limited to Sino-
foreign cooperative operations led by Chinese nationals. The
Company is an overseas company registered outside the
PRC, which is a foreign investor; and accordingly, if the equity
interest in Shiji Kuangao was owned by the Company, it would
be regarded as a foreign investor as well.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Implementation Opinions, the
foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school is subject to the Foreign Ownership
Restriction.

As advised by the PRC Legal Advisors, pursuant to Implementing
Measures, the foreign investor of a Sino-foreign cooperative
educational institution is subject to the Qualification Requirement.
There is no specific criteria or guidance on the Qualification
Requirement under the current PRC laws and regulations.
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As further advised by the PRC Legal Advisors, the principal
business of Shouguang Bohai Experimental School falls within
the aforesaid industry, and the Company, as a foreign investor
investing in the business of operating high school education
in the PRC, is subject to the Qualification Requirement. Based
on its interview with the Education Bureau of Shouguang
City (the “Education Bureau”) in May 2018, the PRC Legal
Advisors was informed that: (i) the restrictions to foreign
investors as stipulated in the relevant PRC laws and regulations
apply to Sino-foreign cooperative education in Shouguang
City; and (ii) no further implementation measures or specific
guidance have been promulgated under the Regulations on
Sino-foreign Cooperation of Educational Institutions and the
Implementing Measures in Shandong or Shouguang which sets
out the procedures and specific criteria for the satisfaction
of the Qualification Requirement. The PRC Legal Advisors is
therefore of the view that (i) there are no specific requirements
in the Implementing Measures or specific criteria or guidance
under the current PRC laws and regulations as to how Shiji
Kuangao can be regarded as an educational institution;
and (ii) if Shiji Kuangao were a subsidiary of the Group, it
would not be qualified to act as a foreign investor in a Sino-
foreign cooperative educational institution, until the relevant
specific implementation measures and/or guidance have been
promulgated to enable the Group to attain such qualification.

Based on the above and as confirmed by the PRC Legal
Advisors, in order to achieve the business purpose of the
Company, the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, through which
the Group will be able to exercise full control over Jierui and
consolidate the financial results of Jierui into the accounts of
the Group, have been utilized to minimize the potential conflict
with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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Termination of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements

The Directors confirm that the Company will monitor the development
of the relevant PRC laws and regulations on the Foreign Ownership
Restriction and the Qualification Requirement and other relevant
restrictions on foreign investors and work closely with Jierui to take all
reasonable steps to comply with the other requirements or terminate
the Jierui Contractual Arrangements to the extent possible and
practicable under the relevant PRC laws and regulations.

In addition to monitoring the development of the relevant PRC laws
and regulations on the Qualification Requirement, the Company
is also minded to further develop its capabilities to provide higher
education services overseas in order to be prepared to satisfy
the Qualification Requirement when the relevant specific criteria
and guidance become available. The Group owns approximately
25.6% equity interest in Beacon International College PTE LTD. in
Singapore and is one of two members of Hong Kong Nang Yan
College of Higher Education Limited in Hong Kong. The Group
currently participates in the management of these two schools
mainly through its representatives who are appointed as directors or
governors of each school. As these schools are overseas schools of
higher education, which are in line with the principles set out in the
Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperation of Educational Institutions
and the Implementation Measures in relation to the status of a
foreign investor in a Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution,
the Directors believe such investment and involvement in overseas
educational institutions will be conducive to the Group’s satisfaction
of the Qualification Requirement when the relevant laws, regulation,
procedures and/or guidance are promulgated.
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Details of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements RESHZTHNFIE

The major provisions of the contracts in the Jierui Contractual &AL LTHRE LR T BIEE T -
Arrangements are summarized as follows:

(1) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B (1) BRXBEEHEB

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation agreement
entered into between Chongging Mengzhuo and Jierui
(the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
B”), Chongging Mengzhuo agreed to provide exclusive
technical services to Jierui, including but not limited to,
technical services, network support, business consulting,
market consulting, system maintenance and other services
necessary for the business of or as required by Jierui and
allowed under the PRC law.

Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B,
Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to charge Jierui each
financial year for a service fee equals to all the amount of
its net profit (after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes,
losses from the previous year (if required by the law)
and the statutory provident fund as required by law) for
the corresponding period. Chongqging Mengzhuo has the
right (but not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such
service fee by reference to, among others, the actual
services provided and the actual business operations and
needs of Jierui, provided that any adjusted amount shall
not cause any difficulties for the operations of both of
Chongging Mengzhuo and Jierui.
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(2) Equity Pledge Agreements B

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered into
by and among Chongqging Mengzhuo, Jierui and Shiji
Kuangao (the "Equity Pledge Agreement IB”), Jierui
agreed to pledge and grant the first priority security
interests over the entire equity interest of Shiji Kuangao
owned by Jierui together with all related rights thereto
to Chongging Mengzhuo as security for performance
the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and all direct,
indirect, consequential damages and foreseeable loss of
interest incurred by Chongging Mengzhuo as a result of
enforcement of the obligations of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao
under the Jierui Contractual Arrangements until all such
obligations are discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging
Mengzhuo or as required by PRC laws and regulations.

In addition, pursuant to the equity pledge agreement
entered into by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui,
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (the “Equity Pledge Agreement
IIB”, together with the Equity Pledge Agreement IB, the
“Equity Pledge Agreements B”), Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD
agreed to pledge and grant the first priority security
interests over the 100% equity interest of Jierui owned by
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD in aggregate together with all related
rights thereto to Chongqging Mengzhuo as security for
performance the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and all
direct, indirect, consequential damages and foreseeable
loss of interest incurred by Chongging Mengzhuo as a
result of enforcement of the obligations of Mr. Li, Mr. Li
JD and Jierui under the Jierui Contractual Arrangements
until all such obligations are discharged to the satisfaction
of Chongaing Mengzhuo or as required by PRC laws and
regulations.
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(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreements B

Pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement entered
into by and among Chongqging Mengzhuo, Jierui and
Shiji Kuangao (the “Exclusive Call Option Agreement
IB”), Jierui has irrevocably and unconditionally granted
Chongging Mengzhuo the right to, as and when permitted
by the applicable PRC laws and regulations during the
term of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, acquire all
or part of the 100% equity interest of Shiji Kuangao held
by Jierui at a consideration which is the lower of the
registered capital contribution by Jierui to Shiji Kuangao
and nominal consideration, or otherwise at the lowest
price permitted by the then applicable PRC laws and
regulations. In addition, pursuant to the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement IB, Jierui has irrevocably undertaken
that, subject to the PRC laws and regulations, they will
return to the Company any consideration they receive in
the event that the Company acquires the equity interest
in Shiji Kuangao when unwinding the Jierui Contractual
Arrangements.

In addition, pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement
entered into by and among Chongqging Mengzhuo,
Jierui, Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (the “Exclusive Call Option
Agreement IIB”, together with Exclusive Call Option
Agreement IB, the “Exclusive Call Option Agreements B”),
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD have irrevocably and unconditionally
granted Chongging Mengzhuo the right to, as and when
permitted by the applicable PRC laws and regulations
during the term of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements,
acquire all or part of the 100% equity interest of Jierui
together held by Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD for the lower of the
registered capital contribution by Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD
to Jierui and nominal consideration, or otherwise at the
lowest price permitted by the then applicable PRC laws
and regulations. In addition, pursuant to the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement 1IB, Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD have
irrevocably undertaken that, subject to the PRC laws
and regulations, they will return to the Company any
consideration they receive in the event that the Company
acquires the equity interest in Jierui when terminating the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements.
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(4) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements B and

Power of Attorneys B

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IB and Power
of Attorney IB

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement
executed by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui and
Shiji Kuangao (the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IB”), Jierui executed a power of attorney
in favour of Chongqging Mengzhuo (the “Power of
Attorney IB”) pursuant to which Jierui has irrevocably
and unconditionally authorized Chongging Mengzhuo to,
among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Jierui and to make decisions which
Jierui is entitled to make as the shareholder of Shiji
Kuangao on behalf of Jierui;

(i) exercise all its rights of shareholder and voting rights
in Shiji Kuangao as granted by the PRC law and the
articles and associations of Shiji Kuangao, including
but not limited to selling, transferring, pledging or
otherwise dealing in all or any of the equity interests in
Shiji Kuangao; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman, executive
director or manager of Shiji Kuangao in accordance
with its articles and associations, or nominate,
appoint or change the legal representative, chairman,
directors, supervisors, chief executive officer, manager
or other management level personnel of Shiji Kuangao.

Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to authorize any person
or entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such Directors to exercise the rights which Chongging
Mengzhuo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney IB.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IB, Jierui guarantees and undertakes that:

(i) in the event it receives any asset (including the equity
interest of Shiji Kuangao) in relation to the liquidation,
winding-up, dismissal or termination of Shiji Kuangao,
Jierui agrees to transfer at nil consideration or at
the lowest consideration as permitted by the then
applicable laws and regulations to Chongqging
Mengzhuo such asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Mengzhuo, it will
neither, directly or indirectly, participate or engage
in any business which is or may be in competition
with the business of Shiji Kuangao or its associated
companies, or be engaged by any entity which is
or may be in competition with the business of Shiji
Kuangao or its associated companies, or hold any
assets of such entity or hold more than 5% interest in
such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IB, any successor to Jierui shall hold the
respective equity interest in Shiji Kuangao subject to
conditions, requirements and obligations under the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IB.

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement 1B and
Power of Attorney IIB

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement
executed by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Mr. Li, Mr.
Li JD and Jierui (the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IIB”, together with the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IB, the “Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreements B”), Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD
executed a power of attorney in favour of Chongqging
Mengzhuo (the “Power of Attorney IIB”, together with
the Power of Attorney IB, the “Power of Attorneys B”)
pursuant to which Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD have irrevocably
and unconditionally authorized Chongging Mengzhuo to,
among other things:
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(iii)

act as the agent of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD to convene
and attend shareholder meetings of Jierui in
accordance with its articles and associations;

exercise all their rights of shareholders and voting
rights in Jierui as granted by the PRC law and its
articles and associations, including but not limited to
selling, transferring, pledging or otherwise dealing in
all or any of the equity interests in Jierui; and

serve as the legal representative, chairman, executive
director or manager of Jierui in accordance with its
articles and associations, or nominate, appoint or
change the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or other
management level personnel of Jierui.

Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to authorize any person
or entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such Directors to exercise the rights which Chongging
Mengzhuo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney I1B.

In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IIB, each of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD
guarantees and undertakes that:

(i)

in the event he receives any asset (including the
equity interest of Jierui) in relation to the liquidation,
winding-up, dismissal or termination of Jierui, each
of them agrees to transfer at nil consideration or
at the lowest consideration as permitted by the
then applicable laws and regulations to Chongging
Mengzhuo such asset; and
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)

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Mengzhuo,
neither of them will, directly or indirectly, participate
or engage in any business which is or may be
in competition with the business of Jierui or its
associated companies, or be engaged by any entity
which is or may be in competition with the business of
Jierui or its associated companies, or hold any assets
of such entity or hold more than 5% interest in such
entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement |IB, in the event of death, loss of capacity,
marriage, divorce or bankruptcy of Mr. Li and Mr. Li
JD, or other similar events affecting Mr. Li or Mr. Li JD
in exercising their respective shareholders’ rights of
Jierui, any successor to Mr. Li or Mr. Li JD shall hold the
respective equity interest in Jierui subject to conditions,
requirements and obligations under the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement IIB.

Spouse Undertakings B

Pursuant to the spouse undertakings (“Spouse
Undertakings B”) executed by Ms. Xin, the spouse of Mr.
Li JD, Ms. Xin has irrevocably undertaken that:

(a) she has full knowledge of and has consented to the
entering into of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements to
which Mr. Li JD is a party, and in particular, the equity
interest in Jierui owned by Mr. Li JD is not part of the
common assets of Mr. Li JD and herself, she is not
entitled to any rights attached to such equity interests
of Mr. Li JD in Jierui (including the rights arising from
the Jierui Contractual Arrangements), she shall not
engage in any activities interfering the performance of
the Jierui Contractual Arrangements (including but not
limited to claiming her entitlement to the equity interest
of Jierui owned by Mr. Li JD and any rights arising
from the Jierui Contractual Arrangements);

(5
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(b) she has not, is not and shall not in the future
participate in the operation and management in
relation to Jierui and claim any interest in relation to
the equity interest and assets of Jierui;

(c) in the event she receives all or part of the equity
interest of Jierui for any reason, she agrees to be a
party to the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and be
bound by the relevant restrictions as set out in the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements and perform any act
and execute all necessary documents in order to give
effect to such restrictions.

Further information about the Jierui Contractual
Arrangements

Authorization to obtain assets of Jierui

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
IIB and the Power of Attorney 1B, Chongging Mengzhuo has
been authorized to exercise all rights of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD as
the sole shareholders of Jierui under applicable laws and the
articles of association of Jierui, including but not limited to the
right to dividends and right to deal with the assets of Jierui. It
is also the guarantee and undertaking that, in the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement [IB, in the event it receives
any asset (including the equity interest of Jierui) in relation to
the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal or termination of Jierui,
Jierui agrees to transfer at nil consideration or at the lowest
consideration as permitted by the then applicable laws and
regulations to Chongging Mengzhuo such asset.
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Dispute resolution

Pursuant to the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, any dispute
arising from the validity, interpretation and performance of the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements between the parties thereto
should first be resolved through negotiation. If the parties
are unable to settle the dispute within 30 days, any party
may submit the said dispute to the Chongqging Arbitration
Commission with a view to resolving the dispute through
arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules thereof.
The results of the arbitration shall be final and binding on all
relevant parties. The arbitral commission shall have the right to
award remedies over the equity interest and property interest
and other assets of Jierui, injunctive relief (for the conduct
of business or to compel the transfer of assets) or order the
winding up of Jierui (the “Arbitral Award Provisions”).

The Jierui Contractual Arrangements also provide that pending
formation of the arbitral tribunal or in appropriate cases, the
courts of Hong Kong, the Company’s place of incorporation (the
Cayman Islands), Jierui's place of establishment (the PRC), the
jurisdiction where the principal assets of Chongging Mengzhuo
or Jierui are located (the PRC) have the power to grant interim
remedies in support of the arbitration (the “Interim Remedies
Provisions”).

However, as advised by the PRC Legal Advisors, according
to the PRC laws and regulations, the arbitral tribunal normally
would not grant such kind of remedies or injunctive relief or
winding up order of such PRC operational entities as Jierui
under the PRC laws and regulations. For instance, the arbitral
commission has no authority to grant such injunctive relief, nor
will it be able to order the winding up of the PRC operational
entities pursuant to existing PRC laws and regulations. In
addition, interim remedies or enforcement order granted by
overseas courts such as Hong Kong and Cayman Islands may
not be recognizable or enforceable in China.
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Conflict of interests

The Company confirms that appropriate arrangements have
been made to address the potential conflict of interests
between Jierui and the Group. In particular, the undertakings
executed by Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD in favour of Chongqging
Mengzhuo provide that each of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD will neither,
directly or indirectly, participate or engage in any business
which is or may be in competition with the business of Jierui or
its associated company, or acquire or hold any such business,
nor carry on any activities which may lead to any conflict of
interest between itself and Chongging Mengzhuo. Pursuant to
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement |IB and the Power
of Attorney 1IB, Jierui guarantees and undertakes that the
exercise of the rights as granted to Chongging Mengzhuo or
as authorized by Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD shall not give rise to any
conflict of interests.

Legality and enforceability of the Jierui Contractual
Arrangements

The PRC Legal Advisors confirmed that (i) the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements comply with the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC applicable to Jierui and the respective
articles of association of Jierui and Chongging Mengzhuo; and
(ii) the Jierui Contractual Arrangements would not be deemed
as concealing Jierui illegal intentions with a lawful form and
void under the PRC Contract Law ((#FZEARKXFIEE FE)).

In addition, appropriate arrangements have been made to
protect the Company’s interests in the event of winding up
or liguidation of Jierui to avoid any practical difficulties in
enforcing the Jierui Contractual Arrangements.
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As advised by the PRC Legal Advisors, other than the Arbitral
Award Provisions and the Interim Remedies Provisions, which
may not be enforced under the relevant laws of the PRC,
all the contractual rights and obligations under the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements are enforceable under PRC laws.
Based on the legal opinion from the PRC Legal Advisors, the
Directors believe that, other than the Arbitral Award Provisions
and the Interim Remedies Provisions, each of the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements which confers significant control and
economic benefits from Jeirui or the Jierui Operating Entities to
Chongging Mengzhuo is enforceable under the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC.

Significance and financial contributions of the Jierui
Operating Entities to the Group

Pursuant to the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, the Group
obtains control over and derives the economic benefits from
the Jierui Operating Entities. The table below sets out the
financial contribution of the Jierui Operating Entities to the
Group:
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Significances and financial contribution to the Group

HEAKBENEEM R P B E R

Revenue
Wz

For the year ended
31 December 2019

B Z£2019512A31H
LLFE

Significances and financial
contribution to the Group

HASENEENENTEER

3.5%

Revenue and assets involved in Jierui Contractual
Arrangements

For the year ended
31 December 2019

B E2019F12A31H
IEFE

35,380

Jierui Operating Entities
HELEER

For the year ended
31 December 2019

HZ£2019%F12A31H

Net Profit
AR

Total Assets
As of
31 December 2019

LLEE R20196F12A31H

1.1% 2.7%

RECHZHMSREREE

Assets

BE

RMB’000
AR®T T

As at

31 December 2019

Revenue
Wz
RMB’000
AR®T

R201912A31H
191,500

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

91



92

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEBRE(E)

Consolidation of financial results

Based on the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and the legal
opinion provided by the PRC Legal Advisors, the Directors
are of the view that the Jierui Contractual Arrangements have
allowed the Company to consolidate the financial results of
the Jierui Operating Entities under the prevailing accounting
principles.

Risks involved in the Jierui Contractual Arrangements

As the primary beneficiary of Jierui, the Group is exposed to
the business risks and financial risks faced by Jierui.

There is no assurance that Jierui will generate any profit which can
be paid to the Group through the Jierui Contractual Arrangements

There is no assurance that Jierui will generate any profit which
can be paid to the Group through the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement B and the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IIB. Any profit or loss of Jierui (net of
intra-group transactions) will be reflected in the consolidated
financial results of the Group.

A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Jierui to the Group under the
Exclusive Call Option Agreements B

The exercise of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement B is
subject to applicable laws and regulations of the PRC. There is
no assurance that the acquisition of the equity interest in Jierui
held by Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD under the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement B will be permitted in the future, or whether such
acquisition will incur any costs and expenses to the Group in
addition to the consideration stipulated under the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement II1B. Due to these limitations, the transfer
of equity interest in Shiji Kuangao pursuant to the exercise of
the call option under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement |IB
may still be subject to substantial costs.

There is no assurance that the Jierui Contractual Arrangements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory requirements
in the PRC and the PRC government may determine that the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements do not comply with applicable
regulations
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The PRC Legal Advisors is of the opinion that as at the date
of this annual report, the execution, delivery and performance
of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements by each of the parties
thereto, is in compliance with (i) the provisions under the
articles of association of such party and (ii) any applicable
PRC laws and regulations. However, the interpretation and
implementation of the laws and regulations concerning the
foreign investment in the PRC, and their application to and
effect on the legality, binding effect and enforceability of
contracts, are subject to the discretion of competent PRC
legislative, administrative and judicial authorities. In particular,
there is no assurance that PRC legislative, administrative
or judicial authorities will not adopt a different or contrary
interpretation or view against view of the Company and its
legal advisors in respect of the legality, binding effect and
enforceability of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, and may
determine that the contracts do not comply with applicable
regulations.

The Jierui Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
as direct ownership in providing control over Jierui

Further, the Jierui Contractual Arrangements may not provide
control over Jierui as effective as direct ownership; Mr. Li, Mr,
Li JD may have potential conflicts of interest with the Company;
and the Jierui Contractual Arrangements may be subject
to scrutiny of the tax authorities and additional tax may be
imposed on the Group.

Insurance

We believe that there are limited business insurance products
available in the market, and to the best knowledge of our
Directors, no insurance products specifically designed
for protecting the risks relating to the Jierui Contractual
Arrangements are available in the PRC market. Further, it is not
compulsory for Jierui to maintain an insurance policy to cover
risks relating to the Jierui Contractual Arrangements under the
applicable PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, the Group
has not purchased any insurance to cover the above risks.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEBRE(E)

Internal control

The Company has put in place effective internal controls over
Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui and the Jierui Operating Entities
to safeguard its assets held through the Jierui Contractual
Arrangements. As a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Chongging Mengzhuo is subject to all the internal control
process and procedures applicable to the Group.

The operations of Jierui and the Jierui Operating Entities are
exclusively controlled by Chongging Mengzhuo through the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements and the Group has applied
its internal control processes and procedures to Jierui and
the Jierui Operating Entities. In particular, pursuant to the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements, (i) Chongging Mengzhuo
has the right to nominate, appoint or terminate, the legal
representatives, chairman, directors, supervisors, chief
executive officer, manager and other senior management
members of Jierui and the Jierui Operating Entities; (ii) without
the prior consent of Chongqging Mengzhuo, Jierui and the
Jierui Operating Entities is not allowed to dispose of, transfer,
pledge or in any way deal with, any of their respective assets
(except, within the ordinary course of business, with a value
of RMB1,000,000 or less), business, operation power and/or
revenue.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)

A EPZ H

ARRIEHEERZ S  REQARNMERLE
%,a TRRE BN RS - AREH R B
BRALHHANEE - FRARANEE
MEQR  BEEZSIHNRAAEERNASE
By R B R AR AR o

HIN} ‘Uﬂlh}

BRAMRELEERNEZCHEERE
ﬁﬂﬁ’%éé WP EIES - WAAREED
= T%%IJE’Uuﬁzﬂ&fﬁ%ﬁ/\%%“
3 RS - FAIR - REABREOLR
BHRE  ZEIRULEHE
%iﬁﬁ‘zﬁ’]&mﬁ%)\ CER
CEEERWTE  REMEMER
EEAE (NVAEBEEZEENEELERE
HERFNEELEERTFRE 8B&
BRI NEAPAREEAESENEE

oy
-F-

(EREEBBIEF - F@}\E‘ﬁ%ﬁ 000,000
TCEA FNEIBRON) ~ 275 - BEER &5
YA o



Other information

Apart from Shiji Kuangao, Jierui does not generate revenue
from any other subsidiaries of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, Chongging Mengzhuo has
not encountered any interference or encumbrance from any
governing bodies in operating its business through Jierui or
Shiji Kuangao under the Jierui Contractual Arrangements.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied in
full with the guidance letter HKEx-GL77-14 issued by the
Stock Exchange in relation to listed issuers using contractual
arrangements for their business in respect of the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements.

For details of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 12 March 2018,
13 April 2018 and 2 May 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARE, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”), Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares

EEREFRITRAEBRRSG - ABRORE
BETREENERIAR

R2019F12A31H * ARREENEBT
BABRARRIZEEBEBR(EEREE
ERIESTIERZAFRHAEGKRI((BSZRIE
&G0 EXVED) RIAR D - BB R EEE
P BREBE S KRGO FE352(F A0 8
REARARFEENE LM SBE EHEST
ANEFETESFRINZETA([EEST
Al ) ZBXE AR B KB R TRz sk B 1A
B

vtesl: ok sy}

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company as at

31 December 2019

Nature of Number of 201912831 H
Name of Director interest shares held Position RARQ B W R
Expns EEME HEROHE BR/ KR BAOBAE
Mr. Li Xuechun Mete) Beneficial owner 3,000,000,000 Long 74.67%
FEELEWD EnEEA )
Ms. Zhang Weiping Beneficial owner 30,000,000 Long 0.75%
KETRL EREBA )
Mr. Zuo Yichen Beneficial owner 8,000,000 Long 0.20%
FRERE BEREAA e
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung Beneficial owner 8,000,000 Long 0.20%
MREESLE EnBEEA )
Ms. Li Yanping Beneficial Owner 1,000,000 Long 0.02%
FREF L+ EREBA )

Note: Mr. Li holds 90% of the issued share capital of Minsheng Group
Company Limited (formerly known as Honest Cheer Investments
Limited) (“Minsheng Group”) and is its sole director and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Minsheng Group. Ms. Li
Ning, daughter of Mr. Li, holds the remaining 10% of the issued share
capital of Minsheng Group.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, neither the
chief executive nor any of the Directors of the Company had
or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, so far as is known to any Directors
or chief executive of the Company, the following persons
(other than Director or chief executive of the Company) or
corporations who had interest or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were
as follows:
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company as at

31 December 2019

Nature of Number of M2019F12831H

Name of Shareholder interest shares held Position RARD B WA
RRER BFERGEE BR/ KR BABEDE
Minsheng Group (formerly known Beneficial owner 3,000,000,000 Long 74.67%

as Honest Cheer Investments EnHEAA )

Limited)
RAESHE (AR RERRAR)
City Legend International Limited Beneficial owner 332,000,000 Long 8.26%
ZEERARAR ERBEBA we
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EESHE(8)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company are not
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company which would require to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, at no time during the year 2019 were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective
spouses or children under 18 years of age, or were any such
rights exercised by any of them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION

Each of our executive Directors (other than Mr. Lam Ngai
Lung) has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 1
August 2016 and Mr. Lam Ngai Lung has entered into a
service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term
of three years commencing from 22 May 2016. The term of
each of the service contracts between the Company and the
executive Directors will be automatically renewed for a further
term of three years upon the expiration of the initial term, until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other (or otherwise in accordance
with the terms of the relevant service contract).
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Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed
term of one year commencing from the Listing Date and the
term of each of these service contracts will be automatically
renewed for a further term of one year after the expiration of
the initial term, until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing by served by either party on the other (or
otherwise in accordance with the terms of the relevant service
contract).

Mr. Lin Kaihua and Ms. Li Yanping have been appointed as
non-executive Directors with effect from 28 June 2017. Each of
them has entered into an appointment letter with the Company
for an initial term of one year, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company and the term of each of the appointment may
be renewed for a further term of one year by mutual agreement
between the above respective director and the Company upon
expiration of the initial term and each renewed term.

In accordance with article 84 (1) of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Lam Ngai Lung, Mr. Lin Kaihua and Mr.
Yu Huangcheng will retire from the Board by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEBRE(E)

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

As set out in the Prospectus, the Company would adopt,
among others, the following measures to avoid any conflict of
interests arising from competing business and to safeguard the
interests of the Shareholders: (i) the Company would disclose
decisions on matters reviewed by the independent non-
executive Directors relating to compliance and enforcement of
the non-competition undertaking of the controlling Shareholders
in the annual reports of the Company; and (ii) the controlling
Shareholders would make an annual declaration on compliance
with their undertaking under the Deed of Non-competition in
the annual report of the Company.

The Company confirms that there were no conflicts of interests
between the controlling Shareholders and the Group arising
from any competing business during the period from 1 January
2019 to 31 December 2019 (both dates inclusive) (the “Relevant
Period”).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance of the Deed of Non-competition and
confirmed that nothing has come to their attention that the
controlling Shareholders have breached any undertaking or
provisions under the Deed of Non-competition during the
Relevant Period.

The controlling Shareholders have also confirmed that they
have complied with their undertaking under the Deed of Non-
competition during the Relevant Period and have made an
annual declaration on such compliance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed for the year ended 31
December 2019 and up to the date of this annual report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of principal terms of the share
option scheme (the “Shares Option Scheme”) conditionally
approved by a resolution of our sole shareholder passed on
2 March 2017 and adopted by a resolution of the Board on
2 March 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The terms of the Share
Option Scheme are in compliance with the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the
Eligible Persons (as defined in the following paragraph) an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and
help motivate them to optimize their future contributions
to the Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain
on-going relationships with such Eligible Persons who
are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will
be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of
the Group, and additionally in the case of Executives (as
defined below), to enable the Group to attract and retain
individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward
them for their past contributions.

2. Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer options
(“Options”) to subscribe for such number of shares in
accordance with the terms set out in the Share Option
Scheme to:

(a) any executive director of, manager of, or other
employee holding an executive, managerial,
supervisory or similar position in any member of the
Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any
full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the
time being seconded to work full-time or part-time for
any member of the Group (“Employee”);

(b) a director or proposed director (including an independent
non-executive director) of any member of the Group;

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EE2HRE(E)

BRETE

AT R M —IRER201743 A2 @R 8
REREBRHMERBESEEN2017F3A
28 ([ 54k B 8 ) 898 35 52 P s 4n i B AR A
TEI((BRETE DO EZ RIS - BRI
TEETEIRMER & LR RIS 17 EMIES -

1. BHY

BREEEEARERAL(ERR
TR RERARRIGEA BB #
g WHBRERTBRYAEEME
HEER - &SRR RERENERS
TEER - DA S| MR EE S IA LAl 0y S A
B RUASBNERE  IBRAKI
MEDNBEZR, LHEEBBEFMRRHE
BRHRAEENFRE  BRIKINZA
BRATHOAIERE  RIMITHAR
(EBRANXOME » IMEBAEERS
REBEHREEAABETENALTRS
SRR FBENERG T 28 -

2. HBHEAL

EFEe R 2 RRNBREBRESIMH
EFRAIAT AR 2R (TERE])
AR EA REEE rRy -

(a) AEBE{EAIAE R RHEARTT
EFx KE REETH B
B EEREUBUNEMESR
(TTBRAER]D - Ef{EE AE -
TMER=RBESR  AEHF
WARE A R BE MR B AR FEE
EREFBTIENAL(RE]):

(b) AEBEMAKERARIMNEF LK
BEFE(BRBUIFNTES):

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3}

101



102

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEBRE(E)

(c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the
Group;

(d) a supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group;

(e) a customer, consultant, business or joint venture
partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or representative
of any member of the Group;

(f) a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of the Group;

(g) an associate of any of the persons referred to in
paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and

(h) any person involved in the business affairs of
the Company whom the Board determines to be
appropriate to participate in the Share Options
Scheme (the persons referred above are the “Eligible
Persons”).

3. Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(such 10% limit representing 400,000,000 shares excluding
shares which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of
the Over-allotment Option granted by the Company) (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit") provided that:
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(a)

the Company may at any time as our Board may think
fit seek approval from Shareholders of the Company
to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit, save that the
maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company shall not exceed 10% of shares of
the Company in issue as at the date of approval by
the Shareholders of the Company in general meeting
where the Scheme Mandate Limit is refreshed. Options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme or any other schemes of the Company) shall
not be counted for the purposes of calculating the
Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed. The Company
shall send to Shareholders of the Company a circular
containing the details and information required under
the Listing Rules;

the Company may seek separate approval from the
Shareholders of the Company in general meeting for
granting Options beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit,
provided that the Options in excess of the Scheme
Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible Person
specified by the Company before such approval is
obtained. The Company should issue a circular to the
Shareholders of the Company containing the details
and information required under the Listing Rules; and

the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group shall not exceed
30% of the Company’s issued share capital from time
to time. No Options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company if this will result in such limit being
exceeded.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Contfinued)

(a)

ESZRS(E)

ARARAIRNEFER/EEEEE
RS RARDBBRRAAE - AEH
AHEIRE LR - ERTERERE
P #E 5 &) M AN AT fa] Eo A 51 2
1% 4% B PR A B R T AJ B E
THREHRNEE - TEEBLX
NAIBRRNBRAE L EE
AEEELEREAARNQADET
B An #910% © sLat B & B ¥ et
EIXELRME - BEREBBK
Rt 8l R AR R H b 5t 811X
H # A b (B IR AR AR B O =1 8
sk 7R A I fa] E b EF & &Y R FR M
BHEARITE  BE#H DR
EATERERE) TEAEEA -
RABARANRRBR T H— 0
HELTRAURENFHBREHR
H3E8 B

RRARAIRBERAE LSRAR
AR Z1THER H B R 81
fEERBERSRE RS AR
MERT - BT IR LR BB
BEAETARREENGER
AL ARBARAARRBBRRET
TH—EA LMRARENFS
KERHEEL - &

AITEREERES SR AKHE
EEMATE 2R EERERITRE
MEHEREMAIEETHNRS
B A - NSEBARRNE
B 17 IR A B930% © fid 1R 15 BB
P #E 5 &) B 7 R A A H At B A
e REMNEREBL AR L
R BIPSRE Ll st 3R B E
(TR A A -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3}

103



104

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEBRE(E)

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Option may be granted to any one person such
that the total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of Options granted and to be granted
to that person in any 12-month period exceeds 1% of
the Company’s issued share capital from time to time.
Where any further grant of Options to such an Eligible
Person would result in shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all Options granted and to be granted
to such Eligible Person (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of our Shares in issue, such further
grant shall be separately approved by the Shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with such Eligible Person
and his close associates (or his associates if such Eligible
Person is a connected person) abstaining from voting. The
Company shall send a circular to the Shareholders of the
Company disclosing the identity of the Eligible Person,
the number and terms of the Options to be granted (and
Options previously granted) to such Eligible Person, and
containing the details and information required under
the Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the
subscription price) of the Options to be granted to such
Eligible Person must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders of the Company and the date of the Board
meeting proposing such grant shall be taken as the offer
date for the purposes of calculating the subscription price
of those Options.

Offer and grant of Options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the
Board shall be entitled at any time within 10 years from
the Adoption Date to offer the grant of an Option to any
Eligible Person as the Board may in its absolute discretion
select to subscribe at the subscription price for such
number of shares as the Board may (subject to the terms
of the Share Option Scheme) determine (provided the
same shall be a board lot for dealing in the shares on the
Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof).
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Granting Options to connected persons

Subject to the terms in the Share Option Scheme, only
insofar as and for so long as the Listing Rules require,
where any offer of an Option is proposed to be made to a
director, chief executive or a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of their
respective associates, such offer must first be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company
(excluding the independent non-executive Director who or
whose associates is the grantee of an Option).

Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the securities issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all Options already
granted and to be granted (including Options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant
class of securities in issue; and

(b) (where the securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange), having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the securities at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million, such further grant
of Options must be approved by the Shareholders of
the Company (voting by way of a poll). The Company
shall send a circular to the Shareholders containing
the information required under the Listing Rules.
The grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting in
favor at such general meeting.

Approval from the Shareholders is required for any change
in the terms of Options granted to a participant who is a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates. The grantee, his associates and all core
connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.
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Restriction on the time of grant of Options

The Board shall not grant any Option under the Share
Option Scheme after inside information has come to
its knowledge until such inside information has been
announced pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. In particular, no Option shall be granted during the
period commencing one month immediately preceding the
earlier of the date of the Board meeting (as such date is
first notified to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the
Listing Rules) for the approval of the Company’s results for
any year, half-year, quarterly or any other interim period
(whether or not required under the Listing Rules) and the
deadline for the Company to publish an announcement
of its results for any year, half-year, quarterly or any
other interim period (whether or not required under the
Listing Rules), and ending on the date of the results
announcements.

Minimum holding period, vesting and performance
target

Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board
may in its absolute discretion when offering the grant of
an Option impose any conditions, restrictions or limitations
in relation thereto in addition to those set forth in the
Share Option Scheme as the Board may think fit (to be
stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant of
the Option) including (without prejudice to the generality
of the foregoing) qualifying and/or continuing eligibility
criteria, conditions, restrictions or limitations relating to the
achievement of performance, operating or financial targets
by the Company and/or the grantee, the satisfactory
performance or maintenance by the grantee of certain
conditions or obligations or the time or period before the
right to exercise the Option in respect of any of the shares
shall vest provided that such terms or conditions shall not
be inconsistent with any other terms or conditions of the
Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt, subject
to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine
as aforesaid (including such terms and conditions in
relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no
minimum period for which an Option must be held before
it can be exercised and no performance target which need
to be achieved by the grantee before the Option can be
exercised.
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10.

Amount payable for Options and offer period

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Person concerned for a period
of 28 days from the offer date provided that no such grant
of an Option may be accepted after the expiry of the
effective period of the Share Option Scheme. An Option
shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
by the Eligible Person and to have taken effect when the
duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
of the Option duly signed by the grantee together with a
remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company on or before the date upon which an offer of an
Option must be accepted by the relevant Eligible Person,
being a date no later than 28 days after the offer date
(the “Acceptance Date”). Such remittance shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

Any offer of the grant of an Option may be accepted in
respect of less than the number of shares in respect of
which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect
of board lots for dealing in shares on the Stock Exchange
or an integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly
stated in the duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance
of the offer of the Option. To the extent that the offer of
the grant of an Option is not accepted by the Acceptance
Date, it will be deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option
shall be such price as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant
Option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the
offer of the grant of the Option) but the subscription price
shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a share;
(b) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
and

9.

10.
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(c)

the average closing price of a share as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
5 Business Days (as defined in the Listing Rules)
immediately preceding the offer date.

11. Exercise of Option

(a)

An Option shall be exercised in whole or in part (but
if in part only, in respect of a board lot or any integral
multiple thereof) within the Option period in the
manner as set out in this Share Option Scheme by the
grantee (or his or her legal personal representative(s))
by giving notice in writing to the Company stating
that the Option is thereby exercised and specifying
the number of shares in respect of which it is
exercised. Each such notice must be accompanied
by a remittance for the full amount of the aggregate
subscription price for the shares in respect of which
the notice is given. Within 28 days after receipt of the
notice and, where appropriate, receipt of a certificate
from our auditors pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme, the Company shall accordingly allot and
issue the relevant number of shares to the grantee (or
his or her legal personal representative(s)) credited as
fully paid with effect from (but excluding) the relevant
exercise date and issue to the grantee (or his or her
legal personal representative(s)) share certificate(s) in
respect of the shares so allotted.

The exercise of any Option may be subject to a
vesting schedule to be determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion, which shall be specified in the
offer letter.

The exercise of any Option shall be subject to
the members of the Company in general meeting
approving any necessary increase in the authorised
share capital of the Company.
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(d) Subject as hereinafter provided and subject to the
terms and conditions upon which the Option was
granted, an Option may be exercised by the Grantee
at any time during the Option Period, provided that:

(i)

in the event that the grantee dies or becomes
permanently disabled before exercising an Option
(or exercising it in full) and none of the events
for termination of employment or engagement
pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme
exists with respect to such grantee, he or she (or
his or her legal representative(s)) may exercise
the Option up to the grantee’s entitlement
immediately prior to the death or permanently
disability (to the extent not already exercised)
within a period of 12 months following his or her
death or permanent disability or such longer
period as the Board may determine;

in the event that the grantee ceases to be an
Executive for any reason (including his or her
employing company ceasing to be a member of
the Group) other than his or her death, permanent
disability, retirement pursuant to such retirement
scheme applicable to the Group at the relevant
time or the transfer of his or her employment to
an affiliate company or the termination of his or
her employment with the relevant member of the
Group by resignation or culpable termination,
the Option (to the extent not already exercised)
shall lapse on the date of cessation of such
employment and not be exercisable unless the
Board otherwise determines in which event the
Option (or such remaining part thereof) shall be
exercisable within such period as the Board may
in its absolute discretion determine following the
date of such cessation;

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Contfinued)

ESZRS(E)

(d) #R¥E TSPl B e B AR 3 M 15

b7

BHORET  ARATR

R IR v B BE A 1T (R B AR - I
AR TEE

(i)

(i)

i AR AR AT E(H 2 BT
150) B AR A1 & B SIOK A M5
REZABRABREZLERER
RERT IR AT DI A& LB E 3
RIESM - ARA(KEEA
BEREAN)ATRE H gk
AMRKEEF12[EALE
FerEBEEMNERBEAA
TR EEARAFHHKA
MK Z A AR ARG OB
Pt (AR RTTEE BR)

BRARAT B KAME
R REBEBRRASEENK
T2 A B B R NS B
EX: ) EUNCIEAR 3 e 904
FITRIEMERLEEAEEA
R ERRMNERRERERIN
EREARTMRA(BEES
BABATHARAEBKER
M ABRITHRAR @ BK
BOARRITEEBR)HR
RIEZEBHRBRETAT
% BRIFE BITREHRE
BB I T B B i (B L T 7
) AR BERK L BHRNE

SERENBEETNAEHEB
FRATTHRE

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3}

109



10

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEBRE(E)

(iiiy if a general offer is made to all holders of
shares and such offer becomes or is declared
unconditional (in the case of a takeover offer)
or is approved by the requisite majorities at
the relevant meetings of the Shareholders
of the Company (in the case of a scheme of
arrangement), the grantee shall be entitled to
exercise the Option (to the extent not already
exercised) at any time (in the case of a takeover
offer) within one month after the date on which
the offer becomes or is declared unconditional or
(in the case of a scheme of arrangement) prior
to such time and date as shall be notified by the

Company;

(iv) if a compromise or arrangement between the
Company and its members or creditors is
proposed for the purposes of or in connection
with a scheme for the reconstruction of the
Company or its amalgamation with any other
company, the Company shall give notice thereof
to the grantees who have Options unexercised
at the same time as it dispatches notices to all
members or creditors of the Company summoning
the meeting to consider such a compromise or
arrangement and thereupon each grantee (or his
or her legal representatives or receiver) may until

the expiry of the earlier of:

(1) the Option period;

(2) the period of two months from the date of

such notice; or

(8) the date on which such compromise or
arrangement is sanctioned by the court,
exercise in whole or in part his or her Option.
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(v) in the event a notice is given by the Company to
its members to convene a general meeting for
the purposes of considering, and if thought fit,
approving a resolution to voluntarily wind-up the
Company, the Company shall on the same date
as or soon after it dispatches such notice to each
member of the Company give notice thereof to
all grantees and thereupon, each grantee (or his
or her legal personal representative(s)) shall be
entitled to exercise all or any of his or her options
at any time not later than two Business Days (as
defined in the Listing Rules) prior to the proposed
general meeting of the Company by giving notice
in writing to the Company, accompanied by a
remittance for the full amount of the aggregate
subscription price for the shares in respect of
which the notice is given whereupon the Company
shall as soon as possible and, in any event, no
later than the business day (as defined in the
Listing Rules) immediately prior to the date of the
proposed general meeting referred to above, allot
the relevant Shares to the grantee credited as
fully paid.

12. Life of Share Option Scheme

Subject to the terms of this Share Option Scheme, the
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the date on which it becomes unconditional,
after which no further options will be granted or offered but
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force and effect in all other respects. All Options granted
prior to such expiry and not then exercised shall continue
to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme. As at 31 December
2019, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme was
approximately 7 years and 3 months.
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13. Lapse of Share Option

An Option shall lapse automatically and not be exercisable,
to the extent not already exercised, on the earliest of:

(a) the expiry of the Option period;

(b) the expiry of any of the period referred to paragraphs
related to exercise of the Option;

(c) subject to the terms of the period mentioned in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme — 11.
Exercise of Option” in this section, the date of the
commencement of the winding-up of the Company;

(d) there is an unsatisfied judgement, order or award
outstanding against the grantee or the Board has
reason to believe that the grantee is unable to pay or
to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay
his/her/its debts;

(e) there are circumstances which entitle any person
to take any action, appoint any person, commence
proceedings or obtain any order of the type mentioned
in this Share Option Scheme with respect to the
exercise of the Option;

(f) a bankruptcy order has been made against any
director or shareholder of the grantee (being a
corporation) in any jurisdiction.

No compensation shall be payable upon the lapse of
any Option, provided that the Board shall be entitled in
its discretion to pay such compensation to the grantee
in such manner as it may consider appropriate in any
particular case.
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14. Adjustment

In the event of any alteration to the capital structure of the
Company while any Option remains exercisable, whether
by way of capitalization of profits or reserves, right issue,
consolidations, reclassification, reconstruction, sub-division
or reduction of the share capital of the Company, the
Board may, if it considers the same to be appropriate,
direct that adjustments be made to:

(a) the maximum number of shares subject to the Share
Option Scheme; and/or

(b) the aggregate number of shares subject to the Option
so far as unexercised; and/or

(c) the subscription price of each outstanding Option.

Where the Board determines that such adjustments
are appropriate (other than an adjustment arising from
a capitalization issue), the auditors appointed by the
Company shall certify in writing to the Board that any
such adjustments are in their opinion fair and reasonable,
provided that:

(a) any such adjustments shall give the Eligible Persons
the same proportion of equity capital as they
were previously entitled to. In respect of any such
adjustments, other than any made on a capitalization
issue, the auditors shall confirm to the Board in writing
that the adjustments satisfy this requirement;

(b) any such adjustments shall be made on the basis
that the aggregate subscription price payable by the
grantee on the full exercise of any Option shall remain
as nearly as practicable same as (but shall not be
greater than) it was before such event;

(c) no such adjustments shall be made the effect of which
would be to enable a share to be issued at less than
its nominal value;

14.
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15.

(d) any such adjustments shall be made to in accordance
with the provisions as stipulated under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules and supplementary guidance on the
interpretation of the Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange from time to time; and

(e) the issue of securities as consideration in a transaction
shall not be regarded as a circumstance requiring any
such adjustments.

Cancellation of Options not exercised

The Board shall be entitled for the following causes to
cancel any Option in whole or in part by giving notice in
writing to the grantee stating that such Option is thereby
cancelled with effect from the date specified in such notice
(the “Cancellation Date”):

(a) the grantee commits or permits or attempts to commit
or permit a breach of restriction on transferability of
Option or any terms or conditions attached to the
grant of the Option;

(b) the grantee makes a written request to the Board for
the Option to be cancelled; or

(c) if the grantee has, in the opinion of the Board,
conducted himself in any manner whatsoever to
the detriment of or prejudicial to the interests of the
Company or its subsidiary.

The Option shall be deemed to have been cancelled with
effect from the Cancellation Date in respect of any part
of the Option which has not been exercised as at the
Cancellation Date. No compensation shall be payable
upon any such cancellation, provided that the Board shall
be entitled in its discretion to pay such compensation to
the grantee in such manner as it may consider appropriate
in any particular case.
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16.

17.

Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option
will be subject to all the provisions of the Articles of
Association and the laws of the Cayman Islands from time
to time and shall rank pari passu in all respects with the
then existing fully paid Shares in issue commencing from
(i) the allotment date or, (ii) if that date falls on a day when
the register of members of the Company is closed, the
first date of the re-opening of the register of members.
Accordingly, it will entitle the holders to participate in all
dividends or other distributions paid or made on or after
(i) the allotment date or, (ii) if that date falls on a day when
the register of members of the Company is closed, the first
day of the re-opening of the register of members, other
than any dividend or other distribution previously declared
or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the
record date therefore shall be before the allotment date.

Share issued upon the exercise of an Option shall not
carry rights until the registration of the grantee (or any
other person) as the holder thereof.

Termination

The Company may by resolution in general meeting at
any time terminate the operation of the Share Option
Scheme. Upon termination of the Share Option Scheme
as aforesaid, no further Options shall be offered but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force and effect in all other respects. All Options granted
prior to such termination and not then exercised shall
continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

16.

17.
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18.

19.

Transferability

The Option shall be personal to the grantee and shall
not be assignable and no grantee shall in any way sell,
transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest (legal or beneficial) in favor of any third party over
or in relation to any Option or attempt to do so (save that
the grantee may nominate a nominee in whose name the
Shares issued pursuant to the Share Option Scheme may
be registered). Any breach of the foregoing shall entitle the
Company to cancel any outstanding Option or part thereof
granted to such grantee.

Alteration of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any respect
by a resolution of the Board except that the following shall
not be carried out except with the prior sanction of an
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders of the Company in
general meeting:

(a) any material alteration to its terms and conditions or
any change to the terms of Options granted (except
where the alterations take effect under the existing
terms of the Share Option Scheme);

(b) any alteration to the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme in relation to the matters set out in Rule 17.03
of the Listing Rules to the advantage of grantee;

(c) any change to the authority of the Board or any
person or committee delegated by the Board pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme to administer the day-to-
day running of the Scheme; and

(d) any alteration to the aforesaid alternation provisions.
provided always that the amended terms of the Share

Option Scheme shall comply with the applicable
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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20. Conditions of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall come into effect on the
date on which the following conditions are fulfilled:

(a)

(b)

the approval of the Shareholders for the adoption of
the Share Option Scheme;

the approval of the Stock Exchange for the listing of
and permission to deal in, a maximum of 400,000,000
shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the
exercise of the Share Option Scheme in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme;

the commencement of dealing in the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange; and

the obligations of the underwriters under the
Underwriting Agreement becoming unconditional and
not being terminated in accordance with the terms
thereof or otherwise.

If the permission referred to in paragraph (b) above is not
granted within two calendar months after the Adoption
Date:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the Share Option Scheme will forthwith terminate;

any Option granted or agreed to be granted pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme and any offer of such a
grant shall be of no effect;

no person shall be entitled to any rights or benefits or
be under any obligations under or in respect of the
Share Option Scheme or any Option; and

the Board may further discuss and devise another
share option scheme that is applicable to a private
company for adoption by our Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

ExeRE(E)

OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER THE SCHEME BB EIR NNV ERE

Details of the Options granted and outstanding for the year #ZE2019F12A318 It EE2HEH &Kk
ended 31 December 2019, are as follows: TERERESIENT

Number of Options granted: ERULBREZE :

Number of ordinary shares subject to share options granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

REERARYERRRENBRENBREY RNEERAAE

Date of grant Exercised
of Granted during duringthe  Lapsed during
Category share Exercise Outstanding the year year ended theyear  Outstanding as
and name of ~ $EERH options price as at ended 31 31 December ended 31  at 31 December
patticipant K% glotg (HKD) 1 January 2019  December 2019 2019 December 2019 2019
R . R20195 REZ20195 REZ20195 REZ2019F R20195
RERS 18 1818 12A31H 12A31H 12/315 12A31H
(&) () HA{TE LFERYE LEEF LEEXN GEIN
Zhang Weipng - REF 31/8J2017 1.39 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
27/8/2018 1.66 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
ZuwoYichen LR 31182017 139 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
27/8/2018 166 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
Lam Ngai Lung 132 31/8/2017 139 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
27/8/2018 166 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
Li Yanping ERY 27/8/2018 166 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Other HAT 31182017 139 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
employees
27/8/2018 166 10,750,000 - - - 10,750,000
19/8/2019 142 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
Total H) 62,750,000 2,000,000 - - 64,750,000

18 Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 % EEF R A T



Notes:

(1)

The closing prices of the shares of the Company on 31 August 2017,
27 August 2018 and 19 August 2019, being the dates on which the
Share Options were granted, were HK$1.39, HK$1.66 and HK$1.42
per share respectively.

The closing price of the shares of the Company on 30 August 2017,
24 August 2018 and 16 August 2019, being the date before the date
on which the options were granted were HK$1.38, HK$1.55 and
HK$1.42 per share respectively.

The Share Options with respect to a grantee will be exercisable in the
following manner:

(i)  20% of the share options will be vested on the first anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the first anniversary of the date of grant.

(i) 20% of the share options will be vested on the second
anniversary of the date of grant and will be exercisable within
five years from the second anniversary of the date of grant.

(iif) 20% of the share options will be vested on the third anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the third anniversary of the date of grant.

(iv) 20% of the share options will be vested on the fourth anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the fourth anniversary of the date of grant.

(v) 20% of the share options will be vested on the fifth anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the fifth anniversary of the date of grant.
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As at the date of this annual report, the remaining number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
335,250,000 shares, representing approximately 8.3% of the
total issued shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no Options were
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme.

The subjectivity and uncertainty of the values of Options are
set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in this
annual report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the
Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the year 2019.
The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 6,202 (2018:
4,353) staff in the PRC and Hong Kong. Employees of the
Group are remunerated based on their individual performance,
professional qualifications, experience in the industry and
relevant market trends. The management of the Group regularly
reviews the Group’s remuneration policy and appraises the
work performance of its staff. Employee remuneration includes
salaries, allowances, bonuses, social insurance and mandatory
pension fund contribution. As required by the relevant
regulations in the PRC, the Group participates in the social
insurance schemes operated by the relevant local government
authorities. The Group also participates in the mandatory
provident fund schemes for our employee in Hong Kong.
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A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance of the
Directors and senior management and comparable market
practices.

The Directors and senior management may also receive
Options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme. For
further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, and five highest
paid individuals during the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in Notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in “Employee benefits” of Note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the following connected
transaction (as defined in the Listing Rules) for the year ended
31 December 2019:

On 27 June 2019, among others, Chongging Yuecheng (as the
lender), Leed National Education Technology (Beijing) Limited*
(as the borrower), Minsheng Vocational and National Education
Holding Limited (“National Education”) entered into a loan
agreement (the “2nd Tranche Loan Agreement”), pursuant
to which, Chongqging Yuecheng agreed to lend to Leed
National, and Leed National agreed to borrow from Chongging
Yuecheng a loan in the principal amount of RMB200 million
(the “2nd Tranche Loan”). On 24 December 2018, Chongging
Yuecheng and Leed National has entered the 1st tranche loan
agreement (the “1st Tranche Loan Agreement’) with a loan
in the principal amount of RMB200 million. (the “1st Tranche
Loan”)

* English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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Leed International is a subsidiary of the Company, held as to,
among others, 51% by Minsheng Vocational, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The other 49% of the issued share
capital of Leed International held by the relevant vendors
(including National Education, which is holding 39.99% in Leed
International) are entrusted to the Company for management
pursuant to the Equity Entrustment Agreement. Also, pursuant
to a share purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of
Leed International, the Group is committed to grant an option
to the sellers to sell the remaining 49% of the issued share
capital of Leed International at the exercise price based on a
predetermined formula (the “Put Option”). The Directors take
the view that the Group has a present ownership interest in
49% of the acquiree’s shares that are subject to the Put Option.
Therefore, we account for the acquisition of 100% of the shares
of Leed International (i.e., as if the remaining 49% of equity
interest was acquired) on the date of acquisition.

Since National Education holds more than 10% of the
issued share capital of Leed International, it is a substantial
shareholder of Leed International, and therefore a connected
person of the Company at subsidiary level. Based on
information available to the Company, one of the shareholders
of Leed International, namely Leed National Education
Technology (Beijing) Limited (“Leed National”), is ultimately
beneficially controlled and owned by the ultimate beneficial
owners of the relevant vendors in the acquisition, and is,
therefore, an associate of the relevant vendors and a connected
person at the subsidiary level of the Company. According to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated
under the 2nd Tranche Loan Agreement constitute a connected
transaction at the subsidiary level of the Company and
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but
exempt from the circular, independent financial advice and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements. For further
details on the 1st Tranche Loan Agreement and 2nd Tranche
Loan Agreement, please refer to the announcements published
by the Company on 26 December 2018 and 27 June 2019,
respectively.

For details on the acquisition of Leed National, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 21 August 2018
and 5 October 2018, respectively and circular of the Company
dated 20 December 2018, and Note 34 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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Save as disclosed above, details of the related party
transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2019 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. The transactions as set out therein do not
fall under “Connected Transactions” or “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. During the Reporting Period, as far as the
Directors are aware, there was no material non-compliance
with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a
significant impact on the Group’s business and operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION POLICIES

The Group is principally engaged in providing educational
services, a line of business that generally does not have
material impact on the environment. During the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group did not incur any material cost of
compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period, there has been
an outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19")
across China. The Group had provided and completed its
education services for the fall semester of the 2019/2020 school
year by early January 2020. The opening of the Group’s school
campuses for the spring semester of the 2019/2020 school
year has been delayed and management has implemented
certain alternative action plans for students during the school
closure period, including implementing on-line modules and
remote website learning activities.
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In view of the alternative action plans described above, the
Directors assessed and preliminarily concluded that there was
no significant impact on the financial position of the Group
subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this annual report. The Directors will remain alert to
the development of the pandemic and take additional measures
as appropriate. The Group will release further announcement as
and when appropriate in the event that there is any significant
financial impact from COVID-19 on the Group’s financial results
and reflect such impact in the Group’s 2020 interim and annual
financial statements.

For details, please also refer to Note 42 to the financial
statements.

LITIGATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Company was not engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation
or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be
pending or threatening against the Company.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards in order to safeguard the interests
of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability. The Company has complied with all the code
provisions set forth in the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Corporate
Governance Code”) during the year ended 31 December 2019.
The Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate
governance practices of the Company for the purpose of
maintaining high corporate governance standards.

For details, please see the Corporate Governance Report in
this annual report on pages 126 to 144.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code. The members of the audit committee have discussed
with the management, and reviewed, the 2019 consolidated
financial statements as set out in this annual report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 had been audited by Ernst & Young, who will
retire and being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment
as auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The Company has not changed its external auditor
since its Listing and up to the date of this annual report.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities. If the shareholders of the
Company are not sure about the tax effect on the purchase,
holding, sale, trading or exercise of any rights attached to the
relevant shares of the Company, they are recommended to
consult independent experts for advice.

On behalf of the Board

Li Xuechun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEBRS

INTRODUCTION

The Board is committed to upholding a high standard of
corporate governance and business ethics in the firm belief
that they are essential for enhancing investors’ confidence
and maximizing Shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of stakeholders, and to comply
with increasingly stringent regulatory requirements as well as
fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

During the period from 1 January 2019 up to 31 December
2019 (both dates inclusive), the Company has complied with all
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
General

The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the
Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitors and
evaluates its operating and financial performance and reviews
the corporate governance standard of the Group. It is also
responsible for approving certain specific matters such
as annual and interim results, major transactions, director
appointments or reappointments, investment policy, dividend
and accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility for implementing its business strategies and
managing the daily operations of the Group’s businesses to
the executive Directors and members of senior management.
The functions and power that are so delegated are reviewed
periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate. All
Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance and financial position to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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All Board members have separate and independent access
to the Group’s senior management to fulfill their duties.
Independent professional advice can be sought to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties at the Group’s
expense upon their request.

The Board has established three Board committees, being
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee (each a “Board Committee” and
collectively the “Board Committees”), to oversee different
areas of the Company’s affairs. For details, please see “Board
Committees” below.

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, namely
Mr. Li Xuechun, Ms. Zhang Weiping, Mr. Zuo Yichen and
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung, two non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Lin Kaihua and Ms. Li Yanping and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, Mr.
Yu Huangcheng and Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew. A list of the
Directors identifying their roles and functions are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family
relationships are set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report. All Directors are
required to declare to the Board upon their first appointment,
the directorships or other positions they are concurrently
holding at other companies or organizations. These interests
are updated on an annual basis and when necessary.

Mr. Li Xuechun, the chairman of Board, is the father-in-
law of Mr. Zuo Yichen, who is an executive Director. Ms. Li
Yanping is the daughter of Mr. Li Xuerang who is a cousin of
Mr. Li Xuechun, a controlling shareholder of the Company,
an executive Director and chairman of the Board. Save as
disclosed herein, there are no other financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships among members of the
Board.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance
and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group, and
the training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management. The Board also reviews
the disclosures in the corporate governance report to ensure
compliance. The Board’s responsibility in this regard includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’'s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board and report to the Board on
matters;

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate
governance report; and

(f) to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board has
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and
the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to
provide independent and objective opinions to the Board,
giving adequate control and balances for the Group to protect
the overall interests of the Shareholders and the Group. They
serve actively on the Board and the Board Committees to
provide their independent and objective views.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board.
Each independent non-executive Director has confirmed his
independence to the Company with reference to the factors
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents
of such confirmations, the Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by a number of committees, including
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Each Board Committee has its
defined and written terms of reference approved by the Board
covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms of
reference are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties, including access to management or
professional advice if considered necessary.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny,
Mr. Yu Huangcheng and Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew. Mr.
Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, who has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience in accounting matters, was
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit
Committee mainly performed following duties:

e reviewed the Group’s audited annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and the unaudited interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2019, met with
the external auditors to discuss such annual results and
interim results, and was of the opinion that the preparation
of the relevant financial statements complied with the
applicable accounting standards and requirements and
that adequate disclosure had been made;

e reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, and recommended the appointment of
external auditors; and

e assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
maintaining an effective system of internal control and risk
management, including meeting with the management
of the Company and internal control review department
regarding the internal control of the Group and review the
capabilities and scope of review of the internal control
assessment team of the Group.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in providing an independent view of the
effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal
control and risk management systems, and relationship with
external auditors of the Group, overseeing the audit process
and performing other duties, reviewing the interim and annual
results, and such responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
The Audit Committee had also reviewed the audited annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019.

For details on the internal control and risk management

systems, please see “Risk Management and Internal Control”
below.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew (independent non-
executive Director), Mr. Li Xuechun (executive Director)
and Mr. Yu Huangcheng (independent non-executive
Director). The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew. The principal responsibilities
of the Remuneration Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
structure and policy for all Directors and senior management
as well as the specific remuneration packages for the
executive Directors and senior management. No Director takes
part in any decision of the Board on his own remuneration.
The Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to
maintain fair and competitive packages based on business
requirements and industry practice. In order to determine the
level of remuneration and fees paid to members of the Board,
market rates and factors such as each director’s workload,
performance, responsibility, job complexity and the Group’s
performance are taken into account.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration
Committee mainly performed the following duty:

e reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy and reviewed
and approved the remuneration package of the executive
Directors and senior management for the year of 2019.

e assessing performance of the executive Directors.
The remuneration of the members of the senior management

(including all executive Directors) of the Group by band for the
year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:

Remuneration bands

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
over HK$3,000,000

£ % 1,000,000/ 7T

3,000,000/ 7T A £

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and
the five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out
in Notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

1,000,001/ 7T 22,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001/ 7T % 3,000,000/ 7T
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely,
Mr. Li Xuechun (chairman of the Board and executive Director),
Mr. Yu Huangcheng (independent non-executive Director)
and Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny (independent non-executive
Director). The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr.
Li Xuechun. The principal responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are to review the composition of the Board, including
its structure, size and diversity at least annually to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate
to the requirements of the business of the Group and make
recommendations in any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. It also carries
out the process of identifying, considering and recommending
to the Board suitably qualified persons by making reference
to the skills, experience and expertise of such individuals, the
Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements
and regulations to become a member of the Board, monitor the
succession planning of Directors and assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors. An external recruitment
agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment and
selection process where necessary. The Nomination Committee
will also review the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below)
from time to time, so as to develop and review measurable
objectives for the implementing the Board Diversity Policy (as
defined below) and to monitor the progress on achieving these
objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, and whether the composition of the Board complied
with the requirements of the board diversity policy during the
year of 2019.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Board adopted a board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on 2 March
2017. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. While all Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis, the Company will ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills and knowledge.

The Nomination Committee has set measurable objectives (in
terms of gender, age, skills and experience) to implement the
Board Diversity Policy. Such objectives will be reviewed from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress
made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained.
The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the diversity of the Board and
considered that the Group has achieved the measurable
objectives of the Board Diversity Policy in terms of age,
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of services.

DIVIDEND POLICY

For the dividend policy adopted by the Company, please refer
to “Dividend Policy” in the Report of the Directors on page 48
to 49 in this annual report.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are not performed by the same individual as
this ensures better checks and balances and hence better
corporate governance. Mr. Li Xuechun holds the position of
the Chairman, who is primarily responsible for the strategic
development of the Group. Ms. Zhang Weiping serves as the
Chief Executive Officer, who is primarily responsible for the
overall management and operation of the Group.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The term of each of the executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors of the Company is subject to his
retirement and re-election at annual general meeting in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. In
accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
a person may be appointed as a Director either by the
Shareholders in general meeting or by the Board. Each of
the non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company for an initial term of one year, subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company and the term of
each of the appointment may be renewed for a further term
of one year by mutual agreement between the non-executive
Director and the Company upon expiration of the initial term
and each renewed term. Any Directors appointed by the Board
as additional Directors shall hold office until the next following
annual general meeting or any Director appointed by the
Board to fill casual vacancies shall hold office until the next
following general meeting, and are eligible for re-election by
the Shareholders. In addition, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years, and are
eligible for re-election by the Shareholders.
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BOARD MEETINGS

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, Board
meetings will be held regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. For regular Board meetings,
notices of at least 14 days are given to facilitate maximum
attendance of the Directors. Directors may propose to the
Chairman or the Company Secretary to include matters in the
agenda for regular board meetings.

At board meetings, the Directors will be provided with the
relevant documents to be considered and approved. Draft
and final versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their
comments and records respectively within a reasonable time
after the board meeting is held. Minutes of Board meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary or a duly appointed secretary
of the Board meeting and are open for inspection by any
Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board held 9
meetings. During the meetings of the Board held in 2019 the
Board reviewed the operation and financial performance and
reviewed and approved the annual results for the year ended
31 December 2018 and the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2019, etc..
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The individual attendance record of each Director for the &&EERNE E2019F12A310 IFEEFLRTT
meetings of the Board, Board committees and the general HAQATESZS EFeZEeRRFEAS
meeting of the Company held during the year ended 31 @8 ERIEFELeEEy 0T ¢

December 2019 is set out below:

2019 Meetings Attended/Held

195 4%/ BHNER
Annual
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting
ENZEE yMzEe R#ZE%8 REBEAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman) FRERE(ZE) 99 N/A 7iER 33 i 111
Ms. Zhang Weiping FETRL 99 N/A P N/A g N/A 7R 1N
Mr. Zuo Yichen LREAE 9/9 NIA TER N/A &R N/A &R 11
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung WRELE 9/9 NIA g N/A & N/A TiE 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Lin Kaihua MEELE 5/9 N/A TNEF N/A 1EF N/A 1@ 01
Ms. Li Yanping PETRE 99 N/A FiE R N/A 7MER N/A 7R i
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTEE
Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny RRERE 99 22 N/A NER 1 1N
Mr. Yu Huangcheng RENGE 9/9 22 33 1 11
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew THBEE 6/9 22 23 N/A TiE R 11
Total Number of Meeting SHEBEAH 9 2 3 1 1
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE EERTHRAENRE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in  AARIEHEEERITHABAEEELYH
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and JEAFEFAIELEERRZH -
officers.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses
as well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws,
rules and regulations. Briefings and updates on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements are provided to the Board during Board
meetings to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices. The Company will
also arrange regular seminars to provide Directors with updates
on the latest development and changes in the Listing Rules
and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time
to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:

Name of Director
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Type of Training'

EEfSE B
Executive Directors HITEF

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman of the Board) FEBELEE(ESEER) B
Ms. Zhang Weiping REFLZT B
Mr. Zuo Yichen TRRE%E B
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MBS & B
Non-executive Directors HHITEF

Mr. Lin Kaihua MEHE S A B
Ms. Li Yanping FhEFLZ+ B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny PRI A A, B
Mr. Yu Huangcheng REKEE B
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew FEBLEAE B
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Note:

1. Type A training includes: attending training sessions, including
but not limited to, briefings, seminars, conferences and workshops
relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities/corporate governance/
updates on Listing Rules amendments and similar activities.

Type B training includes: reading relevant news alerts, newspapers,
journals, magazines, updates and relevant publications relating to the
economy/general business/directors’ duties and responsibilities and
similar activities.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the period from the 1 January 2019 up
to 31 December 2019 (both dates inclusive).

The Company has also established a code no less exacting
than the Model Code for securities transactions by senior
management who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive or inside information of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Wing Shan is the company secretary of the Company
and was appointed on 21 September 2016. Ms. Ng is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as
the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in
the United Kingdom. Ms. Ng is an assistant vice president of
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly
known as SW Corporate Services Group Limited) and her major
responsibility is assisting listed companies in professional
company secretarial work.

Ms. Ng’s primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Lam

Ngai Lung, an executive Director and the chief financial officer
of the Company.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)

Wi -

1. AR 2EdIERE -
B EHE  gRkEMESRENELS
EER,/ ETRANSTAE # RBRLUEBH
I ©

2ECIERNIEYS

BRI EYE - BEMEMMERE  mE - T
WS EMTREEE S —RER S EER
BENEEURBLUEEEE 2 BT -

ESETEFRZNEETA

ARFRIA EIRAIN T HBI B
Al -

BEEmcRERELAEETSH  EFEHAR
S5 H2019%1 A1B £ E2019F12A31H
IHHAEA(EEWME BIEER) — BB TIZE
S

RAR TR BEREET A TAIES
S AR FIR A B AR R GUR ER
HHEBNBREREETEEZ BT -

REAWE

RukMLZ L BARRRBWERR20164F
QACIREZRT - RRLTABBHIWEL
ERERBTATAEAS (A - I
ERITBRABRE)ZEFREE - R+ A
FEGCERBEE(ES)BRAB(AEE
KABRERBEBEGRAR)EIRE - H
TERT AR LT ARREEENARWE
T

RETHARARZ L BB ARRRRRT
ERRYBEEMBRERL -



For the year ended 31 December 2019, Ms. Ng has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes its responsibility to ensure the Company
maintains a sound and effective risk management and internal
control system.

The Group’s internal control system is designed to safeguard
assets against misappropriation and unauthorized disposition
and to manage operational risks. Review of the Group’s internal
controls covering major financial, operational and compliance
controls, as well as risk management functions. The controls
built into the risk management system are intended to manage
significant risks in the Group’s business.

The Board is in charge of managing the overall risks of
our Group. It is responsible for considering, reviewing
and approving any significant business decision involving
material risk exposures, such as our decision to expand our
school network into new geographic areas, and to enter into
cooperative business relationships with third parties to establish
new schools. The Group also maintains insurance coverage
which is in line with customary practice in the PRC education
industry, including school liability insurance. The Group also
has arrangements with certain banks in place to ensure that it
will be able to obtain credit to support its business operation
and expansion.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, taking into account the internal
control measures implemented by the Group in connection
with the non-compliance incidents disclosed under the section
headed “Business — Legal Proceedings and Compliance” in
the Prospectus, the on-going monitoring and supervision by
the Board and the principals of the Group’s schools with the
assistance from professional external advisers where required,
and the fact that, as confirmed by the Directors, the non-
compliance incidents did not involve fraud or dishonesty, the
Directors are of the view that our enhanced internal control
measures are adequate and effective.
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The Company has established an internal audit department to
carry out its internal audit functions by assisting the Board to
implement the Group’s of risk management framework. The work
of the internal audit department will be reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Board annually. During the year ended 31
December 2019, the Audit Committee, with reference to and
based on the internal audit report issued by the independent
audit firm, conducted a review on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions, adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal control and financial
reporting functions, and training programmes and budget. The
Board has considered and discussed the internal audit report
issued by the independent audit firm, the work conducted by
the independent audit firm, the Audit Committee’s view on the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and their
effectiveness. The Board and the Audit Committee are satisfied
with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control of the Group.

Based on the review carried out by the independent audit firm,
the Audit Committee and the Board, the Board concluded that
there are no material irregularities nor areas of concern that would
have significant adverse impact on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations, and that the risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective and the
Company’s resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget for accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting function and Listing Rules compliance are adequate.

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN PREPARING FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements which give a true
and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and cash
flows for the year and in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The Company has
selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimates. The Board considers that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future
and not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may affect the business of the Company or
cast doubts on its ability to continue as going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, during the year
ended 31 December 2019 was approximately as follows:
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Amount

Type of Services PRI EA ot |
RMB’000

AR®T T

Audit services Bz 3,000
— Annual audit service —FEEZR® 3,000
- Non-audit services — IEBZRTE 0
Total et 3,000

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
the Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and understanding of the Group’s business, performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions.
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At general meetings of the Company, the Shareholders will
have the opportunity to communicate directly with the Directors.
The chairman of the Board and the chairman of each of the
Board Committees will attend the annual general meetings to
answer Shareholders’ questions. The auditor of the Company
will also attend the annual general meetings to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing
a two-way relationship and communication between the
Company and its shareholders and maintains a website of
the Company at (www.minshengedu.com), where up-to-
date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
General

To safeguard our Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a
timely manner after each general meeting.
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the articles of
association. Any one or more members holding as at date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election as a
Director

Pursuant to the Article 85 of the articles of associations of
the Company, no person other than a Director retiring at
the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors for
election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a Notice (as defined therein) signed by a
Member (as defined therein) (other than the person to be
proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such
person for election and also a Notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the head office or at the Registration Office provided
that the minimum length of the period, during which such
Notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that
(if the Notices are submitted after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election) the period for
lodgment of such Notice(s) shall commence on the day after
the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the
date of such general meeting.
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Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could send their enquiries to Mr.
Lam Ngai Lung of Room 3202A, 32/F., Tower 1, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong (email address:
msedu@minshengedu.com).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company during the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this annual report.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited B4 HBEEHGR LT

FEEEEH

RERMNENEEFSEABELRRANEE -
ARXEBAEMBREEE(MUARBTEEE
BBISE N EH L FE — E321E3202AF ) (B
Fipit : msedu@minshengedu.com) ©

ERABERXMHS

RBERELBEAFR A - NAFH
MBI AW S A E o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

EY:

To the shareholders of
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 157 to 316,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHEIRS (#)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (*“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRERER

Income tax

Vi

As disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements, according
to the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private
Education (the “Implementation Rules”), private schools for which
the school sponsors do not require reasonable returns are eligible
to enjoy the same preferential tax treatments as public schools.
The preferential tax treatment policies applicable to private schools
requiring reasonable returns are to be separately formulated by

the relevant authorities under the State Council.

Except for Laoling Minsheng Education High School Company
Limited which was incorporated as a limited company, the Group’s
schools in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC Schools”) did
not pay corporate income tax for the provision of formal educational
services and have enjoyed the preferential tax treatments in 2019.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes as there are uncertainties in interpreting the
relevant tax laws and regulations with respect to the preferential tax
treatments enjoyed by the PRC Schools. The Group engaged an
external legal advisor for the assessment of income tax obligations,
and there were significant judgements involved in management'’s
analysis and assessment, such as an assessment on possible
outcome of the tax provision based on historical experiences, and
estimations about future events after 31 December 2019 that may
cause the Group to change its judgements regarding the adequacy
of the tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities will impact the

tax expense in the period that such determination is made.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 10 to the financial

statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIUKEEIRS (#)

HRELEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNTEERRERSE

We have performed the following procedures:

discussed with management to evaluate their
interpretation of the tax laws and their assessment of
the tax obligations of the schools operated by the Group

for the current year;

evaluated management’s assessment on the application
of preferential tax or applicable tax rate to the respective

schools;

discussed with the Group’s PRC external legal advisors
to understand their view with respect to the interpretation
of the existing applicable laws which would have an

impact on the applicable tax on the respective schoals;

obtained the Group’s external legal advisor's comments
on the tax obligations applied onto the Group’s schools,
in particular, whether or not the PRC Schools had to
pay income tax as required by their respective tax
authorities by the end of year 2019 and whether the
PRC Schools which enjoyed such preferential tax
treatments were in compliance with applicable laws

and regulations in China;

assessed any new policies, regulations or rules that
have been introduced by the authorities up to the date
of this report, which might have an impact on the tax
position of the PRC Schools;

examined the historical tax filing returns filed to
the relevant tax authorities and the tax compliance

confirmations obtained, where appropriate; and
involved our internal tax experts to assist us in analysing
the preferential tax treatments enjoyed by the PRC

Schools and assessing the adequacy of tax provisions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHEIRS (#)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRERER

Income tax
VRt
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRERER

Goodwill impairment

A

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had significant amounts
of goodwill arising from acquisitions of Chongqging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology and Leed International
Education Group Inc. in the prior year of RMB304 million and
RMB1,381 million, respectively, which were supported by an annual
impairment review. No impairment charge has been recorded
against goodwill in the current year. Certain assumptions used
in the impairment review were subjective and involved significant

judgements and estimates, and they included:

o the future cash flow growth assumptions used in the Group’s
most recent budgets for the next five years approved by
management, including future industry development, pricing

strategies, market supply and demand, and gross margins;

o the growth rate used beyond the period covered by the
budgets; and

o the discount rate applied to future cash flows.
The accounting judgements and estimates and disclosures related

to the impairment assessment are included in notes 3 and 15 to

the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIUKEEIRS (#)

HRELEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNTEERRERSE

In order to evaluate the impairment test carried out by
management and assess the value-in-use of the cash-

generating units, we have performed the following procedures:

° evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts and

the process by which they were drawn up;
o assessed the actual performance in the year against
the prior year budgets to evaluate historical forecasting

accuracy;

. assessed the key assumptions by checking against the

historical trend and industry index;

. performed sensitivity analyses on the forecasts;

o analysed the discount rate used by comparing to
the industry index with the assistance of our internal

valuation experts; and

° evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures

regarding the goodwill impairment testing.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHEIRS (#)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRERER

Goodwill impairment

A
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNTEERRERSE

ARTEEEEMENRENANMTRREELEN
MEMEE  RAISAITATER

o FHEEEEMNRIEERETRR Mk F TR
FIBE

o HUNEMNFERE  FHEFANERKENMF
BEBETRRI M SERENE -

o MEMBEBEMITEIEE - UFHARRMKE
o HWIRRMITHRE DT ;

o HITREHLLE  EHFMNAMEEERHBET
ITRERARBER R I

\|

D

s HEEREHNBEERENANKEESSRE -

i3



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRERER

Revenue recognition

ey

The occurrence and completeness of the Group’s revenue are
of high inherent risk because of the large volume of tuition and
boarding fees processed. In addition, tuition and boarding fees
paid in advance at or prior to the beginning of each academic year
are recognised as revenue proportionately over the fiscal years
covering that academic year. Therefore, revenue may be recorded

in the incorrect period of the fiscal year.

The accounting policy of revenue recognition and disclosures
of the amount of revenue are included in notes 2.4 and 5 to the

financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIUKEEIRS (#)

HRELEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNTEERRERSE

As to our audit procedures, we have:

tested the controls on the collection of tuition and
boarding fees and the controls designed and applied
by the Group to calculate the deferred revenue and

the corresponding amount of revenue;

on a sample basis, reviewed and checked the relevant
supporting documentation including the student
payment records, official student records registered
with the relevant PRC education authorities, and the
payment remittance receipts of tuition and boarding

fees;

recalculated the amounts of contract liabilities and

revenue recognised during the year; and

reconciled the number of newly enrolled students during
the year to the enrolment approval by the relevant PRC
education authorities, and the total number of students
at the fiscal year end to the records on the China

Credentials Verification website.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3k

151



152

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHEIRS (#)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRERER

Revenue recognition

A
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIUKEEIRS (#)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHEIRS (#)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

REMRBR RSB RREABNER

BPWERRUG VB RRERBRL TR
T B A BRAF S EA AR 1 28 B E KSR RR PRt AR
SRERRE  THABRERMNERNZR
BheE - RPEABTUESEE)IRZR
& AEREMBE R - AT EHAREN
ARFAEMNEMALTE ESOREERAE -

BEREIERKFHRE - ETEREZR
BEBTERETER  EX-EAHERR
AFAERARRERIR - $ERRMRA A AR EGF L
HHERSIE - WA REH T MEBEIEARLR
AR BN ERAMBHRREME KBS
WAFTER MR E - BIB B SEER R
AIBARIEENX -

EREFEASENEAETEZNBIET -
PIER T HEXRAE - YEREREESR
RERIERER - 1A

o BRINFHEANMGFRBRMEREGRE
MBRRFES KRR AR -
Rt MITEZIEF A S E L AR
NIRRT - MEENEZRE  FR
B ROER - ANEFRRES N H
woeE - BRER  ERRE - 0%
BRAREZERG £ - B REEHR
FEEFM S MM EAHE RN RS
RARBEEE IR R RR M G B E A RR
AE R o

o  THRERZMEBMAMAIMEZERR AR
FHEEMEZRER  EEMLIEHES
BARBEERGNERIMEERER -



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHEIRS (#)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Mee Kwan, Helena.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

fRoEm

REMEZENRSEK

Year ended 31 December 2019 #ZE2019F12A31H ILFE

Notes 2019 2018
BiE RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFT
REVENUE &= 5 1,005,436 623,143
Cost of sales SHE A (488,946) (289,775)
Gross profit E7H 516,490 333,368
Other income and gains E A R e 5 139,018 189,884
Selling and distribution expenses HE kD HRAX (16,043) (16,794)
Administrative expenses THAX (185,118) (143,501)
Other expenses, net HAth 2 558 (28,327) (835)
Finance costs BhE A 7 (79,613) (13,202)
Share of loss of an associate DEEE R R EE (153) (644)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE AR A 6 346,254 348,276
Income tax expense Frg BRI 10 (12,273) (15,448)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FE=A 333,981 332,828
Attributable to: AT e
Owners of the parent NEEAA 341,607 332,839
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR A (7,626) (11)
333,981 332,828
Earnings per share attributable to BRAIEBRERA ARIGE
ordinary equity holders of the parent: %ﬂ : 12
RMBA R# RMBA R
Basic AR 0.08507T 0.08287¢
RMBAER#®¥  RMBARK
Diluted w8 0.08507T 0.08277TC

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 R

157



158

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
REBnREMEZENER ()

Year ended 31 December 2019 #{ZE2019F12A31H L F[E

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETFTT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEBF 333,981 332,828
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Ht2mhisE
Other comprehensive income that may EERERET Y EEER ZH A
be reclassified to profit or loss in e
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation BEMKRR ELERE
of financial statements (20,834) (18,577)
Net other comprehensive income that  AIEERERZ IR EF D EEBRME
may be reclassified to profit or loss in b2 E W &5 F5E
subsequent periods (20,834) (18,577)
Other comprehensive income that will ~ FE&REGIHEN DB EFEM
not be reclassified to profit or loss in PEE
subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at fair &€ AEAFEFT AL 2 E KGR
value through other comprehensive RERE
income:
Changes in fair value NFEES (2,396) (2,070)
Exchange differences on translation BEMBBRRIELERE
of financial statements 18,200 54,973
Net other comprehensive income that ~ FTE2REBAZBHEETSEZBENEM
will not be reclassified to profit or loss & HEWHFEE
in subsequent periods 15,804 52,908
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ FEHEM2E(BE) RE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (5,030) 34,326
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEXEWRAE
FOR THE YEAR 328,951 367,154
Total comprehensive income AT EE2ENEAE -
attributable to:
Owners of the parent SREHER A 336,577 367,165
Non-controlling interests IR (7,626) (11)
328,951 367,154
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NS EAES I

31 December 2019 2019%F12H31H

Notes 2019 2018
BiE RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKREE 13 2,316,856 2,157,994
Right-of-use assets CREEE 14(b) 745,916 -
Prepaid land lease payments B LRSI 14(a) - 744,785
Goodwill mE 15 1,685,099 1,685,099
Other intangible assets Hitnmy & E 16 6,027 6,257
Investment in an associate BENEIRE 17 1,908 2,030
Equity investment at fair value through A FEFAEM 2 EUWZER
other comprehensive income i & 18 - 6,380
Equity investment at fair value through #ZAFEFABRORERE
profit or loss 18 56,165 61,347
Other non-current assets HiIEmeEE 19 770,841 382,559
Total non-current assets FREEELE 5,582,812 5,046,451
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 20 1,408 1,381
Trade receivables B 5 EWHIR 21 9,801 5,510
Prepayments, other receivables and BRHIE - A KR RE
other assets & E 22 74,236 62,986
Short-term investments measured at REHEKATTENRIIRE
amortised cost 18 97,000 -
Cash and bank balances Be RIBITHER 23 1,308,361 1,505,820
Restricted bank balances X EIRITA 23 - 2,324
1,490,806 1,578,021
Asset classified as held for sale DEARIELENEE 18(ii) 3,984 -
Total current assets REVEEBE 1,494,790 1,578,021
CURRENT LIABILITIES ik h=Ri
Contract liabilities anaf 24 586,851 534,097
Other payables and accruals Hin A 5E R IET BB 25 535,970 697,349
Deferred income — current EEU A — BN ER 28 22,894 19,937
Interest-bearing bank and other sHERIT REAMER
borrowings 26 321,080 244 635
Tax payable FERTHIE 15,648 11,063
Total current liabilities mEE EEEE 1,482,443 1,507,081
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 12,347 70,940
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 5,595,159 5,117,391
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

freMBIRRE (&)

31 December 2019 2019 12H31H

Notes 2019 2018
BT RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARETT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Deferred income — non-current RIS A — FEBNER 28 273,389 282,027
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREAMER
borrowings 26 330,132 214,099
Other long term liability HihREAE 296,581 310,538
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIERE 29 5,000 -
Put option liability RobHREa E 30 819,264 781,332
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEETE 1,724,366 1,587,996
Net assets BEFE 3,870,793 3,529,395
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to owners of the BRRHEE ARIGER
parent
Share capital B 31 307 307
Reserves =] 33 3,757,125 3,408,101
3,757,432 3,408,408
Non-controlling interests IR A 113,361 120,987
Total equity B 3,870,793 3,529,395
LI XUECHUN LAM NGAI LUNG
B MEREE
Director Director
0 0

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RS EmBER

Year ended 31 December 2019 #ZE2019F12A31H ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAERARG
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value
Share through other Exchange Non-
Share  Contriouted ~~ Capital ~ Statutory option  comprehensive  Retained ~ fluctuation controling
Note  captal  suplus  reseve  reseve  reserve income pofs — reserve Total interests  Total equity
RATFEA
Hfp2AhE
iEEE Y HERD
k3 BE  E4RR  ERBR  ARER BREER  OVEER  BRE £ et FhkER 4
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBIOO0  RMBO0O  RMBI00O RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
MRETR ARETT ARETR ORI ARBTR  ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note 31 Note 33()  Note 33(c)  Note 32(i)
Hitst W) M) M
At1 January 2018 H201851A1A 07 160308 1220650 545873 3300 245 1148968 (83721) 302813 120008 3149133
Profit for the year ERRA - - - - - - 38283 - 3328%9 (1) 332828
Other comprehensive income ~ EEEMAENE :
for the year:
Change in fair valug of RATETAR
an equity investment at 2EYEOR
far value through other BREZLT
comprehensive income 658 - - - - - (2070) - - o) - o)
Exchange diferences rolated ~ AEAEE) £5
to foreign operations (EHEE - - - - - - - %% %63% - %%
Total comprehensive income - ¥E2AAEHE
for the year - - - - - (2070) 332839 33% 367,165 (1) 37154
Recogniion of share-based  ESNRAAZHA
payment expenses fisnER L - - - - 13108 - - - 13108 - 13108
Transfer fom retained profits ~ EEEZEZEH - - - 8059 - - [805%) - - - -
At 31 December 2018 H2018F12431A 07 160308"  1220650° 626472 16.408° 0T 1401208"  (17.305) 3408408 120987 3529.3%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)
fRE RS EER (#)

Year ended 31 December 2019 #{Z 2019412 A31H L FE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BARERARS

Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value
Share  through other Exchange Nor-
Share Contributed ~ Capital  Statutory option - comprehensive  Refained fluctuation controlling

Note  capital  suplus  reserve  reseve  reserve income profits  reserve Total interests Total equity
BOTEIA
B2 Ak
WemaEL HERD
Wi Rd  EHBE EABR  fRBR BREER  OVERR  @mn i git FEREE  ARE
RMB'0O0  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'0O0  RMB'0O0  RMB'OO0  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT ARRTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARETr ARETR

Note 31 Note 33()  Note 33(c)  Note 32(ii)

it HEab)  WE3(c) Ak
At 1 January 2019 HO19E1 1R N7 160308 1220650 626472 16,408 B0 1400208 (17325 3408408 120987 3529395
Proit for he year EREH - - - - - - Mg - MgT (76%) 333981
Other comprehensive income for EFEH2EIE
the year.

Changeinfarvalueofen ~ ROTEAZf
equlty investment at fairvaue — 2EMERR
through oher comprehensive. EREZAT

income 59 - - - - - (239) - - (2) - (20%)
Exchange diferences related o ABAZENER
foreign operations (EREE - - - - - - -6 (26 - 26
Total comprehensive income for FE2EHEEE
theyear - - - - - 036 MG Q&) ST (168 I8!
Recognton of share-based BB AEER
payment expenses iR k) - - - - - - - -
Transfer from retained profts ~ ERAZEEF| - - - 11308 - - (113,069) - - - -
At 31 December 2019 HA19E12A318 307 160308 1220650 73953 2,895 (2016) 1629752 (19950 3757432 113361 3,870,793

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEREEREBRENR2019F12A31ANERE

RMB3,757,125,000 in the consolidated statement of financial position gk Tz NE T A ARES, 757,125,000
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB3,408,101,000). (20184 : AR #3,408,101,0007T ) K45 & &
=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
o REMER

Year ended 31 December 2019 #ZE2019F12A31H ILFE

Notes 2019 2018
k=3 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHMEBRENE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 250 AT A 346,254 348,276
Adjustments for: AT ZIEFE -
Finance costs BB 7 79,613 13,202
Share of loss of an associate DB E N E)EE 153 644
Investment income from short-term R SHAK AT E MG H
investments measured at amortised ®E RN FET AR
cost and short-term investments marENERRENR
measured at fair value through profit BEIWA
or loss 5,6 (5,048) (15,172)
Bank interest income HRITH BUA 5,6 (12,646) (23,228)
Interest income from a company R E KB A A R AT
controlled by the former G NS RYIIENT ON
shareholders of a subsidiary 5,6 (14,573) -
Fair value loss/(gain) on an equity RN FERT ABRR
investment at fair value through ERERNTEEBE
profit or loss (Wzs) 6 6,470 (296)
Fair value loss from a loan to an FFAHMIERBEER
associate included in other non- BAFEFFER R
current assets measured at fair NAEFH AT EEIE
value 6 5,130 -
Loss on disposal of items of property, BREWE - HENERE
plant and equipment, net THH BB 6 388 140
Government grants released B3 Y BUT 435 B 28 (85,775) (78,358)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - WEREEITE
equipment 6,13 117,246 71,720
Depreciation of right-of-use assets/ CREEERE TR
recognition of prepaid land lease TS T FE & FKIE
payments 6,14 19,050 7,736
Amortisation of other intangible assets — H b & & # 4 6,16 1,716 1,241
Provision for expected credit losses B REWRIE 2 TR E
on trade receivables EEaE 6 558 80
Provision for expected credit losses H Y sRIE 2 TREfE
on other receivables EEERE 6 12,901 47
Reversal of impairment of other HAth fE Y SRIE RV E R B
receivables 6 - (500)
Equity-settled share option expense A P e 4 5 1) B A pE
it 32 12,447 13,108
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

rERTRNER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2019 #{Z 2019412 A31H L FE

Notes 2019 2018
B EE RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
483,884 338,640
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGEM),HD (27) 122
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables & 5 WA (& 0),”
Ve (4,849) 551
Increase in prepayments, other TERFRIE ~ HAb W GRIE
receivables and other assets NE & EE N (17,602) (4,370)
Decrease/(increase) in long-term RHEATERFRIE - E bR
prepayments, other receivables and REREMEERD,
other assets (3g) 361 (2,120)
Decrease in other payables and HAth BN FRIE R FEET B A
accruals VR (203,332) (269,392)
Increase/(decrease) in contract GHBEEMm ORd)
liabilities 52,754 (9,901)
Decrease in other long term liability HiREAGER D (13,957) -
Government grants received 2 U BT #75 BY 28 80,094 72,482
Decrease in restricted bank deposits SR &R TERUR 2,324 17,676
Cash generated from operations KEMSHRE 379,650 143,688
Interest received B U F & 12,646 23,228
Income tax paid B FTEH (2,688) (5,487)
Net cash flows from operating activities #X&/EBAEBIRTRE
ERE 389,608 161,429
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

frReRTRER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2019 #ZE2019F12A31H ILFE

Notes 2019 2018
k=3 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®EF T
Net cash flows from operating activities &Z/EZETSHE T2
HER 389,608 161,429
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZFDHEBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received EHFE 9,090 -
Increase in prepayment for acquisition  FLUKEE T b fF ARERTES
of land use right FIEKE N - (30,000)
Increase in prepayment for acquisition LU EE —FTER A TE R X
of a school TEIE N (18,360) -
Purchase of items of property, plant BEMXE  BEREHE
and equipment BH (227,614) (240,862)
Proceeds from disposal of items of BREWME - MFEKIEEE
property, plant and equipment B FT18 3R 7 236
Additions to other intangible assets AEEMELEE 16 (1,486) (4,118)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Ay =YNS 34 - (601,493)
Purchase of an equity investment at fair EEIZRAFEFAEBZRERN
value through profit or loss IRiERE - (56,376)
Purchase of short-term investments WER AT EF ABEAT
measured at fair value through profit EMNEMKRE
or loss (867,000) (7583,300)
Receipt from maturity of short-term BAFEFABRITEN
investments measured at fair value 52 HRIS & B EA RO IR
through profit or loss 867,000 1,219,620
Investment income from short-term RS E /5 B
investments measured at amortised BRI AT ER AlBs
cost and short-term investments FFEMNERRENRE
measured at fair value through profit WA
or loss 4,298 15,172
Advance of a loan to a company ﬁl‘ﬁ% AR AR R AT
controlled by the former shareholders AR EF
of a subsidiary (400,000) -
Advance of a loan to an associate M — g QBN ER - (10,355)
Net cash flows used in investing KREEBSARESRE
activities SRR (634,065) (461,476)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

rERTRNER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2019 #{Z 2019412 A31H L FE

Notes 2019 2018
k=3 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBRERERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans HERITER 449,658 34,000
Prepayment for other non-current assets Hfb3F &N & ERTEN
KIE (5,232) (3,806)
Repayment of bank and other EERITREAMER
borrowings (165,998) (137,974)
Interest paid ERFLE (20,517) (25,883)
Interest element of sale and leaseback &1 [ & E/MFIE LD
liabilities (14,892) (8,863)
Principal portion of lease payments MENROEREEH (662) -
Principal portion of sale and leaseback &% B & BHASE D
liabilities (103,451) (27,870)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BY&EENFTES(FrFA)IR
activities SHEFE 138,906 (165,396)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH BEeRBESZEYRED
EQUIVALENTS e (105,551) (465,443)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F¥3IR& KRS EHEY
of year 1,505,820 1,939,648
Effect of foreign exchange rate [ERSETE - F5E
changes, net 5,092 31,615
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FREGRRESEEY
END OF YEAR 1,405,361 1,505,820
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRRSEEYEE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS iy
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTESRR 23 1,308,361 1,505,820
Short-term investments measured at BERRIAER A=
amortised cost with original maturity RAUAT 88 SE R AN 51
of less than three months when ENEERE
acquired 23 97,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RIEEHRERIIERNIRS
the statement of cash flows MR EEBY 1,405,361 1,505,820
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 35 TR 2R Bl &

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
13 December 2005 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the laws of the Cayman lIslands. The address
of the registered office of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in providing
educational services in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Minsheng
Group Company Limited (formerly known as Honest Cheer
Investments Limited), which was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

RARKEEEHR

RE#%BEEHAAERAR(AAA])
MR2005F12H13R T M 2 B & R &
FEMEANTMKIAERRER
ANEle AAAGFMBFEEN IR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands °

RRRB/RERB AT - FA - ARQF
KEME LR (M REH]) ET2RNH
FARLMBE([HEDREBE RS -

FERBADAZIERA R BRI
AR AR REBRA R (HTE bR
BERAR) (REBRLRBEMKT
tBRAF) -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3k

167



168

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

RAREEER (F)
BRHE 2 Al 2 E#

ARREZMEBARINFITWM TR -

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of effective equity
registration registered interests attributable
Company name and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R BREE/
S REXS kg ARAREERRELH  IEREEE
Direct Indirect
B 5
Minsheng Education Company Limited Cayman Islands US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
REHRERRA RERS 50,000%7C REERK
Minsheng Vocational Education Company Limited Cayman Islands US$10 100% = Investment holding
(‘Minsheng Vocational’) REES 10%7 RERR
REBXHEARAA(RERESE))
Minsheng Education Development Company Limited Cayman Islands US$50,000 100% = Investment holding
REHRERARLR REEE 50,000% 7 RERR
Leed International Education Group Inc. Cayman Islands US$44,875 - 100%  Investment holding
(‘Leed International’) REEE 44.875KT RERR
BEARYE SRR ((HESE))
Leed International Education Group (China) Limited" Hong Kong US$1,282 - 100%  Investment holding
BRERHESE(PE)BRAR B 1,825 RERR
Chongaing Li'ang Industry Company Limited” The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
ERTIBEXERAR Mainland China ~ AE10,000,0007C management and services
e/ hEARE RUAEEERRH
Chongaing College of Humanities, Science and The PRC/ RMB55,000,000 - 100%  Provision of formal
Technology* Mainland China A& 55,000,0007C undergraduate and junior
ERARER hE /B AR college education services

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited BR4AHBEEHGR LT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

f BRI (8)

RAREEER (F)
BRHE 2 Al 2 B4 (&)

ARREZHMEBARNFIBN TR

follows: (continued) (&)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of effective equity
registration registered interests attributable
Company name and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R BRAEE/
ARER REXLE ke ARAREERRELH  IEREEE
Direct Indirect
B B
Pass College of Chongqing Technology and Business The PRC/ RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of formal
University* Mainland China ~ AK5,000,0007C undergraduate and junior
EETHAZRGER RE/EAR college education services
RETRAZEER SR
s
Changaing Vocational College of Applied Technology” The PRC/ RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of junior college
EREARITREER Mainland China ~ AE#%5,000,0007C education services
R/ EARE REXZHERH
Chongaing Yujinggang Education Investment Company The PRC/ RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment in education
Limited" Mainland China ~ AE50,000,0007C projects
ERARAHEREARAR /AR REHREE
Chongaing Hechuan Renwen Hospital Company The PRC/ RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of disease diagnosis
Lim\' ed* Mainland China ~ AK%50,000,0007T and treatment services
AIAXERBRAT e/ AR R
Chongaing Bozhi Education Services Company Limited The PRC/ US$9,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
("Bozhi Education”)’ Mainland China 9,000,000% 7 management and services
ERREYARBARLA ((BELE)) /A AR REHRERREH
Chongaing Li'ang Education Services Gompany The PRC/ RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Limited" Mainland China ~ AE30,000,0007C management and services
ERNBHERBERLA e/ AR REHRERREH
Chongaing Pass Education Services Company Limited* The PRC/ RMB300,000 - 100%  Provision of university and
ERRTHEREERAR Mainland China AR#300,0007C college logistics services
e/ AR REAZRBERREDRE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

RAREEER (F)
BRHE 2 Al 2 B4 (&)

ARREZHMEBARNFIBN TR

follows: (continued) (&)
Place of
incorporation/  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of effective equity
registration registered interests attributable
Company name and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R BRAEE/
ARER RERY kg ARAREERRELA  IEREEE
Direct Indirect
& B
Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College The PRC/ R\B4,000,000 - 100%  Provision of junior college
(Qingcheng Branch)* Mainland China ~ AE4,000,0007C education services
AFLEMBEER (350R) /AR REREHERK
Chongaing Huizhi Education Services Company Limited The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Provision of university logistics
(“Chongqing Huizhi") Mainland China ~ AEE10,000,0007C services
ERERHERHARLA(ERES)) e/ AR RURSHDRS
Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School* The PRC/ RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Provision of secondary
EEREREREEREN Mainland China ~ AEH30,000,0007C vocational education and
RE/EARE technical training
REPZREHE R
Chongaing Yugangao Enterprise Management The PRC/ RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of rental and business
Consultant Company Limited (“Chongqing Mainland China ~ AE5,000,0007C management services
Yugangao')* hE /B AR RUREREBERRE
ERAARCEERTAARAA((ERMAR))
Chongging Yuecheng Zhiyuan Education Technology The PRC/ RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Company Limited (‘Chongging Yuecheng')” Mainland China ~ AEH50,000,00070 management and services
ERTEEHENRARL A ERHE]) e /AR RUAEERRRH
Chongaing Electronic Information College™ The PRC/  RMB183,680,000 - 51%  Provision of junior college
e e Mainland China A %183,680,0007T education services
e/ AR REAZHERY
Chongaing Zhenzhi Real Estate Company Limited™ The PRC/ R\BS,000,000 - 51%  Real estate development
ERRRERARAMALA Mainland China ~ AR7%8,000,0007C FHERY
e/ AR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

f BRI (8)

RAREEER (F)
BRHE 2 Al 2 B4 (&)

ARREZHMEBARNFIBN TR

follows: (continued) (&)
Place of
incorporation/  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of effective equity
registration registered interests attributable
Company name and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R BRAEE/
ARER RERY kg ARAREERRELA  IEREEE
Direct Indirect
& B

Chongaing Jierui Minsheng Education Technology The PRC/ RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education

Company Limited* Mainland China ~ AE50,000,0007C management and services
ERREAENBERAA /AR REHRERREH
Chongaing Fanyun Minsheng Education Technalogy The PRC/ RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education

Company Limited** Mainland China ~ AE20,000,0007C management and services
ERNBHERRERAT e/ AR REHRERREH
Changaing Jiehan Education Technology Company The PRC/ RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education

Limited™ Mainland China ~ AE%20,000,0007C management and services
ERABHANRARLA /A AR REHRERREH
Shiji Kuangao (Beiling) Investment Management Co., The PRC/ RMB2,000,000 - 100%  Provision of investment

Lid* Mainland China ~ AE2,000,0007C management and services
tERRtRREERARAR R/ EAR RURBERRRH
Shouguang Bohai Experimental School® The PRC/ RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of junior and high
BRDAERER Mainland China A K5,000,0007T school education

e/ AR RENRHE

Laoling Minsheng Education High School Company The PRC/ RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Provision of high school

Limited* Mainland China AR %30,000,0007C education
ERREHERRYSERAAY P/ REAR RHBRERAE
Leed (China) Education Technology Co., Limited The PRC/ 1S5$29,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education

(“Leed (China)")" Mainland China 29,000,000%7C consulting and management
BE(PEBERRARLAR( BETE]) e/ hEAR services

REABHARERRS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

RAREEER (F)
BRHE 2 Al 2 B4 (&)

ARREZHMEBARNFIBN TR

follows: (continued) (&)
Place of
incorporation/  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of effective equity
registration registered interests attributable
Company name and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R BRAEE/
ARER RERY kg ARAREERRELA  IEREEE
Direct Indirect
& B
Yunnan Dianchi Education and Training Co., Limited The PRC/  RMB120,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
(“Dianchi Co.")" Mainland China A %120,000,00072 consulting and management
TERAEERLA AT H8/HEAE senioes
REHRAANEERE
Dianchi College of Yunnan University™ The PRC/ RMB290, 183,700 - 100%  Provision of formal
EMAZENER Mainland China AR %290,183,70070 undergraduate college
RE/PEARE education services
REERAMSRABRE
Yunnan Dianchi Education Management Co., Limited * The PRC/  RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
EREMMEEEERAT Mainland China A& %100,000,0007C consulting and management
/B AR services
REHRAANEERE
Yunnan Dianchi Vocational College Co., Limited™ The PRC/ RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
EMENBREERARAR" Mainland China ~ AE50,000,0007T consulting and management
RE/PEARE services
REHFHAREERE
Yunnan Dianjiao Asset Management Co., Limited The PRC/ RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of asset management
(“Dianjiao AM Co")" Mainland China ~ AE1,000,0007C and project investment and
EREYARERARLA(REERAR)) PE/REAR management services
RUAEERRERRARER
R
Yunnan Leed Education Technology Co., Limited™ The PRC/  RMB205,078,000 - 100%  Provision of education
EHEEYERBARAT Mainland China -~ A& %205,078,00070 consulting and management
RE/PEARE services
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

* The English names of these companies represent the best effort
made by the management of the Company to directly translate the
Chinese names as they do not register any official English names.

# These entities are owned through contractual arrangements.

The Group accounts for the acquisition of 100% of the shares
of these entities as if the remaining 49% of equity interests was
acquired on the date of acquisition. Further details of the acquisition
are included in note 34 to the financial statements.

Except for Bozhi Education and Leed (China), which were
established as wholly-foreign-invested enterprises, all the
above PRC companies were established as domestic-
invested enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for an
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income included in asset classified as held for sale, an equity
investment at fair value through profit or loss and a loan to an
associate included in other non-current assets, which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
standards for the first time for the current year’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9

IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 19

Amendments to |IAS 28

IFRIC 23

Annual Improvements

2015-2017 Cycle

176

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Leases

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Long-term Interests in

Associates and Joint Ventures

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS
11, IAS 12 and IAS 23
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of IFRS
16 Leases, Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures and IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over
Income Tax Treatments, the new and revised standards are
not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial information. The nature and impact of the new and
revised IFRSs are described below:

(a)

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15
Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form
of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases
under a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except
for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting
under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17,
Lessors continue to classify leases as either operating
or finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17.

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application
of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard
has been applied retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained profits at 1 January
2019, and the comparative information for 2018 was not
restated and continued to be reported under IAS 17 and
related interpretations.

2.2

f BRI (8)

B S FTEF A Y G R BIRR B A% SR R
F165RHE - B g R FE285 &
AIARBERFIRE SR FN R E
LEIRBRERBEE SR ESE23
ST R AT EE (LR BN - 3
FIRRERT R R BB A R E G A M
BRAEBER - 575 RSB FTERIME
BEENMEERFERANT

(a) BIFRM TS ERE165 K E
REEAEITRAEE - BREY
BhERBEREERBRIRE
ELHREEEHE  FREE
ZEERBEIRLLHE—F
BERERREZEGRBEFR2TR
AFEEREEZREANRZE
B BN AEHE®RR
AEZEREBEENRA XA
EAMARMBEHERE —EE

BEREAAR  UHEIKGE
EREEEREERRGE HET

R BRI - BRI IEREE
A1 IBE TR AR ER
HER e ERFE17HRIBTHE
BRARBMERITE - HHEHA%
BERAEBEERE175 R
MEURAEHEES T BALEMR
EyBMERE -

AEERBLEEREFRAE
BREA TS A R FE165% - BAE
BB A2019F1 A18 - R it
FE RERTFUNEBHER &
BREMN R ERERBERN
20195F1 A1 B B F & M Bl W) 62 58
TR - M2018F LB E R I
mEY WEEBREBEBRESHE
A7 R AR IEEITYI®R -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3k

177



178

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
(a) (continued)

New definition of a lease

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use
of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the
identified asset. The Group elected to use the transition
practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied only
to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. Contracts
that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC
4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease
under IFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
(a) (continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating
leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of IFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property,
machinery, vehicles and other equipment. As a lessee, the
Group previously classified leases as either finance leases
or operating leases based on the assessment of whether
the lease transferred substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group. Under IFRS 16, the
Group applies a single approach to recognise and measure
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases, except
for two elective exemptions for leases of low-value assets
(elected on a lease by lease basis) and leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) (elected
by class of underlying asset). Instead of recognising rental
expenses under operating leases on a straight-line basis
over the lease term commencing from 1 January 2019, the
Group recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the
right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the outstanding
lease liabilities (as finance costs).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
(a) (continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating
leases (continued)

Impacts on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based on
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 and
included in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The
right-of-use assets were measured at the amount of the
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised
in the statement of financial position immediately before 1
January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based on
IAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present the right-
of-use assets separately in the statement of financial position.

The Group has used the following elective practical expedient
when applying IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

— Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases with
a lease term that ends within 12 months from the date
of initial application
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as finance
leases

The Group did not change the initial carrying amounts
of recognised assets and liabilities at the date of initial
application for leases previously classified as finance leases.
Accordingly, the carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets
and the lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were the carrying
amounts of the recognised assets and liabilities (i.e., finance
lease payables) measured under IAS 17.

Financial impact at 1 January 2019

The impact arising from the adoption of IFRS 16 at 1 January
2019 was as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)
Financial impact at 1 January 2019 (continued)

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the
operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 are

22 SRS RKRELE ()
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F12 A3 HRKEEHERIEHERNT:

as follows:
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AR¥EFTT
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Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at 1
January 2019

201941 A1 B8y hitEFH

5 R -

Discounted operating lease commitments at 1 January #2019F 1 A1HRBAIREE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

22 SRS RKRELE ()

(b) Amendments to IAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion (b) BB & &4 R| 2858 M B F] A%

of IFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or
joint venture to which the equity method is applied and
does not include long-term interests that in substance
form part of the net investment in the associate or
joint venture, to which the equity method has not been
applied. Therefore, an entity applies IFRS 9, rather than
IAS 28, including the impairment requirements under
IFRS 9, in accounting for such long-term interests. IAS
28 is then applied to the net investment, which includes
the long-term interests, only in the context of recognising
losses of an associate or joint venture and impairment
of the net investment in the associate or joint venture.
The Group assessed its business model for its long-term
interests in associates upon adoption of the amendments
on 1 January 2019 and concluded that the long-term
interests in associates and joint ventures continued to be
measured at amortised cost in accordance with IFRS 9.
Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

IFRIC 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes
(current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12
(often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically includes
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions
an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments
by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances. Upon
adoption of the interpretation, the Group considered
whether it has any uncertain tax positions arising from
the transfer pricing on its intergroup sales. Based on
the Group’s tax compliance and transfer pricing study,
the Group determined that it is probable that its transfer
pricing policy will be accepted by the tax authorities.
Accordingly, the interpretation did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9, AS 39 and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
IFRS 17
Amendments to [AS 1

and IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 1

Definition of a Business'

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

Sale or Contribution of Assets betwsen an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Insurance Contracts?
Definition of Material

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

s No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the
focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from ordinary
activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. Since
the amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other
events that occur on or after the date of first application,
the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the
date of transition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 address the effects
of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting. The
amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In
addition, the amendments require companies to provide
additional information to investors about their hedging
relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020. Early application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the
IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

f BRI (8)

2.3 EREMERTERZBERMEREER

(&)

BB s RO - Bt E
A5 3957 M BIFR A 15 3R &5 £ RSB 75 Y
[ERTANE FERRIRTT R €47 SO R S 1
BERBOTE - ZFETRETEER
A M R EAE R Y T E HIR AR
T8 ERIE M R E R RUETE 1t
SN - ZFERTRE R BIAMRE ERH
ERERRZSF T RERRZE 2 HH
BARMERINE R - X FIERT N 202051
ATBE S 2RI FEZ R AR - IF
AFHEATEM - EBRSFET BT e
AEERBERREREMNEATE -

=]

BB B s R R 105 RBIR &5

A Rl 285k BS BT A0 K B B B 765
& AE RSB 1057 B B (R & 51 £ B 552857
2 EEREBREEEEBRENRNE
EPEMNEELES TEMERTN
P—EE - ZFEFTHRE - BIREEHH
HBENRSAE X BNEELE
JOFEBK —TBEKE - BRREEK
WAEIE o MRS R TEK—IHER
MEE - AIAZR HEER R EE
RIEEERNBRPER - HEUTEH
BEERZBE ARSI A E D ENERE
BR - ZEBFTBIRATEEERRR -
BB B S RS R 10 RBR g5

RN ZE 2857 & 5T A5 B JR 58 i) 42 % B Bf
R2015F12AE B &t £RIEE
251 - MATASRS A B B RER
HBERARREELENTEZSE
BIAEETE - A - ZFEFIH R A HIR
%W °

!

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3k

187



188

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information. A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the
primary users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2020. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included in
consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associates, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Investments in associates (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in
the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures an equity investment designated at
FVOCI, an equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss and loan to an associate included in other non-current
assets at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets and non-current assets classified
as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

1.9% to 10%
9.5% to 23.8%
9.5% to 31.7%
11.9% to 31.7%

Buildings

Motor vehicles

Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress mainly represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Asset classified as held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a
sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this
to be the case, the asset must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for the sale of such assets and its sale
must be highly probable.

Non-current assets (other than investment properties and
financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Computer software

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 5 to 10 years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases for low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 to 70 years
Buildings 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using
the estimated useful life of the assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

24 FEETHRBEE)
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Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in measurement of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHREME(E)

200

(continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an exemption on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land
lease payments under finance leases, are include in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
finance costs of such leases are charged to the statement
of profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of
charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit
or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debtinvestments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or
loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to
profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)
(continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are also recognised as other income in profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and
the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through
profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default (other than
trade receivables) when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and
accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
put option liability.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised costs (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Put option liability

After initial recognition, put option liability is subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

f BRI (8)

24 FEETHRBEE)

THEMEGE
ARG ERE

RpTERR - RH A ERERER
BERRM R RBHK ARG E - #IHK
ZREEET e W B O (TR el SO (B DA I
J&E BRI R AR B B A SRR R
B BERNE=#HHD BN ERTHR

RIEZLTHBEE

TREBENAENEEER - BUHRE
MBS AR L EFERR o

HWIRATRABERS —HBE—HEA
PR M 48 K BB 0 KA R 9 B (& BT EX
R FIRBEAENEREREES - 8
ERRARRERR AR LERRBRE
MERHAE  MAERREENEZRS

et s
L
RIERMER o

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3k

n



212

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
year, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHREME(E)

214

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

e inrespectof deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which
it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Tuition and boarding fees are generally received by colleges
and high schools in advance prior to the beginning of each
academic year, and are initially recorded as contract liabilities.
Tuition and boarding fees are recognised proportionately over
the relevant period of the applicable program. The portion of
tuition and boarding payments received from students but
not earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected
as a current liability as such amounts represent revenue that
the Group expects to earn within one year. The academic
year of the Group’s schools is generally from September to
June of the following year.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised services to the
customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year.
As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Management service income is recognised when services
are provided.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. Further details of which are given in note
32 to these financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected
in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award,
as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes (continued)

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

f BRI (8)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands uses the
United States dollar as its functional currency. As the Group
mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the Company. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the Company
and certain overseas subsidiaries, which use currencies other
than RMB as their functional currencies, are translated into
the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the closing rate.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

24 FEETHRBEE)

S (&)

MEERIEREANKERRNIEE
BEESGFEBABELMEHEE
ST HIMAZ TIAERER - YIFR5
A AREENRERAFERNKEE
TRFEBEESFERAGBZA o
FHELZEBMNATFAWFR - AEBEET
FERANKBURAEFTENRZEH -

ARRNFESHSEMKL - £AET
ERYMEEER AN AKREEZRNF
BRPERZE - RARBBIERER
AZ2EH - RIMEHR KRR
ERARESINEBERDEEE R
ETHINBRARNEENBERRE
HRERNERRESANABNERE
% HEm M AEMEERERZFEAN
BT ERBE AR

PTEE A RO BEE 53 2 RA H b 2 T W s FE AR
W HE N R B RET - W EBINET
- HAb 2 E P =R T8I RH
BREAMERE D NIBRRER o

Ui S 5N ST B A T (T P S M B A
EAEEREAREEYTOATER
BRASNEBOEERAE Rl
[ 0 -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Contractual arrangements

The Group exercises control over Chongging Yugangao,
Chongging Yuecheng, Chongqging Electronic Information
College, Chongging Zhenzhi Real Estate Company Ltd.,
Chongging Jierui Education Technology Company Limited,
Chongging Fanyun Education Technology Company Limited,
Chongging Jiehan Education Technology Company Limited,
Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment Management Co., Ltd.,
Shouguang Bohai Experimental School and Laoling Minsheng
Education High School Company Limited (the “Structured
Entities”) and enjoys economic benefits of the Structured
Entities through a series of contractual arrangements.

The Group considers that it controls the Structured Entities
notwithstanding the fact that it does not hold direct equity
interests in the Structured Entities, as it has power over the
financial and operating policies of the Structured Entities
and receives substantially all of the economic benefits from
the business activities of the Structured Entities through
the contractual arrangements. Accordingly, the Structured
Entities have been accounted for as subsidiaries during the
year.

f BRI (8)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Current and deferred taxes

Significant judgement is required in interpreting the relevant
tax rules and regulations so as to determine whether the
Group is subject to corporate income tax. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a
series of judgements about future events. New information
may become available that causes the Group to change
its judgement regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities.
Such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the
period that such determination is made. Further details of the
current and deferred taxes are set out in note 10 and note
29 to the financial statements.

Put option liability

Pursuant to a share purchase agreement in relation to the
acquisition of Leed International, the Group is committed to
grant an option to the sellers to sell the remaining 49% of
the issued share capital of Leed International at the exercise
price based on a predetermined formula (the “Put Option”).
Significant judgement is required in determining whether
a present ownership interest exist in the shares that are
subject to the Put Option, so as to determine the accounting
treatment of the non-controlling interest and the Put Option
liability. Management considers that the Group has present
ownership interest over the remaining 49% interests in Leed
International since the exercise price of the Put Option is
determinable and the Group can exercise right over these
interests and enjoy the related return. This assessment relies
on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of
judgements. Further details of the Put Option liability are set
out in note 30 and note 34 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the year, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of
goodwill was RMB1,685,099,000 (2018: RMB1,685,099,000).
Further details are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

3.

f BRI (8)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of the year.
The non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. Impairment exists when the carrying value of
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit using key
assumptions such as budgeted sales amounts and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. As at 31 December 2019, the
total carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets/prepaid land lease payments that were
subject to impairment tests was RMB823,260,000 (2018:
RMB182,243,000).

Fair value of a loan to an associate included in other
non-current assets

The loan to an associate included in other non-current
assets has been valued based on a discounted cash flow
valuation technique as detailed in note 40 to the financial
statements. The valuation requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows and to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The fair value of the loan to an associate
included in other non-current assets at 31 December 2019
was RMB40,331,000 (2018: RMB43,810,000). Further details
are included in note 40 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of education
services in the PRC.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments
to be identified on the basis of internal reporting about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by
the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performance.
The information reported to the directors, who are the chief
operating decision makers, for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of performance does not contain
discrete operating segment financial information and the
directors reviewed the financial results of the Group as a
whole. Therefore, no further information about operating
segments is presented.

Geographical information

During the year, the Group operated within one geographical
segment because all of its revenue was generated in the PRC
and over 90% of its long-term assets/capital expenditure were
located/incurred in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical
segment information is presented.

Information about major customers

No revenue derived from services provided to a single
customer accounted for 10% or more of the total revenue of
the Group during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W& - i A R WaE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: BRI HTAT :
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Revenue from contracts with customers ZEF &4
Tuition fees 2% 927,489 570,630
Boarding fees FEE 77,947 52,513
1,005,436 623,143
Other income and gains H g A R Uz
Investment income from short-term B HEK AT EMNEHRE
investments measured at amortised cost ~ MIEAFEF AERTE
and short-term investments measured at ~ BYEHARE 2 I E WA
fair value through profit or loss 5,048 15,172
Rental income: HBWA
Fixed lease payments Ehalisi= RN 12,864 N/AZ 3
Variable lease payments AEEENRK 1,609 N/AZN3E A
14,473 2,926
Bank interest income RITHBUA 12,646 23,228
Interest income from a company controlled 3 & M8 A 7] R A% 5R P12 4
by the former shareholders of a AR EHA
subsidiary 14,573 -
Government grants (note 28) B AT Bh (M9 7E28)
— Related to assets —EEER 20,449 18,676
— Related to income — A B 65,326 59,682
Exchange gain, net b H W F 58 - 8,894
Management service income* IR AR AS - 54,173
Fair value gains on equity investment at BAFEFAB A RER
fair value through profit or loss BN ERZE - 296
Others HAb 6,503 6,837
139,018 189,884

The government grants are related to the subsidies received
from the local government for the purpose of compensating
the operating expenses arising from the schools’ teaching
activities and expenditures on teaching facilities. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to such
government grants recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

An analysis of revenue is as follows: (continued)

Pursuant to a share management agreement in relation to the
acquisition of Leed International, the entire management of Dianchi
College of Yunnan University and Dianjiao AM Co shall be entrusted
to Minsheng Vocational and Chongqging Huizhi with effect from the
effective date of the share purchase agreement until the completion
of the acquisition. In consideration for the management services
provided by Minsheng Vocational and Chongqging Huizhi, Minsheng
Vocational and Chongging Huizhi shall be entitled to 100% of the
net profit of Dianchi College of Yunnan University and Dianchi
Management during the term of the management agreement.
Further details of the acquisition are included in note 34 to the
financial statements.

Revenue from contracts with customers

(M)

Disaggregated revenue information

5. W& -
A

(i)

f BRI (8)

Hhug A R Uz ()
WEH DM < (48)

RpEWEBDEEEAENRNHERLE
B EEABELERIEEETR
AN HMEEEEEER TRERE
HEREEEE BENEEBEEX
FHEERRRETKAL -  EEIR
EREHFRERESZRINERR
% REREEBHRERNHR - RE
BEHENEEEESARUMERAAN
BB B A EETE A RIH100%% F
B EHERBRKENE - THBEHRY
SRR MIEER4

R E R

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT

Timing of revenue recognition Ui 2 T SR
Tuition fees recognised over time BERF IR RN ES 927,489 570,630
Boarding fees recognised over time  BEREHBEANEEE 77,947 52,513
1,005,436 623,143

The Group’s contracts with students for college and high
school education programmes and boarding services
can be terminated anytime without compensation. Tuition
and boarding fees are determined and paid by the
students before the start of each school year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M EE (8)
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. Ua - HMUA KR s ()
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EEAHWE ()
(i) The following table shows the amounts of revenue (i) TRINEN ARG RREERIL G
recognised in the current reporting period that were ABEFERVNEHEENKE
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of o

(iii)

the reporting year:

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETIT
Revenue recognised that was included FFrAREHAVIEHEENHNE
in contract liabilities at the beginning ~ FERUES ¢
of the reporting period:
Tuition fees B 486,752 291,710
Boarding fees FEE 47,345 30,125
534,097 321,835
No revenue recognised during the year related to FAMEERINBETEETKE
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior years. NEERWE -
Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance (i) PEERFAEANBTELNETHN
obligations for contracts with customers T EEIE
The contracts for education and boarding services are HERTBEREESLH BE—FE
for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS AT o I B BR B 75 3R &5 2 BI| 5615
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied EETTN WEMOSREZSE
contracts is not disclosed. AEBITAHN ZFERIELHEE -
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

f BRI (8)

BRBE AT R
AEBBBADEN TG, GEAAT

(crediting): BIRBERN
Notes 2018
Bt RMB’000
ARETFT
Depreciation of property, plant and W% BERSEBNE
equipment 13 117,246 71,720
Amortisation of other intangible assets E{‘@ﬂﬁ/é{ﬁ‘iﬁﬁ 16 1,716 1,241
Minimum lease payments under operating &&HEMNREHE
leases - 8,125
Lease payments not included in the VEFAMNEEETEN
measurement of lease liabilities kA NE 7,842 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (2018:  {F AR EEITE (2018
recognition of prepaid land lease FEREN L HEE
payments) FIH) 14 19,050 7,736
Auditor's remuneration Gl A 3,000 3,180
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERTFAX(TBEEE
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): =ME (MiFEs)):
Wages and salaries TERY® 267,499 146,097
Equity-settled share option expense R B RARER
3 3,773 2514
Pension scheme contributions BAReFHEHR(AE
(defined contribution schemes) ka2l 59,389 41,284
330,661 189,895
Foreign exchange differences, net* FRIE N R 1,776 (8,894)
Impairment of financial assets: EREERE :
Impairment of trade receivables B2 RN IERE 21 558 80
Impairment of financial assets included STATRNRIE - HibfE
in prepayments, other receivables and o kIR K B B EE A
other assets é%ﬂﬁ%ﬁi@ 22 12,901 47
Reversal of impairment of financial SEAFER A -« Efh e
assets included in prepayments, other Wiz Iﬁﬁﬁi\ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ’]
receivables and other assets CREERBERD 22 - (500)
13,459 (373)
Investment income from short-term BEEK AT ENR IR
investments measured at amortised cost & RIZAFET AR
and short-term investments measured at ~ sTEREHKREZKE
fair value through profit or loss WA (5,048) (15,172)
Bank interest income RITHEMA (12,646) (23,228)
Interest income from a company controlled & & Kf /& A &) R AR R A%
by the former shareholders of a AT EWRA
subsidiary (14,573) -
Fair value loss/(gain) from an equity % ’&WEJ)\?E“E’JHX%
investment at fair value through profit or BEANTEERE,/ (K
loss* @m)* 6,470 (296)
Fair value loss from a loan to an associate T AEMIEREIEE A%
included in other non-current assets RTEFENMHED
measured at fair value* AIERM AT ERE 5,130 -
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant BREW¥ « BE &R EE
and equipment, net BEB$E 388 140
Donation expense BERAX 886 834
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IR EE ()
6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. BRFLATER ()
* The exchange loss/(gain), net and fair value loss/(gain) from an * FEH BB (W) FrE Mg AT ERTA

equity investment at fair value through profit or loss are included in
“Other expenses, net”/“Other income and gains” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The fair
value loss from a loan to an associate included in other non-current
asset measured at fair value through profit or loss are included in
“Other expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

BROREREXTFEEE (W)
AR ERMEMEEKRERO]HM
FSOFRE T AR A R MES 1 e 5t
Hi3ERBEERiR A FE B
EMNAEE QR ERO D FEBRAG
A BE M EMEERERN E M
SOFFE A o

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T AEETF T
Interest on bank loans and other SRITE R EA RS
borrowings 22,893 8,925
Interest on sale and leaseback liabilities EREMEAEFL 18,750 1,197
1= (==
Interest on lease liabilities HERERE 38 -
=7 a6 (==
Interest on Put Option liability w0 HAHE BB 37,932 3,080
79,613 13,202
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. E=EMS
Details of directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed R EHRE] - FEQREGIZE383(1)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),(b),(c) and (@) () ) EMHEEAT(BEBEES
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of BRI ZERHE )R FE22 R 2 K
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of FEEEMLEFBNOT :

Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETFT

Fees we 825 603
Other emoluments: HEme :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 2B RBEWFZE 13,816 11,713

Discretionary bonuses BE M TEAL - -

Equity-settled share option expense IR E R IERESE A 8,674 10,594

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIHR 16 15

22,506 22,322

23,331 22,925
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share
option scheme of the Company, further details of which are
set out in note 32 to the financial statements. The fair value of
such options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

f BRI (8)

EE=M< (&)

FAETESFREARRBERESIE
HEAREERMHIRGERBEE - 25
- B IEE N BRI EI2 - &
ERBERE AR BEMERNAF
BETRE L B HEE - AEEMB®REK
PP BRRENAIXEEHTMEENR -

(a) BUFHTEE

REARBLIFATEENHN
|

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETTT

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny PR 3% A ST A 275 201
Mr. Yu Huangcheng REKTE 275 201
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew TR 275 201
825 603

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2018: Nil).

RER - HFEEMB I IENITE
EIEREN S (20184F « #E)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 R

235



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FIFE R &L (#8)
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EEMe (M)
(b) Executive directors (b)) BITEE

Salaries,
allowances Pension Equity-settled
Year ended S and benefits scheme Discretionary  share option Total
31 December 2019 2019512BN ALEE in kind  contributions bonuses expense remuneration

#id RER HREEEN
ENAE BuestEfS  BEMRL  BRERR [kt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARMTn  ARRTR  AR®Tn  ARBTx

Mr. Li Xuechun FEREHE 3,21 - - - 3,271
Ms. Zhang Weiping KETRT 6,222 - - 5,394 11,616
Mr. Zuo Yichen rRELE 2,411 - - 1,494 3,905
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MREL A 1,712 16 - 1,494 3,222
13,616 16 - 8,382 22,014
Salaries,

allowances Pension Equity-settled
Year ended BHE and benefits scheme  Discretionary  share option Total
31 December 2018 2018 12A31HILERE inkind  contributions bonuses expense  remuneration

G BER DIREEE R

EMNE REEIEHR  BEMRL  BRERR HeeE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR  ARETT  AREBTL  ARET:R

Mr. Li Xuechun FEERE 2,348 - - - 2,348
Ms. Zhang Weiping KETRL 5,532 - - 6,915 12,447
Mr. Zuo Yichen LRRILE 2104 - - 1,784 3,888
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MREL A 1422 15 - 1,784 3,221

11,406 15 - 10,483 21,904
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8.
(c) Non-executive director

Salaries,
allowances Pension
Year ended BZ2019%12831H and benefits scheme
31 December 2019 LLEE in kind contributions

#g - RER
ENflE BuEsBfR
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AR®TR

f BRI EE (8]8)

EEME (&)
(c) HFBITEE

Equity-settled

Discretionary  share option Total

bonuses expense remuneration
DRESEN

BEHA BREER Memsm

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AR®T R AR®T R

Ms. Li Yanping FRETRL 200 - - 292 492
Mr. Lin Kaihua HAEREE - - - - -
200 - - 292 492
Salaries,

allowances Pension Equity-settled
Year ended BZ2018512A318 and benefits scheme  Discretionary  share option Total
31 December 2018 IHERE inkind  contributions bonuses expense  remuneration

=4 AR E

BAE RREEHR
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  AREFT

WEMEL  BREER HeeE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARBTR  ARETR

Ms. Li Yanping FREFLL 307 - - 111 418
Mr. Lin Kaihua MAEELE - - - _ _
307 - - 111 418

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year and
no remuneration was paid to any of the directors by
the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

RERN BEEEHEXARBN
REMFHOLE - RAKER
BEREAESINFMERMA
R INA R B2 B 1K #) £ B S B B
e -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2019 include four (2018: four) directors,
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration of the remaining one (2018: one)
highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief
executive of the Group, during the year are as follows:

LEBREHFMES

HZE2019F12A31HILFE - AEH
TEE=EFbES BEMNE (20184 ¢
ME)EE - HEESFHMFEIEN L
X HIFE8 o FAHH—K(2018%F : —
ZIRMEALEEEMIIEFETHAR
M= EHE S WH MBI T ¢

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T RN R

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 2B REWMF 1,011 698
Pension scheme contributions IRIREFHEIHE R - 13
1,011 711

The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employee fell within the following band:

FEZNFTETRABNRSHE
BT T E -

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000/% 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7TE

1,500,000/ 7T 1 -

1 1

During the year, no highest paid employees waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration and no remuneration was paid
by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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10.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

The Company, Minsheng Education Company Limited,
Minsheng Education Services Company Limited, Minsheng
Education Development Company Limited, Minsheng
Vocational, Minsheng Secondary Education Company
Limited, Minsheng Education Technology Company Limited,
Minsheng Education Information Company Limited and Leed
International Education Group Inc. which were incorporated
in the Cayman Islands, are not subject to income tax.

Minsheng Education Development (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, Hong Kong College of Technology and Business
Limited and Leed International Education Group (China)
Limited which were incorporated in Hong Kong, were subject
to profits tax at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned
in Hong Kong during the year.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and the
respective regulations, except for the preferential tax rate of
15% under the Western Development Tax Incentive Scheme
available to Chongging Li'ang Education Services Company
Limited and Chongqging Pass Education Services Company
Limited, and the preferential rate of 20% under the Notice
Regarding the Implementation on Tax Reduction/Exemption
Policies for Small and Micro-sized Enterprises(SEMs) available
to Chongqging Huizhi Education Services Company Limited,
the companies of the Group which operate in Mainland China
are subject to Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 25%
on their respective taxable income.

f BRI (8)

10. FiB8%

7 IR e A S K B 2 7 E IR
B AR RS A R IR R

NS -

ARTE - REHEERLQR REAHE
RBEERARF REABERARLD
A REBEHE RETPEHEAR
N REMEMEARAR  REH
BEERERARMBEEEHEEERR
RARHNFHSEEEMKL - BEM
FrSHE -

RE%EBZER(BEB)BRAF - BF
TSR ARARMBDEREHEEE
(PR BRARRBEBFEMKL - H
REBEE 2 et ERBURFFRER
16.5% BT KBNS HL -

F PO AN 68 (B 3 A 7 708 7E AR sl SRR (E )
FERBUE A - BULF AL EAE R T BN
SRS -

REFPBEEEMBVENBEESR - &
EENSHERBBER AR MEE IR
HERGAR AR AR ER
TEREETEI T15%BENE R EEE
BHERGAR AR AT ZANENER
MR EEBERBOR R BERABEA T
HI20% BB RS - AEEE TR E
RELENRRIARS BB ERTIA
H25% M E MM BEMEH ([ RERE
Bil)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for
Promoting Private Education (the “Implementation Rules”),
private schools, whether requiring reasonable returns or not,
may enjoy preferential tax treatments. Private schools for
which the school sponsors do not require reasonable returns
are eligible to enjoy the same preferential tax treatment
as public schools. It is stated in the Implementation Rules
that the relevant authorities under the State Council may
introduce preferential tax treatments and related policies
applicable to private schools requiring reasonable returns.
During the year, no separate policies, regulations or rules
have been introduced by the authorities in this regard. In
accordance with the historical tax returns filed to the relevant
tax authorities and the compliance confirmation obtained
therefrom, except for Laoling Minsheng Education High
School Company Limited which was incorporated as a limited
company, the Group’s schools did not pay corporate income
tax for the provision of formal educational services and have
enjoyed the preferential tax treatments in 2019.

The major components of the income tax expense for the
Group are as follows:

10.

P& % (&)

BE(RRHERELZEBEH) (B
BEG)  ERERTHERDEE
BEWRES - PR Z BB FBE -
BRRE N EKESE I B WwA R
B REZZEANPRERBEMNRI
BEEECR - BIEGOIRTE - B%P AR
ERPI A ) E ESKES A 12 0] 3R 1 R 3% 2
RE AR BUE BBUEE RABEECR - F
A - I AR BRI I TE BE A ICR - &
AR A o RIBBEREBEREEIEE
ZHVANTL R R B8 R FTEVS OB 75 & #R T
o 720194 + BRIAB R AR A
LREREHESRAPEER ARSI - K
SEMSERWER IR ERHE RBH
MEMBHREBEEEF TS -

REEMREHAXNEZAX LD N
™

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®EFTT

Current — Mainland China BIVER — A [ K e
Charge for the year F A 7,273 15,448
Deferred (note 29) EIE (F17E29) 5,000 -
12,273 15,448
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M EE (1)
10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. A% (/&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit RAXRABREREDHE AR EZER
before tax at the statutory rates for the countries in which the AR ZETEMEAE 2B ANEF @
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled RAzHBERERERNEGE 2HIE
to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as follows: BERZERMT :
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®BFTT
Profit before tax B 35 A1 A 346,254 348,276
Tax at the statutory tax rates REEBEGFE ZMIA 109,245 94,400
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority & i ME M 2 MR = (2,393) (8,889)
Effect of withholding tax on earnings B B8 A B BB M sk TR ARG FE
remitted or anticipated to be remitted by ~ H&AF|ZFBINF 2 FE
subsidiaries 5,000 -
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BT FEAEBIBEEL 2
previous years R 820 3,565
Income not subject to tax BAERRIA (105,729) (80,787)
Income tax arising from deemed interest 18 {EFI B AEE Z TS
income 1,593 5,223
Expenses not deductible for tax LI i15 53 2,933 140
Tax losses utilised from previous years EHRAcBEFEMHIEEE (1,600) -
Tax losses not recognised RERZ BIEEE 2,404 1,796
12,273 15,448
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

11.

12.

DIVIDENDS

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the board of
directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMB2.59 cents per share totalling RMB104 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil). The proposed
final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
4,017,720,000 (2018: 4,017,720,000) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on
the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited BR4AHBEEHGR LT

11.

12.

’RE

REHEERRE  ETCEEREE
2019F 12 H31H L FEIREZE REIIR B
BRARM2595 - A HARK1048
B T(20185F - &) - AFE KRR
R EBAFARARIRRNIEERFAS
AN LBERFAER -

BATRERRESHAARGEESRET

BREXRBFIBBET QN GIESR AR
EFERMNRFANEBITE B ME
15 #4,017,720,000/% (20184 :
4,017,720,0000% )5t & -

BREERNDRIES ARHEE ARA
FEBAMFE - SHERERN L @AM
BB EERERBNAAZF
NEBEITEEREE - URESITENK
ERTA BT AR ST BRER
REEERTHTBBINETSE -



12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 12,
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share

are based on:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

BRAEBERESFEABGEERER
(&)

BRERANEERN 2 ETIRE -

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBETT
Earnings BF|
Profit attributable to owners of the parent, MBRFTEFRERNNEER
used in the basic and diluted earnings NIPASYNEIE ¥ DNl
per share calculation i A 341,607 332,839
Number of shares
il -4z
2018
Shares gl
Weighted average number of ordinary RRAEGRERERN 2 F
shares in issue during the year used in NE BEITE AR INE T
the basic earnings per share calculation H# 4,017,720,000 4,017,720,000
Effect of dilution — weighted average e e — TR INET
number of ordinary shares: BE
Share options fEAR i 2,813,137 4,993,230

4,020,533,137 4,022,713,230
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% BEKRZRE

Furniture
Motor and Computer Construction
Buildings  vehicles equipment equipment in progress Total

#7 AE GRRKE  EBERE ERIR @
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR  AR®Tn AR®TR

31 December 2019 2019%12H318
At 1 January 2019: 20195 1A18
Cost R 2,257,287 30,510 457,872 83,936 57,504 2,887,109
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (362,819)  (19,542)  (290,411) (56,343 - (729,115
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,894,468 10,968 167,461 27,593 57,504 2,157,994
At 1 January 2019 net of #2019%1A18

accumulated depreciation MR EiHE 1,894,468 10,968 167,461 27,593 57,504 2,157,994
Additions NE 38,616 1,909 50,116 10,009 175,853 276,503
Disposals & - - (231) (164) - (395)
Depreciation provided during the R & & & (FizE6)

year (note 6) (70,059) (1,934) (37,767) (7,486) - (117,246)
Transfers B8R 168,293 - 1,212 - (169,565) -
At 31 December 2019, net of 2019124318 -

accumulated depreciation MR EiHE 2,031,318 10,943 180,851 29,952 63,792 2,316,856
At 31 December 2019: 20195 12A318 :
Cost A 2,464,196 32,419 505,107 90,863 63,792 3,156,377
Accumulated depreciation 23t (432,878)  (21,476)  (324,256)  (60,911) - (839,521)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,031,318 10,943 180,851 29,952 63,792 2,316,856
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SRS MARMIEE (18)
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. M¥ -  BMERRZE(E)
Furniture
Motor and  Computer  Construction
Buildings ~ vehicles  equipment  equipment in progress Total

B B BLRKE Bk ERIR it
RMB00O ~ RMBO0O ~ RMBOO0  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL ARBTL ARETL ARETR  ARETR ARETR

31 December 2018 20185127318
At 1 January 2018: 201841418 ¢
Cost R 1,023,050 18,061 295,912 76,849 24110 1,437,982
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (144566)  (10,213)  (169,886) (47.179) - (371,844)
Net carrying amount EmFE 878,484 7,848 126,026 29,670 24,110 1,066,138
At 1 January 2018, net of #2018%1A18 -

accumulated depreciation MR EiHE 878,484 7,848 126,026 29,670 24,110 1,066,138
Additions NE 4,488 1,736 24,901 6,604 241,211 278,940
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) Y& K B2 &l (Fi3F34) 748,300 3,666 41,689 357 91,000 885,012
Disposals e - (49) (185) (142) - (376)
Depreciation provided during FRTERE (o)

the year (note 6) (30815) (2233  (29776)  (8,896) - (1720)
Transfers Bl 294,011 - 4,806 - (298,817) -
At 31 December 2018, net of 12018F 123318

accumulated depreciation R EGHE 1,894,468 10,968 167,461 27,593 57504 2,157,994
At 31 December 2018: 2018 12A31H ¢
Cost R 2,251,287 30,510 457,872 83,936 57,504 2,887,109
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (362,819)  (19,542)  (290411)  (56,343) - (729,115)
Net carrying amount EmFE 1,894,468 10,968 167,461 27,593 57,504 2,157,994
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Group’s buildings are situated in Mainland China.

Certificates of ownership in respect of certain buildings
of the Group located in Chongqging, Yunnan and
Shandong, the PRC with a total net carrying amount of
approximately RMB573,314,000 at 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB368,502,000) have not yet been issued by the relevant
PRC authorities. As at the end of the year, the directors were
still in the process of obtaining these certificates.

At 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s buildings with a
net carrying amount of approximately RMB96,820,000 (2018:
RMB291,177,000) were pledged to secure bank loans and
other borrowings (note 26).

Sale and leaseback liabilities/finance leases

The carrying value of the Group’s buildings and equipment
held under sale and leaseback liabilities/finance leases
as at 31 December 2019 was RMB232,563,000 (2018:
RMB258,603,000). Leased assets were pledged as security
for the related sale and leaseback liabilities/finance lease
payables.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

13. M3 ~ B R&RE (&)

REB 2 BFRNP B AR -

FEEE P B B 1 R 2 R AR SR B A A
EE EMRLRCETEFZMER
B ZSEFR2019F12A318 25K
HFERRELN A ARKS573,314,0007T
(20184 : AR ¥368,502,0007T) ° K
FR BERDERENSZSEMEEFE
HZEH °

MR2019F12A31H * AEEREFE
A#H) AR #96,820,0007T (20184 - A
R #291,177,0007L) & TEFE T
IR ARSRITER R E M ER (T
26) °

EXRCHAHE BEHE

MR2019F12A31H » AEEILE %[
el BEREFENEFTREBED
BRI E A A R %232,563,00070(2018
F: AR ¥258,603,0005t) HEE
EETEREARBESREEEE &
MRt EHEREA -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

14. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for items of property and
plant used in its operation. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire the leased land from the government with
lease periods of 50 to 70 years, and no ongoing payments
will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases
of buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 3
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Prepaid land lease payments
(before 1 January 2019)

f BRI (8)

14. HE
EEBEREBA

AEEERAREERHZENYELBE
BEHNEEAHN - BRAEL — KM
NHRARBFEERS T - HEA
B0E70% - MRFEZF LIMWBAE MK
R BASEES N ERFIE - ETH
HEBEN F223F - —KRiE © K
SRR AARNEBUIINATEER ST
HEBE -

(a) FEMNLHBETE
(20191818 A)

RMB’000
ARBT

Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 1201851 A1HMREE 337,750
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wb — Rl ff BB & &) 430,640
Recognised in profit or loss during RERRIBRER

the year (7,736)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 7201812431 HMERHEE 760,654
Current portion included in ETATER IR - HAEUGRIE R A EER

prepayments, other receivables and  BI1HEE%

other assets (15,869)
Non-current portion JERNERE &> 744,785
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

14. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

14. HE(HE)
AEFEEERBA (E)
(b) FRHEEE

AEEERNEREEENREE
NEBWT :

Prepaid

land lease
Buildings payments Total

FSLH
BF HEMIE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTTT ARBTT
As at 1 January 2019 A2019F1 818 2,175 760,654 762,829
Additions nE 2,137 - 2,137
Depreciation charge HEER (2,512) (16,538) (19,050)
As at 31 December 2019 A2019%12A31H 1,800 744,116 745,916

At 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s land with
a net carrying amount of nil (2018: RMB50,869,000) was
pledged to secure bank loans (note 26).

Subsequent to 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s
land with a net carrying amount as at 31 December
2019 of approximately nil (2018: RMB26,483,000) was
under judicial sale.
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F2019%12A31H » A & B B
mFE A Z(2018F: AR
50,869,0007T) #y & F L E FiK
HARBRITER(MI7E26) -

201912 A31H % - AEBR
2019 12A31HEEFELN AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M EE (1)
14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEEERARBA (E)
(c) Lease liabilities (c) HE&®E
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under FRAEERENEREEGIAGE
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the MITREMEREBET) REHM
movements during the year are as follows: T
2019
RMB’000
AR®T T
Carrying amount at 1 January 1 A1BEMEREE -
New leases HE 2,137
Accretion of interest recognised during & RERHF B RiE
the year 38
Payments BN (662)
Carrying amount at 31 December W12A31BMEREE 1,513
Analysed into: DT -
Current portion mENER D 1,072
Non-current portion FERBE S aa
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FIFE R &L (#8)
14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBERRHEA ()
(d) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (d) REERBRERNSELOT

leases are as follows:

PLRE)
RMB’000
AR%TR
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE
Depreciation charge of right-of-use CREEEREER
assets 19,050
Expense relating to short-term leases %2 HAFHE K& FIgRHE 8970 2019412 31 H ek
and other leases with remaining ZAERHEaBENEERX

lease terms ended on or before 31 (GTASHERKA)

December 2019 (included in cost

of sales) 4,690
Expense relating to leases of low-value KEEEEREMHEBRSZ GTATTEAR)

assets (included in administrative

expenses) 3,152
Total amount recognised in profit or R IEZRHERAEEE
loss 26,930
(e) Variable lease payments (e) ABMEEMRR
The Group has a lease contract for campus that contains KEBBE—MHREHEESLD &
variable payments based on the percentage of tuition FESIE—FHOINSE TEa4E
fees from a certain number of students. The rent-free BENENR - ZHEESY
period for the lease contract is from 2018 to 2022. 7 % 1 Hi B20184F £ 20224 -
Therefore, the variable payments for the lease contract It REEZHES DR AN
in current year was nil. RARE o
(f) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in note (f) HEMNRSRLEBRENIR
35(b) to the financial statements. w&MIEE35(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M EE (1)
14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessor AEEFEBHAEA
The Group leases certain of its buildings under operating AREBERBLSESHETHEERES TE
lease arrangements. Leases for buildings were negotiated FEFNVRESBENT —ER
for initial terms ranging from one to five years. Rental income FoFALRERHANEESRARA
recognised by the Group during the year was RMB 14,473,000 K ®14,473,0007T(2018%F = A R ¥
(2018: RMB2,926,000), details of which are included in note 2,926,0007T) © BEAFFIEH R I B
5 to the financial statements. FHEES ©
At 31 December 2019, the undiscounted lease payments MR2019F12A31H  AEEREFEE
receivable by the Group in future periods under non- MPET N B S E MR R K
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows: HAFS R R BE IR E R R T -
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR TT
Within one year —FNN 8,448 1,214
After one year but within two years —FRERMFA 1,215 884
After two years but within three years MEBBER=ZFA 558 138
After three years but within four years = FRERUFA - 95
10,221 2,331
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FIFE R &L (#8)
15. GOODWILL 15. B
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T ARETTT
Cost: B
At 1 January M1A1R 1,685,099 303,937
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) Us B BT B8~ B) (M9 5E34) - 1,381,162
At 31 December M®12A31H 1,685,099 1,685,099
Accumulated impairment: ZEHRE
At beginning and end of year REY R F R - -
Net carrying amount: BREFE -
At 1 January Mm1A1H 1,685,099 303,937
At 31 December M12H31H 1,685,099 1,685,099
Impairment testing of goodwill BB B
Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated FRERAFRENEESEZIATIR
to the following cash-generating units for impairment testing: SEABEMGETRMERR

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T RN D

Chongging College of Humanities, Science Z=E A XFHTEp7

and Technology 303,937 303,937
Leed International BiEEE 1,381,162 1,381,162
1,685,099 1,685,099
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Cash-generating unit of Chongging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology

The recoverable amount of the Chongging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology cash-generating unit
has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

f BRI (8)

15. BHE(H)
EERENH (E)
BEEANHEERRSELEN

ifﬁﬁ/\ﬁﬂﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁ%zfﬁi\ﬁiﬁﬁz—f

WEeBRDREERBEEFETEE
E o ZAtEEARAREREREAE

BREDFHE M EFAEHIE 23R

SRETEE - U N ABEBEUELIR
SRERANEEEETRENRNS
BEFE/E

2018

Sales amount (annual growth rate) HE
Gross margins (% of revenue)

Long term growth rate REPERE
Pre-tax discount rate AR =X

Cash-generating unit of Leed International

The recoverable amount of the Leed International cash-
generating unit has been determined based on a value in
use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The following describes each key assumption
on which management has based its cash flow projections

EMER (MW ZBDLL)

eRH(FEEREK) 6% 6%
59% 60%

3% 3%

17% 17%

BEEERSELEN

BB ReEL B2 P RS RE
Effﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁfﬁfﬁﬁr I REEE © %At
E/f??ﬁﬁﬁlftlmli&afﬁﬁt/ﬁﬁ/u%—ﬂ
FHECYBEEMBIE2HeRER
Al e U TRAEBEBAMERESRETRE
AAS A EETRENANSETIER

to undertake impairment testing of goodwill: A

2018
Sales amount (annual growth rate) HESH(FEERE) 15% 15%
Gross margins (% of revenue) EME(UHRE LB DLL) 56% 50%
Long term growth rate REPEREK 3% 3%
Pre-tax discount rate AT HT IR & 16% 16%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Cash-generating unit of Leed International (continued)

Budgeted sales amounts — The budgeted sales amounts are
based on the historical data and management’s expectation
on the future market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements, and expected market development.

Long term growth rate — The long term growth rate is based
on the historical data and management’s expectation on the
future market.

Pre-tax discount rate — The pre-tax discount rate reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit, which is determined
using the capital asset pricing model with reference to the beta
coefficient and debt ratio of certain publicly listed companies
conducting business in the PRC education industry.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the cash-generating unit and discount rate
are consistent with external information sources.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

15. BHE(H)

RIEBlE R ()
BEEEREELEY(E)

BEHESH —AEHERDNENESL
2R M EIE B YRR TGN AR ME
ﬁ‘i o

BEENE-BEEMBEENENE
EANEESERAEFER ARG
HFEME - W B RS E MFE
HImIB B REL L5

REERR -REEERRTIEARNEL R
BEREEBHARRMISNEHMET -

HATRRIR R — T AT AR IR R R ER B R B
AEBR R ER - IEMEREETE
BRI 2EBBEBNRETETEH
BETXAREBNAF LT ARNEE

REMRSELBUNTISERLUE
KM EIAE BRFAAE T OEERIMND
BRAORE e



16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2019
Cost at 1 January 2019, net of accumulated amortisation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

16. HbEFEE

Computer
software

BB
RMB’000
ARBF T

2019%12H831H
MR2019FE1 1B HIARA » 31

PR RETHESH 6,257

Addition =T 1,486

Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FREIHRAE (FisE6) (1,716)

At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31H 6,027
At 31 December 2019: M2019F12HA31H -

Cost B 14,023

Accumulated amortisation BT (7,996)

Net carrying amount BREFAE 6,027

Computer

software

BB

RMB’000

AREFIT

31 December 2018
Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated amortisation

2018%12H31H
20181 A1 B A - 31

PR RETHESE 3,380
Addition NE 4118
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) F SR (FREe) (1,241)
At 31 December 2018 7R2018F12A31H 6,257
At 31 December 2018: 2018 12H31H -
Cost DE 12,537
Accumulated amortisation REHHEE (6,280)
Net carrying amount BREFE 6,257
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

17. RBEEQTWRE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTT
Share of net assets NEEEFE 1,908 2,030
Particulars of the associate are as follows: A N TIREEBIT ¢
Percentage
Place of of ownership
Particulars of incorporation/ interest
equity/ registration and attributable
Name interest held business to the Group Principal activities
FsERE/ Bl TEERIEME
i R EMEEBS  EEEcEON ITEEH
Beacon International College PTE. LTD.* Ordinary shares  Republic of 25.6% Commercial schools offering
Beacon International College PTE. LTD.* Ll Singapore higher education programmes
i LAE RUSZHERD 2 BLER

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company.
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

information of the Group’s associate that is not individually
material:

Y ORBEBRKREKERBBZE K
BRmER

AEREBARAEEIFE

TREAAEE 2 EFHMFLIFERN

Share of the associate’s loss for the year
Share of the associate’s total

comprehensive income L]

DIEBERRFRNER
DEBE Rz 2E R

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBREEE N FHIRE 2

fRmAaE

investment in an associate

B NG 2 BEEEER
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
(153) (644)
(153) (644)
1,908 2,030
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

18. OTHER INVESTMENTS/ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE

f BRI (8)

18. HittiRE "DERBEHELE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARBETT
Current assets MENEE
Short-term investments measured at R SHRCAR T E /R HA
amortised cost (i) TE() 97,000 -
Non-current assets EMBEE
Equity investments measured at ZAT ARG EMRERE
— Fair value through other comprehensive  —iZAF{EFAEMEE
income (ii) ez (i) - 6,380
— Fair value through profit or loss (iii) — R A EF A B (i) 56,165 61,347
56,165 67,727
Non-current asset classified as held for sale 78 &#1EH SR IERE
BE
Equity investment at fair value through BATER ARMEE RS
other comprehensive income (ii) B AR FE 4% & (i) 3,984 -

(i) Short-term investments measured at amortised cost

Short-term investments measured at amortised cost are
wealth management products with guaranteed returns.
They were denominated in RMB. The investments were
held for collection of contractual cash flows and the
contractual cash flows of these investments qualify for
solely payments of principal and interest, and hence
they were measured at amortised cost.

(ii) Equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income represents an unlisted security.
The fair value of the unlisted security is measured using a
valuation technique with unobservable inputs and hence
categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. As
at 31 December 2019, the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income is reclassified to
asset held for sale according to the security transfer
agreement entered into with an independent third party
in December 2019. And it was categorised within level
1 of the fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2019.

(i)

(ii)

BBER A BRI RE

HEBHKAGFTENEHRERR
REOBOIETER - ZFEM
UARBFE - ERREDNRFAE
URRAEHNRSRE  MRFR
BENANREREABEBRRAK
REMF - AMIRHEHRAGTE ©

B FEGARMEE KR
BRE

BN ER A H M2 WS 8 AR
BIRERIIFELTES - ELTH
FRRAFEDEABTAIER2E
MEESETE AMBRAF
BEERE = - R2019F12A
318 - RBIE2019F 128 EH— 2 B
VEZFEANKESFERBE
ZATFEF AHE M2 RS’
BREEN»BABELEE
E - BEP2019F12A318 E A
NEEERNE—R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

18. OTHER INVESTMENTS/ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD 18. HtbRE D ERBSHEHEEE (H)
FOR SALE (continued)

(iii) Equity investment at fair value through profit or (iii) BRAFEFGTABZHRERE
loss
Equity investment at fair value through profit or loss Tﬁﬁ?@#)\E&E’JHﬂE&ﬁ?S
represents a listed security. The fair value of the listed BH LMESFNAFED
security is determined based on the closing price quoted %E(\\ /% BmBWmEET  HEF
in an active market. It is categorised within level 1 of the AR EEBRAE 4 -

fair value hierarchy.

19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19. HittERBEE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETTT

Prepayments for acquisition of land use e i £ b 50 FR R BV TR AN SRIE

rights 199,972 199,972
Prepayments for property, plant and ME - HE &R EETER K

equipment B 121,058 129,145
Long-term prepayments, other receivables REFFERTFRIA « HAbfEUER

and other assets HRHMEE 9,480 9,632
Loan to an associate — Hong Kong Nang A& QAR (FHL_H L&

Yan College of Higher Education Limited  FRBRAE)ER 40,331 43,810
Loan to a company controlled by the former a1} B A & &R A% B Fr 2 4l A

shareholder of a subsidiary BB 400,000 -

770,841 382,559

The loan to an associate (Hong Kong Nang Yan College of AEENR (BB CE FERARAD
Higher Education Limited) is unsecured, interest-free and BN ERAEEE . 28 - WIRENK
repayable on demand. Big o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued) 19.

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

f BRI (8)

HtERBEE (&)
B NRMFBENT

Percentage
Place of of ownership
Particulars of incorporation/ interest
equity/ registration and attributable
Name interest held business to the Group Principal activities
FsERE/ Bl TEERIEME
A Ba#E EfREBE  EERcANN IEXEH
Hong Kong Nang Yan College of Higher Membership Hong Kong 0%™* Education institution providing
Education Limited* KEAT BA higher education

BERCELERARLA
* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

**  The Group’s subsidiary, Hong Kong College of Technology and
Business Limited (“‘Hong Kong Technology and Business”), is
one of the two members of Hong Kong Nang Yan College of Higher
Education Limited (“Hong Kong Nang Yan”). Pursuant to the
Articles of Association of Hong Kong Nang Yan, no portion of the
income and property of Hong Kong Nang Yan shall be transferred
directly or indirectly, by way of dividend, bonus, or otherwise, to
any member of it. Hong Kong Technology and Business is entitled
to appoint four members to the school management committee of
Hong Kong Nang Yan which represent 29% of the voting rights.

20.

20. INVENTORIES

RUREHE 2 HERE

“ RKEBZHBRAREEIEERERA
BEBIEER]) EERCELE
RAERAR(TEBEIZDMEKE QT
2 REBEFBEC2HEGEEME
BRERCZBARMEREURE - &
M EmFREESEEEETHIR
RERR - BB IHBREERE B
CHEREEZEGLANEKE @
ERIERER29% °

FE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETTT

Consumables SHRE @

1,408 1,381

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 R

259



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZEWRNE

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREEFTT

Trade receivables 2 5 IE 9,897 5,510
Impairment RIE (96) -
9,801 5,510

The Group’s students are required to pay tuition fees and
boarding fees in advance for the upcoming school year,
which normally commences in September. The outstanding
receivables represent amounts related to students who have
applied for the delayed payment of tuition fees and boarding
fees. There is no fixed term for delayed payments. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified students,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting year, based on the transaction date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

REENSBLEFAN TESFNEE R
EEE  BE-RNNARK - WARX
NEMFAREE AR TEEHRRBE R
EEENSLMERNSRE - LENRAL
EREEHR - NREBBRIEHIRX
YRR - WREEERR - SRE
BEEEHETRMER - EX L3O
RASENE S REFIES R A BUEER
MOBMMNBEE - MY BEEREERLRE
oo REEIWESEE 5 R WGIRAER
LHEMER MR EMERER - B S
FEYRIBRRE °

BEREEER - 125 AHRNGE
BEBHE - BSRUEIEOER ST
T -

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T AR®EF T

Within 1 year —F R 9,428 5,162
110 2 years —EWF 370 309
2 to 3 years W& = 3 39
Over 3 years ZF - -
9,801 5,510
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21.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

M EE (1)
21. ESEWFEIE(E)
o RKWFIERESBRENZ SN
™

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREEFTT

At beginning of year F4 - -
Impairment losses (note 6) WEEE (FI5E6) 558 80
Amount written off as uncollectible B 85 73 A Uk B K08 (462) (80)
At end of year FR 96 -

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for the
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables. Trade receivables from students are considered
to be credit-impaired when the students drop out from the
tuition programmes and are assessed individually for lifetime
ECL provision.

The Group assessed the expected loss on trade receivables
from students grouped based on the ageing of the trade
receivables, considering the historical default experience
and forward-looking information, as appropriate. The Group
uses debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment for students
in relation to its college and high school education because
these customers consist of a large number of students with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
students’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The loss rate applied is minimal.
Generally, trade receivables are written off when the student
drops out from the tuition programmes and are not subject
to enforcement activity.

REE e ARG LT A BB B 7% S 22 RIS
OATRA Z FHEME BB R IR B - %R
RFRATA B 2 RWSCRR A2 B HER
B - WBLERES - AIREBEENE SRR
RBRRASEEERE - RIRER EEF G
EHEHEREERRE

AEEFAEREBENE 5 RIFIRNTEH
EEE - JIRIEE S RUGIENRERETS
M WERBEEDTENATIEIEE R (0
R - ARERESARKRAER LD
EP%&’E%&EEWE?WE : l*ET)%/—\ KUK - &%

EFPRESZALBRRFENSELE - K
i‘%%ﬂiiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬁ IEE’J £ FTIER
BIEREMN - —RIBERT - EELRER

B 5 RS
RE

IR T LA H N B R AT TR AT T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

ASSETS

22. ANRE - HtBEBRHREREMEE

Notes 2019 2018

BiEE RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETFT

Prepaid expenses FEfRFAX 3,313 4,489

Prepaid land lease payments (current TR+ ERIE

portion) (BRER) 14(a) - 15,869

Advance to staff BB THIE 3,959 4,074

Advance to third parties BNE=H 11,569 11,434
Prepayment for acquisition of a private WE—FRRERKTE

school IR 18,360 -

Interest receivables FEU T2 6,233 -

Deposits e 7,679 10,219

Other receivables H A fE WK IE 36,260 17,137

87,373 63,222

Impairment allowance BERE (13,137) (236)

74,236 62,986

Except for certain receivables for which the counterparty
failed to make the demanded repayment and the Group has
made a 100% provision (“default receivables”), the other
balances will be settled within 12 months and has no historical
default, the financial assets included in the above balance
were categorised in stage 1 for measurement of ECLs at the
end of the reporting period. In calculating the expected credit
loss rate, the Group considers the historical loss rate and
adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data. During the
current year, except for the default receivables, the Group
estimated the expected loss rate for the other receivables
is minimal (2018: minimal).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

BREFHARRERERAAEBE2H
TIREENE TR RIAE( #E X EK
MIE N Hp SR 128 A N4
B BT EA RS o lAERRFT
BEMERHEERBEAREHRTER
HEEBBNEIRE - RitEBEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 22.
ASSETS (continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
fact that the Group’s deposits and other receivables relate
to a large number of diversified counterparties, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
deposits and other receivable balances. Other receivables
are non-interest-bearing. The movements in the provision for
impairment of deposits and other receivables are as follows:

f BRI (8)

BANRE  HtBERRERAEMEE

(&)

7R R B B M R 3 EOR S UGROR
BVERRRIES - URBEERR - BRER
ENERHSREREETHEHN - EN
AEERZES R EMRUGIRS kAR
FEAMDAEE T - MABEKREE
RfagEp - REBWESEIZS M HAM
FEW IR SRS B X AHE M R R EAME
PRI » A RUWFIAENGE - e M
BB RREN B EEE T

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TR AREEFTT

At beginning of year F9) 236 736
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BRI EEE (M5I6) 12,901 47
Reversal (note 6) R (H5Ee) - (500)
Amount written off as uncollectible B s A AU B R - (47)
13,137 236

The individually impaired other receivables relate to
counterparties that were in financial difficulties or were in
default in payments and no receivable is expected to be
recovered.

&R R B /Y Bt R M R IR T D 3k 8 B 15 IR
B SORBEN SRR F 07 M (EH B IRHAE
WA S T RI R [E] o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R ()
23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND SHORT-TERM 23. BERBITEGBRIRBERETENE
INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST AND R ERZREIRTEES

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®BTT
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTAARR 1,308,361 1,508,144
Short-term investments measured at PR B K e #5 R SR 1T B 4 8
amortised cost with licensed banks in SHRK ANETEM R EIIRE
Mainland China (note 18) (FF5E18) 97,000 -
1,405,361 1,508,144
Less: Do
- Restricted bank balance — R HIERTTEE B - (2,324)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEEY 1,405,361 1,505,820
Cash and cash equivalents denominated LA R7 E¥HERIR S MR
in: LEEY
- RMB —AR® 1,218,173 1,480,138
- Hong Kong dollars (HK$) —7B7T 96,765 2,808
— United States dollars (US$) —E7T 90,423 22,874
Short-term investments measured at amortised cost as 20195128310 H 1% # 35 B 4N =1
at 31 December 2019 represented investments in wealth EMEEHIEEER P B AREEREIR
management products purchased from licensed banks in TEENETER B2BAEARK
Mainland China, with an aggregate amount of RMB97,000,000. 97,000,0007T, °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND SHORT-TERM

INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST AND
RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’'s cash and
cash equivalents denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB1,218,173,000 (2018: RMB1,480,138,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations imposed
by the relevant PRC government authorities or the terms
and conditions set out in the relevant government grant
agreements, proceeds from government grants are required
to be deposited into designated bank accounts and restricted
to be used in the relevant projects. As at 31 December 2019,
such balances were RMB38,018,000 (2018: RMB42,573,000).

f BRI (8)

3. RERBITERRRBHENLTENE

HRERZRERITEER ()

MR2019F12H831H A& B MR &
RESEBMUAARETE  BAR
#1,218,173,0007C (20184 : A R ¥&
1,480,138,0007T) - ARBTAIER K
BRAHMER - Al - BREBEPERED
CHNEE BIGHI D R(HERE - SIERMNE
EEBRT) AEBEARTBBERE
RITHG AR IR B H M E W UETTIN
PEZER o

TR IRITHR 2 RE B RITERAN X
HF BREREUMB o SRITAESR T FRIL
BIHENCEE B FEMNRTT -

BIBEEETFRBNE RERNE BE
BERKNBEABTHD S BRI
PR BITHBI e MBRIEEAT N
RIEEHRITELPUMEEEB/IBERE
> R2019F12A31H - B@&E% A
AR ¥38,018,0007T(2018%F : AR
42,573,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24, BHBEE

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: AHEEFBIOT -
£R RTS8 31 December
2019 2018
20194 20184F
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT

Short-term advances received from BES S GO SEER YRR
customers

Tuition fees BE 535,025 486,752
Boarding fees FEE 51,826 47,345
586,851 534,097

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
from students in relation to the proportionate service not yet
provided. The Group receives tuition and boarding fees from
students in advance prior to the beginning of each academic
year. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised proportionately
over the relevant period of the applicable program. The
students are entitled to the refund of the payment in relation
to the proportionate service not yet provided.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T
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25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

25. HitfENRERETEM

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARBTTT
Accrued bonuses and other employee FEFTTEAL R E bR B &R
benefits 59,444 50,553
Payables for catering services JE 1~ 2 8K R 75 5k 18 29,007 13,794
Payables for purchase of property, plant ~ BEBE¥W¥ « ME MR ENE
and equipment R 199,092 158,290
Payables for management fee ERBRENKIE 24,313 68,469
Miscellaneous expenses received from BN 2 A ) R TR B S
students (note (i)) CGEI0) 40,300 32,502
Other tax payable H At RS I8 2,110 1,131
Payables for audit fee FErrERENIE 1,820 3,960
Payables for interest JEFIE 7,577 6,426
Consideration payable for business EBastrNRE
combination 91,730 91,730
Payables to companies controlled by FES — KM B A B T IR
the non-controlling shareholders of a SRS A RIHI IR
subsidiary - 193,638
Other payables* HAth &~ 51> 80,577 76,856
535,970 697,349

* Payable of RMB20,000,000 (2018: RMB20,000,000) to the non-
controlling shareholder of Chongqging Electronic Information

College is included within other payables.

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on

demand.

Note:

(i) The amounts represent the miscellaneous expenses received from
students which will be paid out on behalf of students.

* MEEEEBESRIFERBEIZAH
BRI AR 205 & t(20184F © A
R¥20E BIT) Bt AR RER FOE o

HittERNRIBRRE  WIREREE -

GEE

() SERAWMBAMMERZ - BRBAL
XA e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

26.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AHEEAER A

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

26. FTERTREAMMER

2018
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity  RMB'000 (%) Maturty  RMBO0O
BRAIE%) HH  ARETT Gkt 8 ARETT
Current L]
Bank loans - secured RITER-BHER 5.3-6.5 2020 111,000 5365 2019 49,600
Current portion of long- term  RERSR{TE Z KA
bank loans - secured S -HHA 6.5-7.1 2020 23,400 4971 2019 51,500
Current portion of long- term R EARITE ZR&0ED
bank loans - unsecured HEn — mEH 2.5-4 2020 69,873 - - -
Other loans - unsecured Hip B - BIEH 15-24  on demand 6,144 4824 2019 40,144
BRER
Current portion of long-term R EABAFEZ&0ED
government loans - secured &5 - BHE 3.5 2020 2,000 - - -
Current portion of lease REAEMHNEHH
liabilities (note 14(c)) 7 (HEE14(c)) 3.6 2020 1,072 - - -
Current portion of sale and &4 B & E&E
leaseback liabilities/current #3555 /B A
portion of finance lease ERENANE
liabilities i) 6.5-7.7 2020 107,591 6.5-7.7 2019 103,391
321,080 244,635
Non-current JEEE
Bank loans - secured RITER-BHER 6.5-7.1 2021 4,000 6571 2020-2021 57,400
Bank loans - unsecured RITEHN - BIEH 254 2021-2024 278,583 - - -
Government loan - secured  BUFEH 5% 35 2032 28,000 35 2032 30,000
Lease liabilities (note 14(c)) TE&E
(BHE14(c) 3.6 2021 44 - - -
Sale and leaseback liabilities/ &£ &(E/
finance lease liabilities ERERR 6.5-7.7 2021 19,108 6577  2020-2021 126,699
330,132 214,099
651,212 458,734




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

PRI EE ()
26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 26. FTERITREMEBR(E)
(continued)
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBETT
Analysed into: DT -
Bank loans repayable: JEEEIRITER
Within one year or on demand —F 7 N EK 204,273 101,100
In the second year B 73,871 53,400
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEFHF  HEMF
BEEA 208,712 4,000
486,856 158,500
Other borrowings repayable: HithfEERER
Within one year or on demand —F 2 ARIREK 6,144 40,144
Government loan repayable: JEEERTER
Within one year or on demand —F 7 AFIREK 2,000 -
In the second year B4 2,000 2,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=EFHF HEWRF
BEEA 6,000 6,000
Beyond five years =g Ak 20,000 22,000
30,000 30,000
Lease liabilities: HERE :
Within one year or on demand —F 2 NRIREK 1,072 -
In the second year E_F 441 -
1,513 -
Sale and leaseback liabilities/finance E%LAEE TEN
lease payables: BEMEE :
Within one year or on demand —F 2 NI EK 107,591 103,391
In the second year B4 19,108 107,591
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EFERF  HEMF
BREER - 19,108
126,699 230,090
651,212 458,734
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

26.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Group’s loan facilities amounting to US$50,000,000 (2018: nil),
of which RMB349,354,000 (2018: nil) had been utilised as at the
end of the reporting period.

Certain of the Group’s bank loans and government loans are
secured by mortgages over the Group’s certain property, plant and
equipment and certain leasehold lands, which had an aggregate
carrying value at the end of the reporting period of approximately
RMB96,820,000 (2018: RMB342,046,000).

The carrying value of the Group’s buildings and equipment
held under sale and leaseback liabilities/finance leases as at 31
December 2019 was RMB232,563,000 (2018: RMB258,603,000).
Leased assets were pledged as security for the related sale and
leaseback liabilities/finance lease payables.

Except for the 2.5%-4% unsecured bank loan which is denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, all borrowings are in RMB.

The Group’s other loans are unsecured, bear interest at rates
ranging from 15% to 24% (2018: 4.8%-24%) and are repayable
on demand.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited BR4AHBEEHGR LT

26. FTERTREAMMERE)

GEX

(a)

NEBEMERTEEA50,000,0003%
7T (2018F : F)  EFARK
349,354,0007C (20184 : &) DR
HHIREA o

REBEME THRITERRBINERBHASE
BEETYE BELREBEARETHES
KRR - ERREHREEEEN A
AR#96,820,0007T (20184 : AR
342,046,0007C) °

R2019F12A318 » AEEEE%RBA
BfE/MEMERENEFRRENED
HEAARE232,563,0007T (20184 : A
R#0258,603,0007T) - HEEED THE
IEAIBRSEEEEE EANRERE
R -

$2.5%-4% EEIMIRITER A TTEHE
S FRBETIGUARKERHE -

REBHEMERAEER  FEB15%E
24% (20184 : 4.8%E24%) 2 /A
REKER -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

27. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 27.

The Group leased buildings and equipment in the year ended
31 December 2019 and the leases were classified as finance
leases prior to IFRS 16 becoming effective on 1 January 2019
and had remaining lease terms of 2 to 3 years.

At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease
payments under finance leases and their present values
were as follows:

f BRI EE (8]8)

EAmERE

HZE2019F12A31HILFE - AEH
MABFREE  BEEER201951
R1B BRI RS ERFE16HERZ
Al DEEAMERE Mg —==
¢o

MR2018F12A31H » BIEREHRERE
NORRFERS @B ERENT ¢

Present value
Minimum  of minimum

lease lease
payments payments
BK BIK
HeRR HEAREE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Amounts payable: FERTRIA
Within one year —F R 118,341 103,391
In the second year B4 115,208 107,591
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EFERTF  HEMF
BEEA 19,613 19,108
Total minimum finance lease payments BEHSSERSBHE 253,162 230,090
Future finance charges RAEBEE A (23,072)
Total net finance lease payables FENmERE FERRE 230,090
Portion classified as current liabilities NERREBBERD
(note 26) (FfizE26) (103,391)
Non-current portion (note 26) EmENE N (M5E26) 126,699
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

28. DEFERRED INCOME

28. EIEWA

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®FTT

Government grants I T 4 By
At beginning of year F4) 301,964 288,541
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) U BB B~ 7] (Ki7E34) - 19,299
Grants received BB 80,094 72,482
Charged to profit or loss (note 5) T ABE(MEE5) (85,775) (78,358)
At end of year FR 296,283 301,964
Current BN EH 22,894 19,937
Non-current JEBNHEA 273,389 282,027
296,283 301,964

These government grants are related to the subsidies received
from the local government for the purpose of compensating
the operating expenses arising from the teaching activities
and expenditures on teaching facilities of the Group. Upon
completion of the operating activities and the related projects,
the grants related to the expense items will be recognised as
other income directly in profit or loss and the grants related to
an asset will be released to profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

AZERNHERASERBERDELR
REB R MYBERBAXIEHERE
BT ERE - LA R
TEREIE B SeRk & - BRI SIA B ARRIRO M
PeRERMNMERERSEMKA - M
HEERMNMYTREEMEENTE
FHAME R F R AR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M EE (1)
29. DEFERRED TAX 29. IRERIIE
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHELE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are FREEHEBEZEHNT -
as follows:
Withholding
taxes
s
RMB’000
AR¥TR
At 1 January 2019 201951 A1H -
Deferred tax charged to the statement of profit or loss FRFTABRKRARLENIE
during the year (note 10) (Pf¥zE10) 5,000
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2019 #2019F 12 A31 B A IELEF
HEERR 5,000
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% BER B EAMEHE - FEPBIARRERK
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign T HSNEIRE R ERINEIREE TR
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established BAZBMI0%BIM % E 52008
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 FI1A1ERBAER - B#EAR2007F12
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December RA31R&BIRF] o fis B K P 2 HNEY
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there RWEEMERNEERE 2 EFTBMBIK
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction 4 AR ARENENREE - g
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate EEME  BAREARE10% - At - &
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes SEEAREARPTEKREKRINMEAR
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established E15t20084F 1 A1 B A& & 4 00 & FI FT 5
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 IRE AR B BN TE R

January 2008.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

29. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recognised relevant
deferred income tax liabilities of RMB5,000,000 (2018: nil) on
earnings anticipated to be remitted by certain subsidiaries
in the foreseeable future. Other than the amount recognised
in the consolidated financial statements, deferred tax has
not been recognised for withholding taxes for the earnings
of approximately RMB1,544,620,000 at 31 December 2019
(2018: RMB1,339,390,000) expected to be retained by the
PRC subsidiaries and not to be remitted to a foreign investor
in the foreseeable future. In the opinion of the Directors, such
remaining earnings will be retained in Mainland China for the
expansion of the Group’s operation, so it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such remaining earnings in
the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of RMB1,406,000 (2018: RMB1,488,000),
which are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The Group also had tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB17,267,000 (2018: RMB9,163,000), that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.
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29. EFEHIE (&)

EEHELE(E)

M2019F12A318  AE B & T
M@ A R TEE S R AT R A 2R BE I Y
BAIEREAECHEHAGEARKE
5,000,0007C(20184F : &) o RINER &
B TSR SR MY I AN - 7A20194F 12
A318 - W& E M E QA FEER
BRG] R RETIINEIREER
AR HTEMH 4 A R ¥1,544,620,000
7L(20184F + AR ¥1,339,390,0007T )
BRELHIE EERR - BEKTR
FEBETEAERARBEAAERS
B BAIZERBARRA] AR ATaE
"D IREFHR TR o

R2019F12A31H - AEBEBBE
A H) I8 B 1B R A R 1,406,0007T
(20184 : AR#1,488,0007T) & AJ &
PR EA R DA SE IR BB AR B E
B o AN B B R RE IR E AT
TE 518 AR %17 ,267,0007T (20184 -
AER#9,163,0007t) © BREEFIIBEE B
R—Z2RFNER  ATAREHEAEE
AR c BRZEMBARIEELE
B—EREH - BRAVEA R ] AE
MR EE BN R EF - A&
ZEBBRERELEHEEE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

30. PUT OPTION LIABILITY 30. FHHARKERE
The financial liability for the Put Option is recognised at the RodHENS R B E R R L B
present value of the expected amount payable of RMB981.5 BOBPREZEHENFTEARE
million upon exercise of the Put Option assuming that the 981,500,000t IR EMR > & F &R
purchase will take place in the fifth year after the effective LEEERNEHAUNEBEEEEMNR
date of the share purchase agreement in relation to the PEEMEERB PRI ERAFE
acquisition of Leed International. Such present value is Ao BRAREKREIAERL475% (FE A
calculated as RMB819.3 million (2018: RMB781.3 million) RIFOTAMGOHEERNZ)HER/AR
with a discount rate of 4.75% (the published People’s Bank #819,300,0007C(20184F : A R ¥
of China benchmark rate). Further details are set out in notes 781,300,0007T ) ° # — ZFFIE SN B
3 and 34 to the financial statements. &M TE3 R34 ©
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BAK
Shares R
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ETTT
Authorised: JETE ¢
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of R2019F12H31HAY
US$0.00001 each as at 31 December 10,000,000,000% &
2019 (2018: 10,000,000,000 ordinary A% E1E0.000013€ 7T
shares) # & imAR (20184 -
10,000,000,0000% & 38
) 747 747
Issued and fully paid: BT RBRIR
4,017,720,000 ordinary shares as at 31 2019 12H31HAY
December 2019 (2018: 4,017,720,000 4,017,720,000% & i@ A%
ordinary shares) (20184 :4,017,720,000
PR AL 307 307
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

31.

32.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Shares (continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital
is as follows:

31. BA(&)
KR (&)
RARIRAZEBHENT
Number
of shares
in issue  Share capital

BEBITRHE A RN
RMB’000
ARBFTT
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, 720181 H1H ~ 20184
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 12H31H - 2019F1H1H
K2019%12H31H 4,017,720,000 307
Share options BIRE
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share RATIEREHEET 2| LR TR ET 23417 AR

options issued under the scheme are included in note 32 to
the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. The Scheme became effective on 2 March 2017
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal
value of a share; (ii) the Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options;
and (iii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited BR4AHBEEHGR LT

32.

RHFHIREIIN B IR M EI2A -

RS

RARELERETSI([5T8)) -

R RMEREBEKINES {/Eﬁ,ﬁxa’]
BERSEERTYNE REE - 5EIR
20173A2E AN » BRIFERITEUB
B3] - BHZABRRRRELERTF -

BRENTEEHESSET 1E|TH
ERANTHRSEBROEE (AR

B 1D R BB AR AE R ) B Hﬂ&ﬂﬁ%xﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂéﬁ
F P RGINDARBIR DR BEERE B H
RAXSBEBIRFHKRTE -



32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(i) Movements in share options

The following share options were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI EE (8]8)

32. BRAERTE (&)
(i) BRELZE

FAFHEIIA T AT BRE = ARTT
15

2019 2018

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options

hn¥EFG 1T nkETFHTT
EE BREIE =B BEREHE

HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share '000
BRET T FRETT T
At 1 January M1A1H 1.51 62,750 1.39 35,000
Granted during the year FR#E 1.42 2,000 1.66 27,750

Exercised during the FRITRE

year - - -
At 31 December ®12A31H 1.51 64,750 1.51 62,750
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M EE (8)
32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. BERRESE ()
(ii) Outstanding share options (i) RITEERE
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share R EER B ARITEERERNTT
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period FERITEENT -

are as follows:

31 December 2019 2019412A31H
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE* THES
’000 HK$ per share
aavi) sRET
7,000 1.39 31 August 2018 to 30 August 2023
201848 A31HE 202348 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2019 to 30 August 2024
201998 A31HE 202448 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2020 to 30 August 2025
20208 H31HE2025F8 H30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2021 to 30 August 2026
202148 A31HE2026%8 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2022 to 30 August 2027
202298 A31HE202748 A30H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2019 to 26 August 2024
20198 A27HE2024%F8H26H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2020 to 26 August 2025
20208 A27HE=2025%F8 H26H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2021 to 26 August 2026
20218 A27HE2026%F8H26H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2022 to 26 August 2027
20228 A27HE2027%F8H26H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2023 to 26 August 2028
2023F 8 A27H=E2028%F 8 H26H
400 1.42 19 August 2020 to 18 August 2025
202048 A19H £2025%48H18H
400 1.42 19 August 2021 to 18 August 2026
2021468190 £202658 418H
400 1.42 19 August 2022 to 18 August 2027
2022F 8 A19R £2027F8H18H
400 1.42 19 August 2023 to 18 August 2028
202398 A19H£2028%8H18H
400 1.42 19 August 2024 to 18 August 2029

202458 H19H £E202948 A 18H

64,750
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

(ii) Outstanding share options (continued)

31 December 2018

Number of options

Exercise price*

32. BRAERTE (&)
(i) RITEBREE)

2018F12HA31H

Exercise period

BREHE THEE* TES
’000 HK$ per share
T4 BRET

7,000 1.39 31 August 2018 to 30 August 2023
201848 A31HE 202348 A30H

7,000 1.39 31 August 2019 to 30 August 2024
2019 8 A31HE2024%F8 H30H

7,000 1.39 31 August 2020 to 30 August 2025
20208 A31HE2025F8 A30H

7,000 1.39 31 August 2021 to 30 August 2026
202148 A31HE2026%F8 A30H

7,000 1.39 31 August 2022 to 30 August 2027
2022F 8 A31HE=202748 A30H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2019 to 26 August 2024
20198 A27HE2024%F8H26H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2020 to 26 August 2025
20208 A27HE2025%8 A26H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2021 to 26 August 2026
202198 A27HE2026%8H26H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2022 to 26 August 2027
2022F 8 A27HE2027F8 H26H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2023 to 26 August 2028
2023%F8 A27HE2028%8H26H

62,750

*

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment

in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes

in the Company’s share capital.

* ERESTTEE R RS AT BT
SRR A O H At X8 U B B 4F L E

2 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(ii) Outstanding share options (continued)

At 31 December 2019, the share options outstanding
under the Scheme were divided into five tranches at
their respective grant dates. Generally, the first tranche
vests one year after the grant date while the remaining
tranches vest in the subsequent four years each. There
is a five-year exercise period for each share option
granted under the Scheme.

At 31 December 2019, the Company had 64,750,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 64,750,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital
of HK$5,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,000)
and share premium of HK$97,550,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB87,383,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 64,750,000 share options outstanding
under the Scheme, which represented approximately
1.6% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.
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32. BRAERTE (&)
(i) RITEERBAHE (&)

M2019F12A31H > st 2B\ T~
RITEEREZRESZEMNRLEA
HosRMELK - BEME © &
—MWARBREBHRE—F5ES -
HH XAl EHEBUESFH
BosrEETRESERENSS
REMITEL -

2019128318 » A& B E
I8 T AR 17 5 B IR 7 /64,750,000
e BMBARABRFHR AL
o BEIOTERTEBERESS
B 1 2%64,750,000/% A~ 1 7] I @
A% - 200 A% A85,00078 ST (#E & R
4 AR ¥E4,0007T) A K IE D 5 &
97,550,000 L(HE RO AR
#87,383,0007T ) (KRB FH1TH
%) o

RZEVHHRERENEZA K
NAFFEIE T ARITHEERE
64,750,000 * 1E AN R AR % H
EEITIRINAI1.6% °



32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(iii) Fair value of the share options

The fair value of the share options granted during the
year was HK$1,380,000 (HK$0.69 weighted average
each) (2018: HK$24,194,000), and the Group recognised
a share option expense of HK$14,013,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB12,447,000) (2018: RMB13,108,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant
using the popular binomial tree model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the
model used:

f BRI (8)

32. BRAERTE (&)
(iii) B E LR -FE

FABRELERENATEAR
1,380,000/ JT( & 17 hn # F 13
A F B 50.69% Jt ) (20184 :
24,194,000/ 7T) * AEBREZE
2019 12A31H It FEEREK
B S 14,013,000 7T (B E R4
A R #12,447,0007T ) (20184 :
AER#13,108,0007T) °

FARLUREZERERENR
FEARLBMEARTN IR
AEAEF BRBRER LA
IR IR S AR 1 - TR AR
T E A A BUE

Dividend vield (%) AR 5% (%)

Volatility (%) I8 (%) 48-51
Risk-free interest rate (%) =R E (%) 1.05-1.09
Exit rate (%) R E (%) -
Exercise multiple TEREE 2.2

2018
Dividend vyield (%) AR B R (%) -
Volatility (%) TR (%) 48-52
Risk-free interest rate (%) R (%) 2.09-2.14
Exit rate (%) R E(%) -
Exercise multiple 1TfE1EE 2.2-28

The volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

352 0 2 R S ¢ 1 7 oK 2R i 22
HWBR ABBRRTEEELE
SRR -

AEATFERIARBERLBR
e EL MBI -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

33. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for each of the years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages
161 to 162 of the financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital
contribution premium from its then shareholders.

Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the Company’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China shall make appropriations
from after-tax profit to non-distributable reserve funds
as determined by the boards of directors of the relevant
PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include (i) the general
reserve of the limited liability companies and (ii) the
development fund of schools.

(i) In accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group which are
domestic enterprises are required to allocate 10%
of their profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the relevant PRC accounting standards, to
their respective statutory surplus reserves until the
reserves reach 50% of their respective registered
capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in
the Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to registered
capital, provided that the remaining balance after the
capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered
capital.
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33. &
(a)

rEH

AEBRSFNHFHEELAES
FR AT BHRERFI61HEEFE162
BHGAEREEHRETD -

(b) BAHE

AEENEAFBREERFHNAR
REVEEHE -

(c) EEMWFE

RIBEFEEBEE  AARH
AEMKHBARIBESEESS
ETNeEARBEBENERE
TR D R#EES - ZSHER
(VAR & £ R 7 — MR EEE (i)

BRERES °

(i) BEB(hEARELFMEAR A
E) AEEETHWEBRARA
WERE EHREFBATP
et ERMETRIHEE
FE10%E R EZBNETE
BREE EZREEIS
Bl EAB50% - EFA
(hE AR EFMBIRRDEA
HETRHINBERT - HH
EERBBFEBE ] ER AT
BA - FIREBFTENEH
THRBATERZEMERD
25% °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

33. f#iE (&)
(c) ZEf#E (&)

33. RESERVES (continued)

(c) Statutory reserve (continued)

(i) According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
private schools that require reasonable returns are
required to make appropriation to the development
fund not less than 25% of the net income of the
relevant schools as determined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the
PRC. The development fund is for the construction or
maintenance of the school facilities or procurement
or upgrade of educational equipment.

34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Year ended 31 December 2018

(a) On2May 2018, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest

in Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. (“Shiji Kuangao”) and a 100% school sponsor’s
interest in Shouguang Bohai Experimental School
(“Bohai Experimental School”). Shiji Kuangao holds a
100% school sponsor’s interest in Bohai Experimental
School. Shiji Kuangao is an investment holding company
and Bohai Experimental School is principally engaged in
the provision of high school educational services in the
PRC. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its network of schools. The acquisition
has been accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consolidated financial statements include the results
of Shiji Kuangao and Bohai Experimental School for the
eight-month period from the acquisition date.

(i) MEBHEBEREZREZR F
2RIBRHRNRMEBRAR
EHEAREHRAGERN
6 B ERF WA D 1025%
BRERRED BERER
P B2 sl 4 E BRI
HHE RIBHRERTTAR o

34, £BE6t
B F20184F 12531 HIL FE
(a) H2018%F5H2H & £ 0%

BHiLEs(tR)REEEEAR
AE([HLES])HI100%#E &
SEhDEEBRER(HEERE
BIM100%E M EiEm - tHLE
SREDEERERI00%EHE
Bm L ERA—REEZER
RNA DEBEBRERANEERF
BEREESRHERE - ZWES
HAAEEENE SR AR
B—En - ZWHEEEEHRBAK
BEAR - ZEREVBHREE
Bt Eas kD SEBRERE K
BRHET N \ERBENEEN
AFER ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

34. EBEHH(H)
B Z2018F12H31HILFEE ()

34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(a) (continued) (a) (#&)

i Rm L EERERN WS
B EREELRBENAFE

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Shiji Kuangao and Bohai Experimental School as at

the date of acquisition were as follows: NN
Fair value
recognised on
Notes acquisition
e BE B R
B 5T ~E
RMB’000
AR®ET T
Property, plant and equipment Y~ B REE 13 305
Other non-current assets HinIEme B E 161,297
Inventories 7E 152
Prepayments, other receivables and TERT IR - HAbEWEIE K&
other assets H&EE 2,629
Cash and bank balances e RIRITH 5,047
Contract liabilities aHAaE (2,871)
Other payables and accruals H et 5B R e E A (10,802)
Tax payable JEI I8 (27)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR FEEMRTE
BATE 155,730
Satisfied by cash LAIR & S 1+ 64,000
Cash consideration payable AR RE 91,730
155,730
Analysis of cash flows on acquisition: MWEEENIRSRE SN :
Cash and bank balances acquired Fr B IR & K IRTT 45 8% 5,047
Cash paid BEfRE (64,000)
Net cash outflow on acquisition included in st AREEEMEBRESTE
cash flows from investing activities YR FIRIR M L FRE (58,953)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(a) (continued)

The fair value of other receivables as at the date of
acquisition approximated to their gross contractual
amounts.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB100,000 in
connection with the acquisition which remain unpaid as
at 31 December 2018. The transaction costs have been
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

From the date of acquisition, Bohai Experimental School
and Shiji Kuangao contributed RMB9,905,000 to the
Group’s revenue and caused a loss of RMB4,452,000 to
the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue from the Group and the profit of the
Group for the year would have been RMB635,788,000
and RMB324,977,000, respectively.

f BRI (8)

34. ¥BEHB(E)
B ZF20184F12H31H 1L EE (&)

(a)

(#8)

Hib R B R U E B i~
BREBESOESEMEE

TEBRBANBEREERHK
AN AR #100,0007T © 20184512
AB1EM K X - ZERXHHA
ERGEBEREMEERERA
ATHRAX -

BREEHBUR  HEEBRER
Ritid Ea AR S B E £20184F
12A3MBEFEERK=E AR
9,905,0007T X B4R & FIHE B
AR¥4,452,0007T °

WEBEHRFENELT AIF
NAEEKz=RFABEBD R A
A R #635,788,0007T & A R #
324,977,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(b) On 20 August 2018, Minsheng Vocational, a wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
share purchase agreement with Leed Education Holding
Limited, National Education Holding Limited and Hyde
Education Holding Limited (the “Vendors”), pursuant to
which Minsheng Vocational agreed to acquire 51% of
the issued share capital of Leed International from the
Vendors at a cash consideration of RMB582.5 million.
Leed International holds a 100% school sponsor’s
interest of Dianchi College of Yunnan University. Leed
International is an investment holding company and
Dianchi College of Yunnan University is principally
engaged in formal undergraduate college educational
services in the PRC. Also, the Put Option is to be granted
by the Group to the Vendors to acquire the remaining
49% interest in Leed International. The Put Option is
committed to be granted within five years from the
effective date of the share purchase agreement and is
exercisable upon granting until the end of the five-year
period. The minimum exercise price is RMB981.5 million.
The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy
to expand its network of schools. The acquisition has
been accounted for using the acquisition method. The
handover was completed on 15 November 2018. Since
then, Leed International has become a subsidiary of the
Company.

The directors take the view that the Group has a present
ownership interest in 49% of the acquiree’s shares that
are subject to the Put Option. The Group accounts for the
acquisition of 100% of the shares of Leed International
(i.e., as if the remaining 49% of equity interest was
acquired) on the date of acquisition. The consideration
given includes the fair value of the Put Option liability to
the Vendors. No non-controlling interest is recognised
and the liability for the Put Option to the Vendors is
accounted for as a financial liability in accordance with
IFRS 9.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

34. ¥BEHB(E)
B ZF20184F12H31H 1L EE (&)
(b) F2018F8H20E » A" A Al Hy &

BB AR RAEBEHE HlLeed
Education Holding Limited »
National Education Holding
Limited &2Hyde Education Holding
Limited ([ &7 1) 5T 32 i 0 B B 13
& Bl REBEHERERE
F U EEN R EES1%E BITRA -
e KEAR AR KE5S82500000
T BEEEREEREAERELS
Bt100% B EEs - BiREREA
—RXREERAT > MEMASE
MR EFERPEEEEXLRR
BIRHAE RS o bLoh - AEE M
B ROBDGEE AN BB EEE
BR T 49%HE S o UM HAME M AIR
DB R A B R A FERE
H R RHEEZE A FHRER
ARl F171E - HRIBTTEERARE
981,500,0007T Y fE H1E B A&
EREAHESREBRE 2 D -
WEEEDIRAWEEAR - BX
B 2018511 A158 T8 ik » # It
Kt SE D= VNN =S NI

EEZERA AEERREHERR
# R 4% UBE 5 M949% A% (0 R S
WEMBEEZ ASBERKE
B 87 % U B B 12 & B100% 0% 19
A BR (B8 40 88 N 49% % 4 B 4 U
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RIESREE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 34. ¥BEHB(E)

Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) B 22018F 12831 HIF FE ()

(b) (continued) (b) (#&)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Leed International and Dianchi College of Yunnan

BREEMERREEMERR
WEAMAEEEMABHR

University as at the date of acquisition were as follows: FEMAT -
Fair value
recognised on
Notes acquisition
U BE B RE SR
B aE NEE
RMB’000
ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB REE 13 884,707
Prepaid land lease payments TAfRT T E FKIE 421,580
Other non-current assets HinIEme & E 122,781
Trade receivables Z 5 W IR 5,334
Prepayments, other receivables and TERT IR ~ E A EWRIE K
other assets Hith&EE 23,734
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHERR 39,960
Contract liabilities BHBE (219,292)
Other payables and accruals H fth B~ 5RIE R FEET B (549,873)
Deferred income — current PEIEUL A — BN ER 28 (1,533)
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEERT R E AL S — BNHR
borrowings — current (203,978)
Tax payable AL (216)
Deferred income — non-current EEW A — FEENEA 28 (17,766)
Interest-bearing bank and other T EERIT R E M AR — JERD
borrowings — non-current HR (215,148)
Other long term liability* HEmRHAGE (310,700)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value At FIF B EAEE - HAF
I (20,410)
Goodwill on acquisition WHE RS R & 15 1,381,162
Satisfied by: SN
Cash consideration REaKE 582,500
Consideration payable — Put Option ERRE—FRLHRAE
liability 30 778,252
1,360,752
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B HRRMEE(E)

34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(b) (continued)

34. ¥BEH(E)
B ZF2018412531H 1L EE (&)

(b) (%)

According to the share purchase agreement, the school
campus of Dianchi College of Yunnan University which is
owned by Dianchi Co. shall not form part of the acquisition
(the “Non-acquired Assets”). After the completion of the
acquisition, the Group has the right to continually use the Non-
acquired Assets for free until the new campus of the same
size is established by Dianchi College of Yunnan University,
and meanwhile the Company has the obligation to transfer
the Non-acquired Assets to the Vendors with all taxes and
charges arising from born by the Vendors. As such, the Group
considered the fair value of the Non-acquired Assets should

* REBROBERE  AELARE
ENEBRASEMERRETHE
B Y RE F IR e — 2o ([ F W &
ED REBEERAEEKER A%
EEREEREEMIFKBEEE
BEEEFABELERZRRASH
BOHREAL - FEAXREER
ERFFREEEERTET - Mt
EEHMEHAREREHE &
¥ Fitt AEBRAFRBEEE
B2 B FE A BR DI VB 8 15 B 75 K

be recorded as a payable to the Vendors.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB1,580,000
for this acquisition. The transaction costs have been
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition

IF o

AEBBRARESTHEERS
AR A R #1,580,0007T ° % H X
SRAERGEBEREMEET
WERRFAITHASX -

RBHEARNESREDN

of subsidiaries is as follows: N
RMB’000
ARBTTT
Cash and bank balances acquired P B3R & M SR 1T 4564 39,960
Cash paid [=ENE: A (582,500)
Net cash outflow on acquisition included in FFAREEBFEE S RER KBRS
cash flows from investing activities SR FRE (542,540)

Since the acquisition, Leed International and Dianchi
College of Yunnan University contributed RMB35,399,000
to the Group’s revenue and RMB15,611,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December

2018.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEH R L 7

BUWESEENK - BEEERER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M EE (1)
34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 34. ¥XE6F(E)
Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) B Z2018F 12531 HILFEEZE ()
(b) (continued) (b) (#&)
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of MEBEHPRFEYET BIF
the year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the AAEBWRZILFES DB A
Group for the year would have been RMB919,052,000 A K #919,052,0007T & A B ¥
and RMB358,428,000, respectively. 358,428,0007T °
35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 35. MEREREBRMT
CASH FLOWS
(a) Changes in assets and liabilities arising from (a) ABEZTEHFELZSEREGENE
financing activities 7/
2019 20194

Sale and

leaseback

Other Bank and liabilities/
non-current other Lease finance lease
assets  borrowings liabilities [EVEL] S

E&EH

Hit B RITR aff /B
EE H ot fE K REAE RERR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR  ARBTxn

At 1 January 2019 ®2019F1/18 3,806 228,644 - 230,090
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREE 5,232 283,660 (662) (118,343)
New leases g - - 2,137 -
Interest expense FlBHY (5,023) - 38 14,952
Effect of foreign exchange rate ~ [EXZHFE

changes - 10,696 - -
At 31 December 2019 2019127318 4,015 523,000 1,513 230,090
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 35. MEBERERMZT(E)

CASH FLOWS (continued)
(a) BEZEFELEEERBENE

(a) Changes in assets and liabilities arising from

financing activities (continued) B(4E)
2018 20184
Sale and
leaseback
Other Bank and liabilities/
non-current other finance lease
assets borrowings payables
E1&@7HE
HibERE & HRITR BfE R
E Hh fig 5K MEMES
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TTT ARBTTT AR¥FTT
At 1 January 2018 7R2018%F1H1H - 174,118 -
Increase arising from FRP AL DY /N E B
acquisition of subsidiaries &N - 158,500 260,626
Changes from financing BMERESRELE
cash flows 3,806 (103,974) (31,733)
Interest expense FERX - - 1,197
At 31 December 2018 A2018%12A31H 3,806 228,644 230,090
(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HEZESmHE%E

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
of cash flows is as follows:

AARERERNEEZRER
AR T

2019

RMB’000

AR®T T

Within operating activities LERBA -
Within investing activities KEEHA -
Within financing activities BMEETHA 662
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SRS MARMIEE (18)
36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. AREE
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any MR2019F12A31H » ANEBE & [
significant contingent liabilities (2018: Nil). BEARKREBE(2018%F : £8) ©
37. COMMITMENTS 37. EE
(a) The Group had the following capital commitments (a) AEBERIFERKBIEFRRIEMN
at the end of the reporting period: T
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETTT
Contracted, but not provided for: REENEESZI-E
Equipment B 40,207 10,887
Buildings BF 208,085 110,595
Loans committed HEGRE R 50,000 400,000
Acquisition of a private school W HE RIF R 172,440 591,800
470,732 1,113,282
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not R HA SR - AN B E D PR A
have significant capital commitments that are authorised 1B R T 4 0 8 A8 A A E(2018
but not contracted for (2018: Nil). &) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

37. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments as at 31 December

2018

The Group leased certain of its buildings under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for buildings
were negotiated for initial terms ranging from one to
ten years. At 31 December 2018, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases falling due as follows:

37. AE¥E(H)

(b) R2018%4 12531 HHRLHER
#E

AEBERBELEHERHHERS
TERT  BFNNBEBBEN
F — & + F - R2018F 12 H31
B NEBERER T B RS
COROEIE € =F T/ XN N0 PN
RIEHESEFOT

2018
RMB’000
AR®EFTT
Within one year —FR 987
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FEFHF  HEMFBEEELA 1,454
After five years hFi& 7,272
9,713
38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. MELXS

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: NEFBTBEIE A SR
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ETTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #¥& « EBI R EWF = 15,174 12,624
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL - -
Equity-settled share option expense RSN EREE R 9,556 11,578
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIHER 60 201
24,790 24,403

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note

8 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

I FE AR &L (#8)
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. EMIEDE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEER  SESHTAMNKREED
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T
follows:
2019 20194
Financial assets EHEE

Financial

assets at

fair value

through other

Financial assets at fair value  comprehensive
through profit or loss income
BAVEFAR

t2ERENE

BAVEFARBNEHEE REE

Designated

as such Mandatorily Financial

upon initial designated Equity assets at
recognition as such investment amortised cost Total

RISRRKE RRHERATE
E BHEE RERE HemEE act
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TR AR®TR AR%TR ARETT

Equity investment designated T A k8 AHFE
at fair value through other HEMNEENE

comprehensive income ERNFERTA
included in asset classified  Efb 2 E U AY
as held for sale IRERE - - 3,984 - 3,984
Trade receivables =) L e /R - - - 9,801 9,801
Financial assets included T ATERRIE -
in prepayments, other H th fE WO IE &
receivables and other assets ~ EL i & EE K& &b
BE - - - 37,035 37,035
Financial assets included in ~ 5F AE b IE 7 &
other non-current assets EENETMEE 40,331 - - 402,370 442,701
Financial asset at fair value 122 F{EFHAE
through profit or loss HREREE - 56,165 - - 56,165
Short-term investments R HK AT E
measured at amortised cost  EVAZ HAIR & - - - 97,000 97,000
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTA & - - - 1,308,361 1,308,361
40,331 56,165 3,984 1,854,567 1,955,047
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows: (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities included in

39. EMTIASEUR)

RBERR - SRR T ANKREEN
™ (&)

THEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

R R A
ENSREE
RMB’000
AR®TR

SEARMEN AN BB AN T R

other payables and accruals afE 434,116
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHERITREAERK 651,212
Put option liability ROLEAERE 819,264

1,904,592
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SRS MARMIEE (18)
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 39. eMIEDE(E)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RIERR  SEeRTAMERREN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as ™ (&)
follows: (continued)
2018 20184
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets
at fair value
through other
Financial assets at fair value comprehensive
through praofit or loss income
RATE AR
t2ERENE
BRATEABRNEHEE HEE
Designated as Mandatorily Financial
such upon initial designated Equity assets at
recognition as such investment  amortised cost Total
RS HERR REHERAEE
ha BT RiERE HEREE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Equity investment designated 5 E 2 A F(EET
at fair value through other AR 2 E YR

comprehensive income KRR E - - 6,380 - 6,380
Trade receivables Z 5 W IR - - - 5510 5510
Financial assets included ST AT IR

in prepayments, other H th jE WK IE &

receivables and other assets  ELfb & E A2 Fh

BE - - - 27,120 27,120
Financial assets included in -~ F AEALIERED

other non-current assets EENSRMEE 43810 - - 2120 45,930
Financial asset at fair value ~ 1ZAFEFAIE

through profit or loss mHEREE - 61,347 - - 61,347
Cash and bank balances e RRITH R - - - 1,505,820 1,505,820
Restricted bank balances Z IR HIERTTAE AR - - - 2,324 2,324

43,810 61,347 6,380 1,542,894 1,654,431
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 39. £B T E%5 ¥ ()

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RIERR  SEeRTAMERREN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as ™ (£8)

follows: (continued)

Financial liabilities ERAM

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R SRR
EMNEmBE
RMB’000
AR®EF T

Financial liabilities included in FTAHMEMNRIERETERNS M
other payables and accruals afE 645,665
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHEIRIT REAMERK 458,734
Put option liability Ao RE 781,332
1,885,731
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SRS MARMIEE (18)
40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. RMTANAFERAFEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEBemTA(FEAEREAFELSE
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that HEEBRINOEmMELAFEENT

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

2019 2019
Carrying Fair
amounts values
IRMEE AFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®T T
Financial assets TREE
Equity investment designated at fair value FTADEAFIELENEE
through other comprehensive income BIEER AT ER AEAD
included in asset classified as held for ZHIKRMRERE
sale 3,984 3,984
Financial asset at fair value through BRATERFABRN SR
profit or loss BE 56,165 56,165
Loan to an associate included in other ST AE A 3ER B & B A (A B
non-current assets BNRIER 40,331 40,331
Financial assets included in other STARMIERBEEN R
non-current assets (other than loan to BE(MBERTER
an associate) BRI 402,370 402,370
502,850 502,850
Financial liabilities EA= =N
Interest-bearing bank and other loans SRR EEMER(EEA
(other than lease liabilities) (B 649,699 644,493
Put option liability RLHESE 819,264 819,264
1,468,963 1,463,757
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M EE (8)
40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. SRMIENLAFERAFEER(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
2018 2018
Carrying Fair
amounts values
AREE ~NE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®FTT
Financial assets SREE
Equity investment designated at fair value 18FEAFEFAEMEZE
through other comprehensive income Was R IR & 6,380 6,380
Financial asset at fair value through profit &2 A F{EFFABZR R
or loss BE 61,347 61,347
Loan to an associate included in other T AEMIERB)E B A (A B
non-current assets ERAER 43,810 43,810
111,537 111,537
Financial liabilities cREE
Interest-bearing bank and other loans (other st BIRITREMEF(AES
than lease liabilities) (G 458,734 469,999
Put option liability RLEERE 781,332 781,332
1,240,066 1,251,331
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and SWED LIRS MIRITEMS  SHATE
bank balances, financial assets included in prepayments, N EfE AR EMEEN S
other receivables and other assets, trade receivables and BE B RWHIEN R AL E
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals HIBNEEANSREBENATE -
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the EEREEMRS  TEEHARZEIA
short term maturities of these instruments. EHANEER o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair value of financial assets included other non-current
assets except for a loan to an associate, which have been
measured at fair value, and financial liabilities included
in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings has been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31
December 2018 and 2019 were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair value of the put option liability has been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

40.

f BRI (8)

TMTANDIFERLXFEER(E)

TREENBENRFENBBR ST
(GERBEg s RHE)EMXSTZ LA
MR RS EREAR - WTIIERBRA
TEMEFHREM R FE

STAREMIERBEE BIRAFETZED
SREE(RBE QR ERERIN) Rit
AFTERITREMERHEREBENA
FEDDEBRAEBELUGR - EERR
e TRHHA T AREA] A RALR
BHAKRBRSREANE - AAEER
20184 201912 A31H BT B8R 1T
K ELAtb A8 SR 7R & 71 B 49 & & T 2B By
ANEELZB T ERLTEK °

Roa MR EN R HERBRAEEAL
K- EERBREBTIHANTA
B A AN KB IR B AR KIR @M E AT

s
= o
>t

R E AT EET SR E
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair value of unlisted equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income has been estimated using a
market-based valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates.
The valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage
and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate trading
multiple, such as enterprise value to earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EV/EBITDA”) multiple
and enterprise value to sales (“EV/S”) multiple, for each
comparable company identified. The multiple is calculated by
dividing the enterprise value of the comparable company by
an earnings measure. The trading multiple is then discounted
for considerations such as illiquidity and size differences
between the comparable companies based on company-
specific facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple
is applied to the corresponding earnings measure of the
unlisted equity investment to measure the fair value. The
directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from
the valuation technique, which is recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair
values, which are recorded in other comprehensive income,
are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income, management has
estimated the potential effect of using reasonably possible
alternatives as inputs to the valuation model.

The fair value of the loan to an associate included in other
non-current assets has been estimated using a discounted
cash flow valuation model based on assumptions that were
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation required the directors to make estimates about
the expected future cash flows including expected future
interest return on maturity of the loan to an associate. The
directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from
the valuation technique, which is recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, is reasonable, and that it is
the most appropriate value at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis at the end of the reporting period:

31 December 2019

Valuation Significant

technique unobservable input Range
fhER EXTTER2E BE

Loan to an associate included  Discounted Discounted rate 3.27%
in other non-current assets cash flow method

SARMIERDAENRSE  BREERNE BRE 3.27%
RAER

f BRI EE (8]8)

40. eWMIENAFERAFEBR(E)

TRAZRTABERREHRNEXN
TABR2H M ECHBEDTHH
E:

2019%12A31H

Sensitivity of fair value
to the input
AYEHSHHBRE

0.5%

increase/(decrease) in interest return
rate would result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value by
RMB894,600/RMB894,600

MEEHELF,/(TH)05%HEHA
FE(RD) /EMARE894,6007T,/
AR #894,6007C
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

31 December 2018

40. SRMIENLAFERAFEER(E)

2018 12H31H

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair value

technique unobservable input  Range to the input

fEERE EATBRZ2E  BE DNTEHRENGRE
Unlisted equity investments Valuation multiples  Average EV/EBITDA  5.04 0.5%

FLTMRERE fbERES

Loan to an associate included  Discounted cash flow
in other non-current assets method

SPARMIERBAENRBERR BRASRE
e

multiple

THIEV/EBITDAREN  5.04

Average EV/S multiple 3.10

THEVISEE 3.10

Discount for lack of ~ 31.0%

marketability

Rz MERBIERRE 31.0%

Discount rate 2.60% t0 3.33%
BR% 2.60%%3.33%

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

increase/(decrease) in average EV/
EBITDA multiple would result in
increase/(decrease) in fair value by
RMB7,085

THEV/EBITDARZ LA/ (TH)0.5%
BERATEEN/ (AP AR
7,0857C

0.5%

increase/(decrease) in average EV/
S multiple would result in increase/
(decrease) in fair value by RMB5,823

THAEVISIEELT/ (TH)0.5% S5
NTEEN/ (FD) ARB5,8237

0.5%

increase/(decrease) in discount for
lack of marketability would result in
(decrease)fincrease in fair value by
RMB46,244

e mERBEERE LA/ (TH)
05%EERATERD) /HIAR
46,2440

0.5%

increase/(decrease) in interest return
rate would result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value by
RMB1,393,163/RMB1,452,977

MEEHELF/(TH)05%HEHA
FEGRD)/EMARE1,393,163
T/ NRE1,452,977TL



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2019

Quoted
prices in
active markets

RERTIZNEE
(Level 1)
(E-%)
RMB’000
ARBTR

AN BRRIENENEENER
BRFEF AR 2ERENR
BixE

Equity investment designated at fair
value through other comprehensive
income included in asset classified

f BRI EE (8]8)

40. eWMIENAFERAFEBR(E)

AFEFR
TEMAAEESRIANATETE
B

BATEHBORE

R2019512A31H

Fair value measurement using
AVEHBER
Significant
observable
inputs
EATERSY
(Level 2)
(B=4)
RMB’000
ARBTR

Significant
unobservable
inputs
EXFIEESH
(Level 3)
(%=8)
RMB’000
ARBTR

RMB’000
ARWTR

as held for sale 3,984 - - 3,984
Financial asset at fair value through ~ RATEFABENEBEE
profit or loss 56,165 - - 56,165
Loan to an associate included in other st AZMIERB EER MEE A ]
non-current assets EE N - - 40,331 40,331
60,149 - 40,331 100,480
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M EE (8)

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. SRMIENLAFERAFEER(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NFEER(E)
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TEREPAAEERESRTANATERNE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: (continued) B (48)
Assets measured at fair value (continued) BATEFENEE(E)
As at 31 December 2018 #2018F12A31H

Fair value measurement using

APEEER
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
REBTENERE BABR2H BXTEESY &t
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(-8 (=R (E=4)
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Equity investment designated at fair ~ BERATEF AL 2ZANER

value through other comprehensive G 2

income - - 6,380 6,380
Financial asset at fair value through ~ RATEABRRNEBEARE

profit or loss 61,347 - - 61,347
Loan to an associate included in other st AR IR EENRE LR A

non-current assets B - - 43,810 43810

61,347 - 50,190 111,537
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

UFRRMEE ()
40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. SBMIEMNAFERATFEEBR(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NFEER(E)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 FRE=ZRARFETENESHOT -

during the year are as follows:

2019

RMB’000
ARBT T

Financial asset at fair value through other BAFEFAEMEZERENCREE
comprehensive income

At 1 January M1A1E 6,380
Total losses recognised in other REM KRG ERNEEERE

comprehensive income (2,396)
Reclassified to asset held for sale BNOEERELENEE (3,984)
At 31 December 12H31H -

Loan to an associate included in other non- st AEMIERESEENAE S AT ER
current assets

At 1 January Mm1A18 43,810
Exchange gain recognised in profit or loss FFAEMAZ R IBRERE KIS FEE

included in other expenses, net 1,651
Total losses recognised in the statement of FAREMAZT R ERRERNEIBERE

profit or loss included in other expense (5,130)
At 31 December M®12A31H 40,331
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows: (continued)

The unlisted equity investment had been valued based on
a market-based valuation technique. The valuation required
the Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
made estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classified the fair value of the
investment as Level 3 and the fair value of the unlisted
equity investment was RMB6,380,000 at 31 December 2018.
As at 31 December 2019, the unlisted equity investment was
reclassified to asset held for sale and was categorised within
level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the unlisted
equity investment was RMB3,984,000 at 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the unlisted
equity investment at fair value through profit and loss were
transferred out of Level 3 of fair value hierarchy classifications
due to the conversion to assets held for sale as a result of the
intentional disposal plan. And it was categorised within Level
1 of the fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2019. There are
no other transfers of fair value measurements between Level
1 and Level 2 and no other transfers into or out of Level 3
for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2018: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liability measured at
fair value at the end of the reporting period.
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40. ERTAMNAFERAFEER(E)
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed

As at 31 December 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

40. TRTENAFERATEBR(E)

NFEERE)
WEAFENEE
72019F12A31H

Fair value measurement using

APEHERER
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
REETGNGE EATERSH EXTUHRSH st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(&R (E=R) (%=4)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR AREFR ARETR ARETR
Interest-bearing bank and other loans 3t RTREMEN
(other than lease liabilities) (AEBERM) - 644,493 - 644,493
Put option liability REHEEE - 819,264 - 819,264
- 1,463,757 - 1,463,757
As at 31 December 2018 #2018F12A31H
Fair value measurement using
DB EER
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
REETENERE BATERZH BXTEESY @5t
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(%) (5=8) (8=8)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR N S ARBTT ARETT
Interest-bearing bank and other loans st BRITREMER
(other than lease liabilities) (BEBERM) - 469,999 - 469,999
Put option liability REHEEE - 781,332 - 781,332
- 1,251,331 - 1,251,331
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank
loans, finance leases, other interest-bearing loans and cash
and bank balances. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as trade receivables, other receivables and other payables
and accruals, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans with
floating interest rates. It is the Group’s policy to keep certain
borrowings at floating rates of interest so as to minimise the
fair value interest rate risk. The Group currently does not use
any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk. However, the directors of the Company will consider
hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable rate bank
borrowings at the end of years 2018 and 2019 and assumed
that the amounts of liabilities outstanding at the end of years
2018 and 2019 were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.
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41.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profits for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2019 would decrease/increase by RMB440,000 and
RMB2,003,000, respectively. This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to variable interest rates on its bank loans.

Foreign currency risk

All of the Group’s turnover and substantially all of the
Group’s operating expenses are denominated in RMB, which
is not a freely convertible currency. The PRC Government
imposes controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign
currencies and, in certain cases, the remittance of currency
out of Mainland China. Shortages in the availability of
foreign currencies may restrict the ability of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries to remit sufficient foreign currencies to pay
dividends or other amounts to the Group.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the US$ exchange rate, with all other variables held constant,
of the Group’s profit before tax and equity.

Effect on profit before tax and equity

f BRI (8)

4. TRAREEBERBEK(E)

Tz (F)

@ F & _EF T ERSOMEE 2 K AT E
ARARERTE  XEEHE20185F
N20195 128311 L F E M FL 18 % F
&5 BlR A8 h0 A R #440,0007T &
AR #2003000T ° EEEHNAE
FIRITERAFENFEEBATE °

S B

REBEEHMEXBENEFEHMEEMT
DI ARBHE - MAREILIFA B H
SRIET o RBIRFESARBEINE
B AR TER TS HE L
REIARE o SIS KE R 3 & IR | AN SR [ o
(50 S ) B 3 S 551N i) AN 5k 1B 2 A+
P B A M RIRRIBE ) ©

TEBIIRREBRK - EFE R
BEZGBTROBRT - AEEHH
AR R R AR A 36 T 4 2 A B )
SECER

HIBR B AT E R IRE

Increase in the US$ rate by 3% EITIERIENM3%
Decrease in the US$ rate by 3% ETEERT®%3%

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ETR ARBEFIT
(6,946) 681
6,946 (681)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 R

309



310

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group's financial assets, which comprise
bank balances, trade receivables and deposits and other
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents

Most of the bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default. The expected credit loss is approximately zero.

Trade receivables

The Group’s trade receivables are due from a number of
individual students, credit quality of each student is assessed
and outstanding receivables are regularly monitored.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on financial situation and
historical payment records for groupings of various student
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off after one year of the graduation
of the specific students and are not subject to enforcement
activity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements. The Group
does not hold collateral as security.
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41.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Deposits and other receivables

As disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, except
for default receivables, deposits and other receivables were
categorised in stage 1 for measurement of expected credit
losses at the end of the reporting period. In calculating the
expected credit loss rate, the Group considers the historical
loss rate and adjusts for forward- looking macroeconomic
data. During the current year, except for the default
receivables, the Group estimated the expected loss rate for
the other receivables is minimal.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
fact that the Group’s deposits and other receivables relate
to a large number of diversified counterparties, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
deposits and other receivable balances. Deposits and other
receivables were mainly loans to employees, loans to third
parties and other receivables.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of internally
generated cash flows from operations and other borrowings.
The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to
ensure that it has adequate financial resources in meeting
its financial obligations.

41.

f BRI (8)

EREAREEBERBKR(E)

=ERER(E)
BE Rk HEMERR

MANBT H R M 22 R ER - BRHER
FEWGRIRSN - 122 I B A FEUGRIR SR 4R
AREHARFERMEEBHRNF 1K
B Rt ERHEEBRXE - A&H
ZRBEBEE - URATEEZBEE
BIBIELHE - RAFE - BRIERER
FIRSN - AEEEFHE MR IRR TR
HIE IR R K o

7R B 7 B M 1 3 EOR S P U GROR
HIERARIES] - LU EERR - BRI
EONBERHSRERETHEHN - ER
AREBMRE & E A RRFIRS kAR
FEAMDBEVE FT7 - MABEKREE
RS - REBWESEIZS MHA
FEN IR AR A TR m s E
PRI - e R EAMEWFIRE ERR
BREER - ME=ZTERREMREYR
pi=

REBELEE

AEENEESBBEREENBEE
ZREREREMERESESFER
FEEEEE 1t 2 e T - AN E B
HEBESARARERE RHMBHER
BITHMBEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3k

31



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AR MTEE ()

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41, SREMREEEERBEKR(E)
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) HEBELEE ()
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at AEESRBERREHREREG LR
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BRI BB BB R T -

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

As at 31 December 2019
20195128318

3 to less
On Less than than 12 1t05 Over 5

demand 3 months months years years Total
BEX TRE =ZTEB
REE =R =R -Z5% BEIF @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR AREBTR ARETR

Financial liabilities included in other STAEMEMNFERE

payables and accruals STERMERAR 434,116 - - - - 434,116
Lease liabilities HERE - 276 829 461 - 1,566
Interest-bearing bank and other FHERITREMER

borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) (TREREER) 13,722 95513 246,008 369,110 4830 729,183
Put option liability REEERE - - - 981,500 - 981,500

447,838 95,789 246,837 1,351,071 4,830 2,146,365

As at 31 December 2018

72018512 431H
310 less
Less than 3 than 12 Over 5
On demand months months 110 5 years years Total
REXEE THE=F =ZTHA
& A TZER -EnE HBRLF @&t

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Financial liabilities included in other STAR MR OB RIE

payables and accruals SBRMERMERE 645665 - - - - 645,665
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 8 3R1T R EAMER 12,310 27451 200389 206,054 28732 474,936
Put option liabiliy DR - - ~ 981,500 - 981500

657,975 27,451 200,389 1,187,554 28,732 2,102,101
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41.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so
as to maintain creditor and market confidence and to sustain
future development of business.

The directors review the capital structure on a continuous basis
taking into account the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through raising new debts as well as redemption of existing
debts. The Group’s overall strategy remained unchanged
during the reporting period.

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-asset ratio which
is total liabilities divided by total assets. Capital represents
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The debt-to-asset
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

f BRI (8)

4. TRAREEBERBEK(E)

BAEHE

AEBNERRBEFREERER - N
RFFERARTIZNEL - REFERR
KEMER

EETURTEARN - EEEARA
RESEEMABNNAR - REEED
RS AEESEABENERE
IR T AR A AR - AR
OB BB B B TR MR T -

AEBERAEEREXENES BE
BEXEAGRERINEERE - EX
ERRREEA ARGRRE - RREHR

Total liabilities BERE
Total assets BEPE
Debt-to-asset ratios BEaEX

MEERBLRNT -
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
3,206,809 3,095,077
7,077,602 6,624,472
45% 47%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

42.

43.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Corona Virus Disease 2019

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there has been
an outbreak of the Corona Virus Disease across China. The
Group had provided and completed its education services
for the fall semester of the 2019/2020 school year by early
January 2020. The opening of the Group’s school campuses
for the spring semester of the 2019/2020 school year has
been delayed and management has implemented certain
alternative action plans for students during the school closure
period, including implementing on-line modules and remote
website learning activities.

In view of the alternative action plans described above, the
directors assessed and preliminarily concluded that there
was no significant impact on the financial position of the
Group subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2019
and up to the date of this report. The directors will remain
alert to the development of the pandemic and take additional
measures as appropriate.

Dividend

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the board of
directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMB2.59 cents per share totalling RMB104 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019. The proposed final dividend
for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements,
the Group adopted IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative amounts in the financial statements were not
restated and continued to be reported under the requirements
of the previous standard, IAS 17, and related interpretations.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

42.

43.

BEHRRZEE
2019F H & BB ZH

WEHMEERR - 2EBEEHEMRE
SHE - NEER2020F1 BIRIE 1=
N 5k B 2019/2020 8 F Fh Z= B HAHY
HE R - ANEBE T 2£2019/2020
BEEFEHCDTERZS RN SRE
FHMERERBLEERE TERTE
FE BREBETELIEREEEEZEER
UhEE o

EREXFTmBERITE LR - EHT
EHRIPRE  RELE2019F12H31
BIEFEEREEAREEE - A&E
I BRRN BEZHEATE - EF1
HEBERRISES - URNEERIRER
ENEESMEHE

KE

WEHMERE  E=2gREMER
201912 A31H I FEIRE R E
BRARM2595 - A HEARK1048
BT - AFEMEIRRPREBAFAA
AR RN EER R BT RS EHEERT
AER -

e B

o0 B 7 R K B FE2. 24 — R ER - K
EER201956F1 A1 B AEIE R/ B B
J& R 7 3\ BR B R B 5 e o5 E RIS 16
5 o RIBULTT I REEI RN R
REFILLREEE - MREBRBLAE
BB & 5 RIE75 1 1R E S AH R
REMAZ5H -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

44, RQT 2B EMRRE

RIEER - ARRHMEMR AR ZER
WA -

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries MEBATIRE 789 789
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,425 -
Other non-current assets HipdEmeEE 6,664 3,764
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 8,878 4,553
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEM P B A R IA 1,413,846 1,247,220
Prepayments, other receivables and AR - B KGRI R A &
other assets B 3,037 1,682
Cash and bank balances Be RIRITA 164,876 5,251
Total current assets TEEERE 1,581,759 1,254,153
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals Hit e R ETER 3,344 2,645
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHERITREMBER 70,945 -
Due to subsidiaries FERTHY B A RIFIA 15,400 20,252
Total current liabilities BB EEE 89,689 22,897
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 1,492,070 1,231,256
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERABER 1,500,948 1,235,809
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHERITREAMERK 279,024 -
Due to a subsidiary FERTH B2 7] 78 105,488 102,886
Total non-current liabilities FnBaBEes 384,512 102,886
Net assets FEE 1,116,436 1,132,923
EQUITY &
Share capital RRAR 307 307
Reserves (note) b4 (PTE) 1,116,129 1,132,616
Total equity el 1,116,436 1,132,923
LI XUECHUN LAM NGAI LUNG
=EH MEREE
Director Director
o o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE ()

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

45.

COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

44.

s

RRB 2B BRI (E)

RAREHZEEMTHR -

Share Exchange

Capital option  Accumulated fluctuation Total

reserve reserve losses reserves reserves

BAGE  BRERE ZHEE ERRBEE GEEE

RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT  ARETR  ARBTT  ARETRT  ARETx

At 1 January 2018 R2018F1A1H 1,217,125 3,300 (66,133) (62,458) 1,091,834

Loss for the year FEER - - (27,299) - (27,299)

Other comprehensive income for the year: FREMZENES

Exchange differences on translation of foreign #EEINER 2 [E R 5

operations - - - 54,973 54,973

Total comprehensive income for the year FEPANREER - - (27,299) 54,973 27,674

Recognition of share-based payment expenses HEZZARR (D AER 2 FRHNEH - 13,108 - - 13,108

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 2018124318 [22019F1 A1H 1,217,125 16,408 (93,432) (7,485) 1,132,616

Loss for the year FEEE - - (47,134) - (47,134)

Other comprehensive income for the year: FREAM2EYE :

Exchange differences on translation of foreign & EINER B R 25

operations - - - 18,200 18,200

Total comprehensive income for the year FEZAREEE - - (47,134) 18,200 (28,934)

Recognition of share-based payment expenses AR A& 2 HFHAOER - 12,447 - - 12,447

At 31 December 2019 120195 12/31H 1,217,125 28,855 (140,566) 10,715 1,116,129

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the capital reserve
account when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to

retained profits should the related options expire.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2020.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L T

45.

BRERBRBRCROHRTERBENAF
B R BRERMT24URG RER O K
SRIEEAFL - ZEGENA B BRETR
B N B AR RIR S BRI B B s A
B F o

BEMBE®RE

REMBRAR D N2020E3 425 HE
EEHEIL R -
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